
C P
C P
Cambridgeshire Police 

and Crime Panel

CAMBRIDGESHIRE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL

MONDAY 30 JULY 2018, 10.30 AM
Noel Cantwell Room - ABAX Stadium, London Road, Peterborough PE2 8AL
Contact – jane.webb@peterborough.gov.uk, 01733 452281

AGENDA
Page No

1. Election of Chairperson

2. Election of Vice Chairperson

3. Apologies for Absence

4. Declarations of Interest

5. Minutes of the Meeting held on 14 March 2018 3 - 8

6. Public Questions/Statements

Questions must be received before 12noon on Wednesday 25 July 2018 to 
be guaranteed acceptance in accordance with Rules of Procedure)

7. Police and Crime Commissioner's Annual Report 2017/18 9 - 44

8. Fire Governance 45 - 46

9. Revenue and Capital Budget draft outturn 2017/18 47 - 58

10. Decisions by Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Commissioner 59 - 76

11. Rules of Procedure/Panel Arrangements Update 77 - 110

12. Membership of the National Association of Police, Fire and Crime 
Panels

111 - 120

Public Document Pack

http://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/
http://www.peterborough.gov.uk/default.aspx
http://www.huntingdonshire.gov.uk/
http://www.scambs.gov.uk/default.htm
http://www.fenland.gov.uk/home


13. Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Panel Annual Report 2017/18 121 - 128

14. Administrative Costs and Member Expenses Report 129 - 132

15. Panel Member Questionnaire Results 133 - 136

To discuss potential future priorities for the Panel arising from the results of 
the completed questionnaires.  Panel survey responses set out on page

16. Meeting Dates and Agenda Plan 2018/19 137 - 150

*Members of the public wishing to submit questions or a statement to the Panel can do so by contacting the 
secretariat no later than 12 noon on the third working day following the publication of the meeting agenda. 
Further details can be found within paragraph 7, Public Participation within the rules of procedure: 
Rules of Procedure

Membership
Councillors: A Ali, D Baigent, R Brown, D Connor, K Cuffley, C Daunton, C Hogg, D Oliver, J 
Palmer, A Sharp, M Shellens, 

Independent Co-opted Members
Edward Leigh (Chairperson)
Claire George

Substitutes
Councillors: A Bond, S BywaterJ  Huffer, A Sinnott, A Miscandlon, N Sandford, H Smith, L Ayres, 
M Howell, L Nethsingha, E Murphy

Officer Support
Jane Webb, Peterborough City Council

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Rules%20of%20Procedure&ID=742&RPID=2438934&sch=doc&cat=13496&path=13171%2c13496


 C P
 C P

Cambridgeshire Police 
and Crime Panel

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE CAMBRIDGESHIRE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL
 HELD AT HUNTINGDONSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

ON 14 MARCH 2018

Members Present: Edward Leigh (Chairperson), Councillors D Oliver (Vice-
Chairperson), L Ayres, Cuffley M Shellens, D Baigent, A Dickinson, 
A Sharp, E Murphy, and Claire George (Independent) 

Officers Present: Dan Kalley Secretariat, Peterborough City Council
Fiona McMillan           Monitoring Officer, Peterborough City 

Council
                

Others Present: Jason Ablewhite Cambridgeshire Police and Crime 
Commissioner

Dr Dorothy Gregson Chief Executive, Office of the Police and          
Crime Commissioner

Alec Wood                  Chief Constable, Cambridgeshire Police

56.     Apologies for Absence

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Bond, Sanderson and Shelton.

57.     Declarations of Interest

There were no declarations of Interest.

58.     Minutes of the meetings held on 31 January 2018

The minutes of the Panel meeting held on 31 January 2018 were agreed and signed.

59.     Public Questions/Statements

No public questions or statements were received.

60.     Review of Complaints 

There were no reviews of complaints.

3



61. Monitoring of the delivery of the Police and Crime Commissioners Police and Crime Plan – 
Transformation theme

The Panel received a report updating the Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Panel (the “Panel”)
on the delivery of the Transformation theme within the Police and Crime Commissioner’s (the
“Commissioner”) Police and Crime Plan (the “Plan”).

The Commissioner introduced the report and highlighted to the Panel four key objectives within the 
transformation theme namely:

 Drive efficiency and effectiveness in policing through local, regional and national 
collaboration;

 Work with partners to realise the benefits for community safety which can be derived from 
improved governance and integrated delivery;

 Continue to drive transformation within Cambridgeshire Constabulary;
 Identify the best way for fire and policing to work together in the future.

There was a number of services that had been collaborated one with other police forces. In terms of 
back office functions these were now jointly operated across a number of police forces.

The Panel made comment, asked questions and received responses from the Commissioner with 
regard to the Report, these included:

a) The Commissioner confirmed that the figures outlined in the report related to Cambridgeshire’s 
Policing only. The Panel were informed that the collaborative overheads were due to no longer 
be a factor from 2020/21 once services had settled across different authorities.

b) The three collaboration areas were all in different places with regard to their maturity. Joint 
Protective Services being very mature and fully embedded and their original savings fully 
realised. The Operational and Organisational support units were far less mature and are still 
driving out initial savings and efficiencies. Of these units, ICT was due to deliver £0.4m of 
savings in 2018/19 and HR £0.4m of savings over the period 2019/20 to 2021/22.

c) The Commissioner agreed to provide a further line within the financial report so that the Panel 
could see where the savings were made and the overall overheads. This would help in seeing 
overall returns on investment. The Commissioner also acknowledged that some of the figures 
needed checking over as they did not add up, but assured the Panel that this would be done 
in future.

d) A Joint Chief Constable’s group had now been setup to take an overview of spending and 
budgets. This allowed the Commissioner to hold individual Chief Constable’s to account 

e) The Panel were informed that even with the increase in terror theft and uplift within this budget 
the force had still stayed within overall budget.

f) The Chief Constable informed the Panel that there were a number of governance boards setup 
across the tri-force area (Cambridgeshire, Bedfordshire, Hertfordshire). These boards 
reported back on their individual governance area to the tri-force board, this allowed the tri-
force board to taken an overall view of any issues arising across each service.

g) The Chief Constable stated that the force needed to look more closely at how they used their 
estates across the area and how best they could use the buildings they owned.

h) The Combined Authority Mayor wished to bring forward work on commissioning devolution 
across Peterborough and Cambridgeshire which would impact on the work of the Police.

i) The Commissioner explained that when Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire 
& Rescue Services (HMICFRS) inspected the force they raised issues around children and 
mental health issues. However at that stage collaborative work across the tri-force area had 
only just started, which the HMICFRS were not fully sighted on. 

j) Members of the Panel were informed that each Chief Constable was responsible for their own 
force and any issues that arose. However, members of the Panel were informed that with the 

4



creation of joint boards there was a lot more collaborative work going on across the tri-force 
area.

k) A lot of officer time was now spent with supporting people with complex needs, instead of 
spending more time dealing with criminal activity. There needed to be more work done on 
identifying those services that took a lead on issues such as mental health to reduce the 
burden on the Police force. It was easier at the current time for Police Officers to take people 
with mental health issues straight to A&E rather than wait for a specialist to come out.

l) The Constabulary’s Demand Hub and their updated website would provide a useful tool in 
helping members of the public engage more with the Constabulary and other services. 

m) The Commissioner stated that he was doing more communications work, including newsletters 
and appearances on local radio. His Communications Team was monitoring the number of 
hits the website and newsletter were receiving.

n) The Chief Constable informed the Panel that for the older and more vulnerable members of 
society there was still a number of written articles and information available. In addition the 
Police did a lot of work with older groups within the community, for example giving talks at 
local libraries.

o) The Commissioner commented that the visibility of PCSO’s would increase in areas where 
the risk to harm was less, enabling Police Officers to focus on areas where there are higher 
risk, more demand and or more vulnerability.   

p) The Strategic Alliance Board meets quarterly, normally over the course of a whole day, 
enabling issues to be addressed thoroughly.

q) The Commissioner confirmed that the new Countywide Community Safety Strategic 
Partnership Agreement was to be published on the Police website and that agendas and 
minutes from meetings would also be published.

ACTION

Following debate the Panel AGREED to note the report.

In addition the following actions arose:

1) More detailed historical report on collaboration budget and savings – showing when 
collaborations started and another line to see overheads to see return on investment.

 
2)   Signposting of business cases for each BCH collaboration
 
3)   Breakdown of 80% non-crime in a pie-chart/infographic in Annual Report 
 
4)   Performance on public contact, channel shift to next meeting – we’ve already 

acknowledged that the June meeting has a number of reports going to it.  You also said 
previously (21st February) that you would expect something in the Commissioner’s 
Annual Report. 

 
5)   Update on CCCSB publishing – we are in the process of doing this.  

62. Fire Governance Update

The Panel received a report, which provided an update on the process undertaken by the 
Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Commissioner regarding the future governance arrangements for 
the Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue Service.

The Panel made comment, asked questions and received responses from the Commissioner with 
regard to the report, these included:

5



a) The Commissioner explained the proposal were now on the desk of the Police Minister but 
that it was still a few weeks away from a final decision.

b) The Commissioner stated that he would be looking at a transition period more realistically from 
June or July 2018.

ACTION

Following discussions the Panel AGREED to NOTE the report.

63. Decisions By the Commissioner

The Panel received a report to enable it to review or scrutinise decisions taken by the Police and 
Crime Commissioner under Section 28 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. The 
Panel was recommended to indicate whether it would wish to further review and scrutinise the 
decisions taken by the Police and Crime Commissioner taken since the previous Panel meeting. 

The Panel made comment, asked questions and received responses from the Commissioner with 
regard to the Report, these included:

a) The Commissioner confirmed that all unoccupied buildings owned by the force were subject 
to business rates.

b) It was agreed that if acronyms were to be used their full title would be indicated first before 
using the abbreviated form.

c) In order for a building to be sublet a feasibility study would need to be carried out to ascertain 
a potential tenant’s suitability.

ACTION

The Panel NOTED the report and decisions that had been made by the Commissioner.

(At this point the Police and Crime Commissioner and his staff left the meeting.)

64. Meeting Dates and Agenda Plan 2018-2019

The Panel received and NOTED the agenda plan including dates and times for future meetings.

DATE OF 
MEETING

ITEM ACTION UPDATE

46. Review of 
Complaints

There were no complaints to review14 March 
18

47. Monitoring of 
the delivery of 
the Police and 
Crime 
Commissioners 
Police and 
Crime Plan – 

Following debate the Panel AGREED to note the report.

In addition the following actions arose:

1) More detailed historical report on collaboration 
budget and savings – showing when collaborations started 

6



DATE OF 
MEETING

ITEM ACTION UPDATE

Transformation 
theme

48.

and another line to see overheads to see return on 
investment.
 
2)   Signposting of business cases for each BCH 
collaboration
 
3)   Breakdown of 80% non-crime in a pie-chart/infographic 
in Annual Report 
 
4)   Performance on public contact, channel shift to next 
meeting – we’ve already acknowledged that the June 
meeting has a number of reports going to it.  You also said 
previously (21st February) that you would expect something 
in the Commissioner’s Annual Report. 
 
5)   Update on CCCSB publishing – we are in the process 
of doing this.  

49. Fire Governance 
Update

50.

Following discussions the Panel AGREED to NOTE the 
report.

1. Decisions By 
the 
Commissioner

The Panel NOTED the report and decisions that had been 
made by the Commissioner.

2. Meeting Dates 
and Agenda 
Plan 2017-2018

The Panel received and NOTED the agenda plan including 
dates and times for future meetings.

The meeting began at 2.00pm and ended at 3:30pm

CHAIRPERSON

7



This page is intentionally left blank

8



CAMBRIDGESHIRE POLICE AND CRIME 
PANEL

Agenda Item 7

30 July 2018 Public Report

Report of the Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Commissioner

Contact Officers – Dorothy Gregson
Contact Details – cambs-pcc@cambs.pnn.police.uk 0300 333 3456

POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER’S - ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18

1. PURPOSE

1.1 The report is being presented to the Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Panel (the “Panel”) to 
enable it to review the Annual Report issued by the Cambridgeshire Police and Crime 
Commissioner (the “Commissioner”) under section 12 of the Police Reform and Social 
Responsibility Act 2011 (the “Act”). 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 The Panel is asked to review the Annual Report attached as Appendix A.

3. TERMS OF REFERENCE

3.1 Item 2 - To review, put questions to the Commissioner at a public meeting, and make a report or 
recommendation (as necessary) on the Annual Report. 

4. BACKGROUND

4.1 This report is presented to enable the Panel to carry out its functions as noted in paragraph 3. 
The Panel is required to review the Annual Report.

4.2 Under Section 12 of the Act, the Commissioner must produce an Annual Report on the exercise 
of the organisation’s functions in the financial year and the progress that has been made in meeting 
the police and crime objectives in the Police and Crime Plan (the “Plan”). 

4.3 As soon as practicable after producing the Annual Report, the Commissioner must send the 
Annual Report to the Panel. The Commissioner must attend before the Panel at a public meeting, 
present the Report to the Panel and answer the Panel’s questions on it. 

4.4 The Commissioner must arrange for the Annual Report to be published.

5. KEY ISSUES

5.1 The Annual Report covers the period from April 2017 to March 2018. 

9

mailto:cambs-pcc@cambs.pnn.police.uk


5.2 This Annual Report provides an opportunity to review the work carried out over the last financial 
year to deliver the priorities as set out in the Commissioner’s Plan, which was launched in March 
2017.   

5.3 In developing this year’s Annual Report, the Commissioner has taken on board the comments of 
the Panel, including the provision of more performance data as part of the content. 

6. CONSULTATION

6.1 The Commissioner has made appropriate arrangements for obtaining the views of the people in 
Cambridgeshire, the Chief Constable, responsible authorities and other relevant parties in 
carrying out the functions outlined above.

7. NEXT STEPS

7.1 The Commissioner will respond to the Panel’s report and any recommendations they may have 
on the Annual Report, and then publish the Annual Report.  

8. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

8.1 Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Commissioner’s Police and Crime Plan

http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/police-crime-plan/police-crime-plan-2017-2020/

9. APPENDIX

9.1 Appendix A – Police and Crime Commissioner’s Annual Report 2017-18

10

http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/police-crime-plan/police-crime-plan-2017-2020/


C
A

BRI SH
IR

E

O

N
STA B U LA

ROPCC
Police and Crime Commissioner
CAMBRIDGESHIRE AND PETERBOROUGH

Police and Crime Commissioner for 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough
Annual Report 2017-18 

11

AAP669
Typewritten text
APPENDIX A



2 Police and Crime Commissioner for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough I Annual Report 2017-18

12



Police and Crime Commissioner for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough I Annual Report 2017-18 3

Contents

Foreword 4

The Role of the Police and Crime Commissioner 6

Demand on policing 7

Victims: Keeping people safe 11

Offenders: Tackling Crime and Disorder 18

Communities: Maintaining local police performance 22

Transformation: Delivering policing within budget 28

Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services 31

Appendix 1 32
Independent Custody Visitors’ Annual Report 

13



4 Police and Crime Commissioner for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough I Annual Report 2017-18

Welcome to this year’s annual report. As I 
was elected in May 2016, this report
represents my first full year in office. 

What a year it has been. 

My varied role includes a duty to hold the Chief
Constable to account, on behalf of the people, for the
delivery of an effective and efficient police force that
people trust and have confidence in. 

In order to do this I start by listening. Listening to
people who live and work in the county, to police
officers and to the many partners and businesses we
work with. Over the year I have spoken to hundreds of
individuals and groups to understand their concerns
and develop plans to ensure the police respond
effectively. 

From these conversations I know that what people
want is more police visibility – more officers patrolling
the streets and providing reassurance. At the same
time, however, we must focus on protecting the most
vulnerable members of society and tackle serious
crime such as drug trafficking, domestic abuse, child
sexual exploitation and human trafficking. 

The number of crimes recorded over the year has
increased, both nationally and in Cambridgeshire.

There are several reasons for this: some of the increase
is due to stricter recording practices; some is down to
people having increased confidence in reporting
crime to the police, particularly around domestic or
sexual abuse and there is a genuine increase in some
types of crime. The workload is increasing particularly
in terms of investigating more ‘hidden’ crimes which
tend to happen behind closed doors, in people’s
homes or online.

This demand must be managed against the backdrop
of financial pressures. Whilst police budgets have been
protected by central government, inflation and other
cost pressures mean we have to continually find
savings to achieve a balanced budget. 

In order to plan for the future and meet both public
and government expectations, I have been working
with the Chief Constable to make sure the resources
we have are put to the best possible use. During the
year the Chief Constable undertook a review of how
local policing was organised to see if there were better

Foreword

14



Police and Crime Commissioner for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough I Annual Report 2017-18 5

ways of working. This has resulted in a simplified
policing structure that reduces a number of senior
policing and supervisor posts. The new model uses
the savings to recruit an additional 50 warranted
police officers whilst retaining a minimum of 80 PCSOs
who continue to be used to work in partnership to
protect vulnerable people, victims of crime and ASB.

At the same time I have consulted the people of the
county about increasing the policing element of
council tax by £12 a year per household for 2018/19
(based on a band D property). 78% of the 3,268
responders said they were prepared to pay this extra
amount. I have decided, with the Chief Constable, to
use this additional income to recruit an additional 
55 officers. 

The Local Policing Review and council tax rise allow us
to increase officer numbers and thereby better meet
public expectations while also providing increased
resources to tackle crime and bring offenders to
justice. We will continue to focus on the vulnerable,
putting victims first and helping them cope and
recover from their experiences. 

Policing does not work in isolation. It is only by
working in close partnership with others that we can
properly tackle the root causes of offending and find
effective ways of stopping people from reoffending.

This is particularly important with young people who,
if identified early, can be diverted away from a wasted
life of crime. I chair a number of countywide strategic
groups that are changing the way public organisations
work together, ensuring our work is joined up and
considers the “big picture” rather than just the work of
our own individual organisations.  

Looking ahead, I am pleased to say that with an
excellent management team, additional officers
coming on board and continued collaboration with
other police forces and other public service
organisations, Cambridgeshire Constabulary is in a
good position to tackle future challenges. We will
never be complacent. It will mean hard work by all
involved but we have a first rate work force, dedicated
to serving the people who live, work or visit the
county. 

Finally, I would like to thank all those who have
worked so hard over the past year to keep the people
of Cambridgeshire safe and maintain its position as
one of the safest places to live in the country. 

Jason Ablewhite

Police and Crime Commissioner 

15



6 Police and Crime Commissioner for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough I Annual Report 2017-18

The duties of a Police and Crime
Commissioner are set out in the
Police Reform and Social

Responsibility Act 2011. Their role is to
represent the public and hold the police
to account on behalf of the public.
Commissioners are responsible for
ensuring an efficient and effective police
service is delivered within their force area
and work with partners 
to cut crime and disorder.

Specific responsibilities include: 

5 Appoint the Chief Constable and hold
him/her them to account for running the
force and, if necessary, dismiss or suspend
them

5 Set the police and crime objectives for
their area through a police and crime
plan 

5 Set the force budget and determine the
policing part of the council tax 

5 Bring together community safety and
criminal justice partners, to make sure
local priorities are joined up

5 Commission victims’ services
5 Seek out opportunities to collaborate

with other emergency service and public
service organisations 

The Commissioner’s role is varied and
expanding. To support him in his work 
the Commissioner has appointed
Peterborough based Councillor Ray Bisby
as Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner. 

The Role of the 
Police and Crime Commissioner

Chief Constable, Alec Wood, with Police and Crime Commissioner, 
Jason Ablewhite

16



Police and Crime Commissioner for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough I Annual Report 2017-18 7

Cambridgeshire is a large county
measuring 1,309 square miles. With a
population in 2011 of 830,000 it is also

one of the fastest growing areas of the country
seeing a 13% increase in population over a ten
year period and an expected future growth of
25% by 2031. The county has a varied
geography including sparsely populated rural
communities, market towns and the cities of Ely,
Peterborough and Cambridge. The resident
population is diverse, with 10% from black,
Asian and minority ethnic communities, and is
further increased by university students and
those visiting or travelling through the county.  

Despite its rapid growth, Cambridgeshire remains 
one of the lowest funded forces in the country. The
result of high population and low funding is that
Cambridgeshire Constabulary is one of the lowest
costing forces in the country, costing 43p per person
per day compared to the national average of 55p per
person per day. The focus remains on maintaining
frontline officer numbers and in Cambridgeshire 76%
of officers are front line. 

Nationally, crime is on the increase, up 15% in the year
ending December 2017. Crime in Cambridgeshire has
increased by 22%. 

The increase in reported crime is partly due to changes
in recording practices with national procedures
requiring the recording of all crime, even when no
further action is possible. Cambridgeshire has been
particularly good at recording crime with an
independently measured compliance rate of 94.2%
(compared to a national average of 87.2% year ending
March 2017). Around 10% of the 22% increase in crime
in this county was due to improved recording
standards. 

There has also been an increase in the confidence of
people to report crime, particularly cases of serious
crimes such as sexual abuse and domestic violence.
Victims feel they are more likely to be believed and
supported by the police. 

The complexity of the types of crime that have been
increasing has resulted in a larger investigative
workload impacting on the average length of time
taken to complete an investigation. The 12 months
ending March 2018 saw the average length of
investigation increase to 84 days, from 66 days the
previous year. 

Despite Cambridgeshire recording a higher 
than national percentage increase in crime,
Cambridgeshire’s crime rate per 1,000 population is
78.9, which is below the national rate1. 

What the police are dealing with 

1 Crime in England and Wales: Year ending December 2017 (ONS). National rate per 1,000 population is 82.3.

17



8 Police and Crime Commissioner for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough I Annual Report 2017-18

On A TyPICAl DAy 
In CAMbRIDgeSHIRe 

349calls to 999
886 calls to101
448 incidents recorded

181 crimes reported

32arrests made

AMOngST OTHeR
CRIMeS, OFFICeRS
WIll DeAl WITH:
8dwelling burglaries

87 thefts

14 thefts from 
a motor vehicle

AS Well AS DeAlIng
WITH CRIMe eACH
DAy, OFFICeRS WIll…

Attend6
road traffic
collisions
where there
are casualties

Undertake 17 breath tests

Respond to 

Respond to 28 incidents
flagged as being
associated with people
with mental health issues

7

2 robberies

5 sexual offences

21 domestic abuse incidents

46 violent crimes
Deal with 54 ASB incidents

Demand on Policing

Respond to
missing person
reports each of

which will take on
average 10 hours

police time 

18



Police and Crime Commissioner for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough I Annual Report 2017-18 9

Crime v non-crime 
In Cambridgeshire the total number of incidents recorded between April 2017 and March 2018 was 171,534 

An incident is when the police are contacted for any reason. 

Nationally, incidents are classified as “crime” or “non-crime” .

A crime is an incident where a criminal act has taken place and a prosecution could be made. 

A non-crime incident is one where no criminal activity can be identified and is therefore not recorded as a crime.
There are four categories of non-crime: Administration, Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB), Public Safety and Traffic. 

The table below shows the breakdown of incidents. 

Public safety incidents represent the greatest share of non-crime incidents. They are made up of a number of 
sub-categories as follows: Safety security concern 23.8%, domestic incident 7.4%, hoax/abandoned call 2.7%,
missing persons 1.6%, animals and wildlife 1.5%.

Administration involves giving out messages of advice. ASB involves reports of anti-social behaviour but often when
the police arrive there is no criminal activity taking place. 

Therefore, of all incidents in Cambridgeshire. 19.1% were closed as crimes. 80.9% were closed as non-crime. 
5.8% of incidents include a mental health qualifier. 

Nationally the National Police Chiefs’ Council (NPCC) estimate that 84% of crime is classified as non-crime. 

80,000

70,000

60,000

50,000

40,000

30,000

20,000

10,000

0

Crime                       Admin                     ASB                          Public Safety                Traffic

Incidents

Incidents recorded between April 2017 and March 2018

19



10 Police and Crime Commissioner for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough I Annual Report 2017-18

One of the roles of the Police and Crime Commissioner is to produce a Police and Crime Plan
which sets out police and crime objectives for the county. The Plan also sets out how
financial and other resources will be allocated – including setting the policing part of the

council tax and issuing crime and disorder reduction grants. 

The Plan can be summarised in a single chart.

The rest of this document sets out what has happened over the last year to deliver the priorities set out in the
Police and Crime Plan. 

The Police and Crime Plan

Victims

Safeguarding the
vulnerable

Offenders

Attacking criminality

Communities

Preventing crime
Reassuring the public

Transformation

Achieving best use 
of resources

Deliver a victim 
first approach 

Reduce re-offending

Support safer and 
stronger communities 

Ensure value for money 
for tax payers now and 

in the future

Victims and witnesses are
placed at the heart of the

criminal justice system
and have access to clear 

pathways of support

Offenders are brought 
to justice and are less 

likely to reoffend

Communities have
confidence in how we

respond to their needs

We deliver improved
outcomes and savings

through innovation and
collaboration

VISIOn STRATegIC THeMe AIM SHAReD OUTCOMe

Working 
together to keep
Cambridgeshire 

safe

Four year strategic plan for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough

Police and Crime Plan – Community Safety and Criminal Justice

20



Police and Crime Commissioner for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough I Annual Report 2017-18 11

Supporting Victims and Witnesses 

Police and Crime Commissioners are
responsible for commissioning local
support services for victims of crime

which help them cope and recover from their
experience. In Cambridgeshire an integrated
approach is taken where the victim is
supported through the whole criminal justice
process from start to finish. 

Victim and Witness Hub
At the heart of Cambridgeshire’s service is the Victim
and Witness Hub. The team, which is made up of a
mixture of full time staff and community volunteers,
aim to provide an end-to-end support service for all
victims from the point the crime has been reported
right through the court process and beyond with 3,000
people receiving dedicated support in the last year. 

This is a free service and is available to all victims and
witnesses, including bereaved relatives, parents or
guardians of victims under 18 and employees of
business targeted by criminals. It is also available to
victims of crime who don’t want to report to the police
– with just short of 100 people self-referring in 2017. 

Victim and Witness Care Co-ordinators contact victims
and offer to develop a recovery plan with them. This
could include signposting to specialist posts, support
for mental health issues, young victims of crime,
practical help making homes secure or linking people
to community services. A number of co-ordinators also
act as champions for certain crime types such as hate
crime, domestic abuse, burglary and cybercrime. The
Hub brings together a range of people with different
skills and expertise to directly support victims or
signpost them to specialist services.  Specialist support
services funded by the Commissioner include: 
5 Lithuanian and Russian speaking Specialist Victim

and Witness Care Co-ordinators– providing support
for migrant victims of exploitation and modern day
slavery.

5 Specialist Victim and Witness Care Co-ordinator for
young victims of crime – provided by the charity
Family Action, Peterborough. More than 230 young
people received support in the last year. 

5 Restorative Justice Co-ordinator – receives all
referrals on behalf of victims who are interested in
exploring restorative justice. Restorative Justice (RJ)
allows victims of crime the chance to ask to meet
their offenders in a controlled and safe environment
to talk about the harm that has been caused and to
find a way to repair that harm. A team of volunteers
facilitate the restorative justice conferences in a safe,
effective and high quality way. The Service was
awarded the Restorative Service Quality Mark in 
June 2017. 

5 Victim Pathfinders – these Community Psychiatric
Nurses work with victims to provide support for
mental health issues. This can include self-help
techniques for anxiety through to assisting people to
access mental health services. 

5 Home Security for elderly victims of crime – a fund
managed by Cambridgeshire Shrievalty Trust.
Working as the Bobby Scheme, this charity installs
new locks and other security measures to help
victims of burglary feel safer in their own home and
reduce their chance of becoming a repeat victim. In
2017 100% of the 626 elderly people whose homes
were secured said they felt safer as a result; only two
were repeat victims of crime. 

Sexual Assault Referral Centre
The Elms, Sexual Assault Referral Centre (SARC)
provides a one-stop-shop to anyone in Cambridgeshire
who has experienced sexual violence and/or sexual
abuse, providing free support and practical help. In
2017 nearly 300 people made use of the centre.
The Elms has a team of professionals, who work 24/7 to
help people that have been affected by rape, sexual
assault or sexual abuse providing a safe and
comfortable space for victims to be interviewed,
medically examined and supported. The Centre
includes a live video link room allowing victims to give
evidence via the link rather than having to face the
accused in a court room. 

Victims – Victims and witnesses are placed at
the heart of the criminal justice system and
have access to clear pathways of support 

21



12 Police and Crime Commissioner for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough I Annual Report 2017-18

Countywide support for victims of 
sexual violence 
Survivors of sexual violence can access specialist
support services delivered by the Cambridge and
Peterborough Rape Crisis Partnership. This service is
funded by the Commissioner with contributions from
the local authority and NHS England. This all-age
service, which is available for men and women was
launched in April 2017 in a bid to standardise services
across the county. It provides a helpline, emotional
support and a team of Independent Sexual Violence
Advisors (ISVAs) for both adults and young people who
work in partnership with colleagues at the SARC. In the
past year more than 2,000 survivors have been
supported by the service. 

Countywide support for victims 
of domestic abuse 
Support is available for victims of domestic abuse
through a team of Independent Domestic Violence
Advocates split between the Victim and Witness Hub
and Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub. The staff work in
partnership with other agencies to put plans in place
to ensure the safety of victims and their children.
Specialist Independent Domestic Violence Advocates
(IDVAs) work with young people and victims from A8
countries (Eastern European) and the Commissioner is
one of only eight county areas to be working with the
Suzy Lamplugh Trust to set up a dedicated service for
victims of stalking and harassment. A domestic abuse
outreach service, commissioned from third sector
organisations works in the community to raise

awareness of domestic abuse and provide face to face
advice to victims. Telephone-based support is also
available from staff in the Victim and Witness Hub. 

extended support for young victims 
Young people who may have been victims of, or
witnessed sexual violence or domestic abuse can
access specialist counselling funded by a successful bid
to the Home Office ‘Violence Against Women and Girls’
(VAWG) fund. 

The Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner and
Cambridgeshire County Council led a bid which
secured £470,000 in funding over three years. 

The service is provided by Embrace – Child Victims of
Crime, Cambridge Rape Crisis and the Youth Offending
Service. It supports victims and witnesses and those
young people who may be showing low-level
potentially harmful behaviours as a result of what they
have been exposed to. 

Mental Health
The Commissioner continues to fund three Community
Psychiatric Nurses (CPNs) who are provided by the
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Foundation Trust
(CPFT). Commissioned through the Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG) these nurses form the
Integrated Mental Health Team (IMHT) and are
embedded within the Constabulary’s 999 Force Control
Room. They provide immediate advice and support to
members of the public who call 999 that potentially
have mental health issues. They also provide advice to
the officers on how best to handle these vulnerable
individuals. 

Evaluation of the IMHT team in 2017 clearly showed
that through this partnership approach individuals in
mental health crisis are receiving a more appropriate
and informed response, providing them with better
help and also reducing the risk to them and the officers
dealing with them. 

In one year the nurses reviewed 10,715 incidents. 83%
of the incidents involved people that were currently, or
had been previously, known to CPFT for mental health
issues. As a result unnecessary police deployments
were avoided, missing people were found quicker,
police time saved, police staff feel more confident and
more appropriate non-emergency services used to
help callers. 

This partnership approach by the police and the
mental health trust provides real benefits to both the
public and the service providers. 

22



Police and Crime Commissioner for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough I Annual Report 2017-18 13

Safeguarding the vulnerable 
The Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub, known as the
MASH, offers a single point of contact to address
safeguarding concerns for vulnerable individuals and
provides a number of different services to children,
families and adults across Cambridgeshire and
Peterborough. 

Cambridgeshire Constabulary, Cambridgeshire Fire and
Rescue Service, Cambridgeshire County Council and
Peterborough City Council work together in shared
offices. The Hub contains specialist advisors to support
victims, or potential victims, of crime, abuse or neglect.
The Hub provides a secure and confidential
environment for professionals to share information,
enabling them to identify repeat referrals. Taken in
isolation, these referrals may not appear concerning to
an individual organisation. However, by working
together agencies are able to share information,
identify those at highest risk and allow them to take
collective action. The Hub is based in a police building
and the Commissioner does not cross charge partners
for use of the building. 

Modern Day Slavery 
Modern Day Slavery remains invisible to most people
but exists in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough as it
does across the country. Developing intelligence forms
a significant part of policing activity and enables
interventions to be put in place to protect vulnerable
young people and adults. Operating through the
Eastern Region Special Operations Unit (ERSOU) there
have been a number of planned operations and

investigations which have disrupted high risk organised
crime groups. Convictions have been secured for a
range of criminal offences including fraud, sham
marriages, trafficking, theft and child cruelty.  

The Constabulary also continues to carry out the well-
publicised multi-agency work visiting homes of
multiple occupancy. These are led by Lithuanian/
Russian speaking Specialist Victim and Witness Care
Coordinators and a PCSO. The visits enable significant
intelligence gathering, identification, safeguarding of
victims and overall improved understanding of modern
slavery in the area

Additional resource has been secured for the region
through the Modern Slavery Transformation
Programme which is a national project funded by a
Police Transformation Fund grant. The purpose of the
programme is to enable the Police Service and other
law enforcement agencies to develop an improved
response to Modern Slavery. The funding has allowed
ERSOU to appoint two co-ordinators, experienced in
tackling modern day slavery, as well as an analyst to
support this agenda. 

Hate Crime
A hate crime is any crime that is motivated by hostility
on the grounds of race, religion, sexual orientation,
disability or transgender identity. Hate crime victims are
more likely to suffer repeat victimisation and are more
likely to suffer serious psychological impacts as a result.

In line with the national trend, there has been an

A
pr

 -2
01

5

Ju
n 

-2
01

5

Au
g 

-2
01

5

O
ct

 -2
01

5

D
ec

 -2
01

5

Fe
b 

-2
01

6

A
pr

 -2
01

6

Ju
n 

-2
01

6

Au
g 

-2
01

6

O
ct

 -2
01

6

D
ec

 -2
01

6

Fe
b 

-2
01

7

A
pr

 -2
01

7

Ju
n 

-2
01

7

Au
g 

-2
01

7

O
ct

 -2
01

7

D
ec

 -2
01

7

Fe
b 

-2
01

8

N
um

be
r o

f r
ec

or
de

d 
ha

te
 c

rim
es

140

120

100

80

60

40

20

0

All hate crime Linear (All hate crime)

Constabulary – Hate Crime

23



14 Police and Crime Commissioner for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough I Annual Report 2017-18

increase in instances of hate crime in recent years,
influenced by national events such as Brexit and a
number of terror attacks. It is widely recognised
nationally that hate crime is significantly under-reported
and the Constabulary has been working to increase
confidence to improve reporting. The amount of hate
crime reported to the Constabulary fluctuates from
month to month, with the highest recording of 131
(June 2017). 

burglary 
Fear of burglary can be high and it is also a crime
where victims can be traumatised and left needing a
lot of support to recover. 

Burglary dwelling and burglary non dwelling saw an
increase in the year (following a decrease the previous
year).  

In response to rising crime trends the Constabulary
instigated a series of monthly Days of Action from
January 2018 in order to tackle specific issues. The days
focused on crime prevention, dealing with five
outstanding suspects and burglary. This included
tagging 750 bikes, hosting five community crime
prevention workshops and tackling 50 outstanding
suspects in 24 hours. The last quarter of the year saw a
dramatic reduction in the number of burglaries. 

The Constabulary places a high priority on tackling
burglary and supporting those that have been victims.
Satisfaction levels from victims with the way they have
been supported remain high at 90.6%, and for victims

of burglary 87.6% (12 month rolling average to March
2018). The Commissioner has sought assurance from
the Chief Constable that this level of commitment will
continue. 

The Commissioner contributed £50,000 to the “Bobby
Scheme” which provides free support to elderly victims
of burglary, installing locks, bolts and chains to
improve home security and provide reassurance. The
Victim and Witness Hub provides support to those that
have been affected. 

Support for Road Traffic Victims – provided by
the Road Victims Trust 
The bereaved families of those killed on the county’s
roads in fatal road traffic collisions are supported by
the Road Victims Trust. The work of the charity’s
volunteers not only saves officer time but
professionalises the support offered to families in 
what are often traumatic circumstances.

Sadly, 37 people were killed on Cambridgeshire roads
between April 2017 and March 2018 but, supported by
funding from the Commissioner, the Roads Victims
Trust were there to offer help to cope with the
aftermath of each tragedy.  

Countywide partnership approach to
Community Safety 
The Police and Crime Commissioner is taking the lead
in ensuring a countywide partnership approach to
reduce crime and disorder and ensure that the crime

Rolling 12 month                         Upper Limit                             Lower Limit                           Month (this year)                 Month (last year)                      Month (two years ago)

3,500

3,000

2,500

2,000

1,500

1,000

500

0

350

300

250

200

150

100

50

0
Mar           Apr            May        June            Jul           Aug         Sept           Oct            Nov          Dec            Jan          Feb            Mar

N
um

be
r o

f C
rim

es
 –

 R
ol

lin
g 

12
 m

on
th

N
um

be
r o

f C
rim

es
 –

M
on

th

Constabulary – burglary Dwelling

Current benchmark: 2,210

24



Police and Crime Commissioner for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough I Annual Report 2017-18 15

disorder grants he allocates have the greatest impact.
Crime prevention plays a big part in this, helping tackle
the root causes of criminality and diverting people
away from a life of crime, particularly the young. 
There are six Community Safety Partnerships in the
county who identify and tackle local “place-based”
issues. The groups are overseen by the Countywide
Community Safety Strategic Board chaired by the
Commissioner.

The Commissioner awards nearly £1.3m of grants to
organisations who he believes will secure or contribute
to securing crime and disorder reduction in the area. A
full list of the grants, aligned to the section of the
Police and Crime Plan they support, awarded in
2017/18 is listed on pages 16 and 17. 

The Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner
worked with partners in 2017 to develop a refreshed
agreement to ensure there was strong and clear
leadership of high risk areas. At the January 2018
Countywide Community Safety Strategic Board
partners agreed it would be helpful to have a head of
terms, or Memorandum of Understanding between the
place-based Community Safety Partnership (CSPs) and
countywide risk-focused thematic groups. This would
set out not only how they link with each other but also
align with the local Living Well health partnerships. The
Commissioner also worked with partners to organise a
Housing Conference, bringing together all agencies
involved in providing housing for those who have
been in contact with the criminal justice system,
providing a joined up approach. 

Service satisfaction
The feedback from victims regarding the support they
have received has been very positive and continues to
reflect the level of professionalism in the service and
support being offered to victims of crime. In March
2018, 86.1% of victims were recorded as being at least
fairly satisfied with the service they receive (12 month
moving average). However, this is down from 90% in
March 2017. The main reason for dissatisfaction were
around some victims feeling let down by the limited
follow up care. The Commissioner has sought
assurance from the Chief Constable that victim after
care remains a priority and that all possible steps will
be taken to learn from comments made in the victim
satisfaction survey. 

100%

90%

80%

70%

60%

50%

40%

30%

20%
Mar -2017      Apr -2017       May -2017     June -2017       Jul -2017       Aug -2017      Sept -2017       Oct -2017       Nov -2017       Dec -2017       Jan -2018        Feb-2018         Mar -2018

% at least Fairly Satisfied – Discrete Month                                    % at least Fairly Satisfied – 12 months rolling

Constabulary – % at least Fairly Satisfied with Police Actions

Satisfaction

25



16 Police and Crime Commissioner for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough I Annual Report 2017-18

Victim Services Awards 2017/18
Service Provision                                                           Provider                                                     Funding £

Safeguarding the vulnerable

Victim and Witness Hub 
Proactively contacts all victims of crime                                  Cambridgeshire Constabulary                        446,000
by letter or phone (depending on need) –
offers telephone-based emotional support, 
onward referral and supportive signposting 
or face to face support from in-house 
Community Volunteers. Receives all 
self-referrals for support. 
                                                                                                               
Specialist Victim Care Co-ordinator –                                    Cambridgeshire Constabulary                        33,445
Migrant Victims of Exploitation                                               

Specialist Victim Care Co-ordinator –                                    Family Action                                                       32,670
Young Victims of Crime

Practical support for young victims of crime                      Embrace – Child Victims of Crime                 2,000

Multi Agency Restorative Justice Hub                                    Cambridgeshire Constabulary                        52,750
Receives all enquiries and referrals from 
victims and other agencies about RJ. 
Co-ordinates all RJ interventions.

Victim Pathfinders – mental health nurses                           Cambridgeshire & Peterborough                   75,000
Provide expertise, support and a referral                                Foundation Trust
capability for victims with suspected mental 
health issues identifying and co-ordinating 
pathways into treatment.                                                                                                                                                

Home security for elderly victims of burglary                    Shrievalty Trust                                                    50,000
Target hardening work to reduce repeat 
victimisation 

Young Person Independent                                                        Cambridgeshire County Council                   40,000
Domestic Violence Advisor 
Support and advocacy for young victims of 
intimate partner domestic violence 

Specialist Support Services –                                                     Cambridge & Peterborough                            213,000
Countywide Sexual Violence Service                                      Rape Crisis Partnership                                      (378,000)
Funding contribution for end-to-end support 
service to include: telephone helpline, triage 
and assessment, emotional support, group 
work and counselling provision. This also 
include ISVA and CHISVA provision. 

26



Police and Crime Commissioner for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough I Annual Report 2017-18 17

Independent Sexual Violence Advocate                                Cambridge & Peterborough                            7,434
One off mid-year funding award to provide                          Rape Crisis Partnership
additional capacity to respond to increase in 
reporting of sexual violence.                                                                                                                                        

Counselling service for young victims                                   Embrace –                                                             11,000
of sexual violence and domestic abuse                                 Child Victims of Crime
SARC-based match-funded post to provide 
emotional support for young victims of 
sexual violence and domestic abuse.                                                                                                                         

Specialist Independent Domestic Violence                          Cambridgeshire County Council                   5,500
Advisor – Stalking and Harassment 
Pilot post to provide specialist support and 
guidance to victims of stalking and harassment                                                                                                    

Development of Operation Encompass                                 Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub                   2,500
Support to develop capacity to inform schools 
when one of their pupils has been involved in 
a domestic abuse incident to ensure appropriate 
support can be offered.                                                                                                                                                   

Development of communication and                                    Chameleon Studios                                            12,500
awareness channels *                                                                     Brookhill Design Studio                                    1,961
5 Single web portal                                                                                                                                                           334
5 Sexual violence support literature                                                                                                                           
5 Commissioning support                                                           

Total allocated spends                                                                                                                                                        986,094

Funding streams 
Ministry of Justice Victim Services Grant                                                                                                                    986,094

Co-funding (Sexual Violence Service)
Peterborough City Council                                                                                                                                             60,000
Cambridgeshire County Council                                                                                                                                  70,000
NHS England                                                                                                                                                                       35,000

*In line with 2.6 of grant agreement                                                                                                                            

Service Provision                                                           Provider                                                     Funding £

27



18 Police and Crime Commissioner for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough I Annual Report 2017-18

Introduction 

There has been an increase in levels of recorded
crime for particular crime types over recent
years such as burglary, domestic abuse, sexual

violence, child sexual exploitation and cybercrime.
These crimes can often be “hidden” crimes that
happen behind closed doors, often within the home.
Tackling these crimes is resource intensive and
usually cannot be tackled by the police alone.
Tackling offender behaviour, preventing reoffending
and deterring individuals from a life of crime takes a
partnership approach. Many agencies work together
for the benefit of everyone including both victim and
offender. 

The Criminal Justice Board and the Countywide
Community Safety Strategic Board provide a county
wide strategic overview to ensure a coordinated multi-
agency response. 

Offender Hub 
To contribute to breaking the ‘revolving door’ of
offending, where low level crime takes place there is an
opportunity to respond in a way which addresses the
underlying causes of their criminal behaviour. By
intervening early with targeted support we can divert
individuals away from criminal behaviour, prevent
future victims of crime, while also reducing costs. A
new approach by the Constabulary to help prevent
people from reoffending has been rolled out across
Cambridgeshire, following early success in
Peterborough. Funded initially through the Home
Office’s Innovation Fund, the Offender Hub project is
designed to tackle the root causes of early offending
behaviour through conditional cautions (deferred
prosecution). Conditional cautions are agreed on an
individual basis and with multi-agency assessments. 

Assessment of need is completed by the Liaison and
Diversion Service in custody, and the community-
based ‘Outside Links’ service run by HMP Peterborough
to facilitate this approach. Compliance is monitored
and if conditions are not met, the previously deferred
prosecution will continue. The conditions imposed are
designed to help the individual rehabilitate and tackle
the cause of their criminality. For example offenders
may have an issue with housing, anger management,
drugs or alcohol misuse, mental health, employment,
education and training or debt management. Other
conditions may be reparative (making good on the
harm caused) or agreeing to meet the victim as part of
a RJ programme (if the victim agrees). 

Over 600 conditional cautions have been issued since
September 2016. Compliance has been high at around
85%.

Addressing the long-term causes of offending
The causes of criminality must be addressed to make
people less likely to reoffend so that there are less
victims in the future. A strategic needs assessment was
commissioned around the future threat, risk, harm and
vulnerability needs of the local population and to

Offenders – Offenders are brought 
to justice and are less likely to 
re-offend 

28



Police and Crime Commissioner for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough I Annual Report 2017-18 19

identify the strategic direction of service delivery to
meet those needs. The report highlights the high level
and complex needs of those in the criminal justice
system, especially around housing, employment and
skills, drug and alcohol misuse and mental health.
These are key areas that require wider partnership
action.

One of the biggest problems faced by offenders
leaving prison is the availability of housing. It is a
problem that cannot be solved by one agency in
isolation. A central government funded project to
look at new ways to reduce homelessness in
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough has now been in
place for a year. The trailblazer team includes a
prevention team supporting partners to spot the early
warning signs of homelessness and prevent
homelessness. They are also working with landlords to
resolve problems and avoid evictions, and also to
extend provision. Work on further developing the
necessary pathways between housing and criminal
justice agencies is underway.

gPS tagging pilot
Cambridgeshire participated in a Ministry of Justice
GPS Tagging Pilot, which is when a small transmitter is
attached to a person sending a signal to the GPS

network. This has now concluded and the learning will
inform the national rollout of the electronic monitoring
programme.

Rural Crime 
As a largely rural county, rural crime continues to affect
a great many people, particularly the farming
community. Theft of equipment, fuel and even livestock
remains a problem. 

The Constabulary’s Rural Crime Action Team continues
to tackle all forms of rural crime and its activity is
greatly valued by the communities it serves. The fight
against hare coursers saw a number of successful
prosecutions over the year.

The Constabulary continues to work across county
borders with other forces and agencies such as
Countryside Watch to tackle this growing threat.

Fraud and cybercrime 
Fraud and cybercrime have been in the news
throughout the year with an ever increasing threat
from cyber-attacks at all levels of society – from
national cyber terrorism to online scams targeting
individuals.
The year has seen a 32.5% rise in crimes which have

                                                                              Mar -17    Apr -17   May - 17     June - 17     Jul - 17       Aug - 17      Sept - 17     Oct - 17          Nov - 17          Dec - 17         Jan - 18         Feb- 18     Mar - 18

Rural Location1                                       53        47        38          39         52          71          61          58            63             60           61           41         36

Rural Property2                         6           9          6             9            8           13            5            8               7              -2            19            5          11

Poaching/Coursing Incident     94        29        14          10         60          96         148       133          226          285         201        113        72

Total Rural Crime                  153       85        58          58        120       180        214       199          296          343         287        159      119

% of all rural crime in Cambs            100%  100%  100%    100%   100%    100%    100%    100%      100%      100%     100%     100%   100%

Mar -2017         Apr -2017         May -2017        June -2017         Jul -2017         Aug -2017        Sept -2017        Oct -2017         Nov -2017        Dec -2017         Jan -2018          Feb-2018         Mar -2018

2500

2000

1500

1000

500

0

400

350

300

250

200

150

100

50

0

-50

D
is

cr
et

e 
m

on
th

Ro
lli

ng
 1

2 
m

on
th

s

Rural Location                      Rural Property               Poaching/Coursing Incident              Total Crime Rolling 12 months     

Constabulary – Rural Crime

29



20 Police and Crime Commissioner for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough I Annual Report 2017-18

been identified as being cyber enabled or cyber
dependent. Cyber related reports to Action Fraud have
risen by 29%. It is recognised that in line with national
research, there is likely to be under reporting. 

41% of recorded cyber offences relate to crime
categorised as violence against the person, which
includes harassment and various forms of malicious
communications. 25% related to fraud and 10% theft
and handling offences. Of the known victims, 64% are
female while of the known suspects, 75% are male. The
average financial loss is £4,246. 

Cambridgeshire Constabulary’s Fraud and Cybercrime
Investigation Unit (FCIU) is tasked with developing the
fraud and cybercrime capability for Cambridgeshire
based on the 4P model: Prevent, protect, prepare,
pursue. The FCIU’s remit is to deal with serious and/or
complex crimes which local officers would not have
the technical expertise or experience to be able to
investigate effectively.

Two prevent officers are now employed in ERSOU
tasked with identifying high risk subjects who might
be drawn into cybercrime through experimentation
and seeking to divert them to legitimate pathways. The
FCIU works closely with ERSOU who take on
investigations which have regional/international
issues, or which require technical expertise that is not
available within the force. 

A Cyber Security Adviser focuses on small to medium-
sized businesses providing cybercrime and fraud

prevention advice through presentations, signposting
and sharing relevant campaigns advice. They also
create and maintain a network of relationships within
government, law enforcement, industry, academia and
business to encourage joint working to tackle
cybercrime and fraud related problems within the local
communities. 

The Get Safe Online policing partnership programme,
supported by the Office of the Police and Crime
Commissioner, included a Get Safe Online live event
over two days in central Cambridge (attended by
12,000 people and over 80 local businesses). There
were also two cybercrime conferences (one public and
one business) and supporting events arranged by local
banks, local councils and businesses. 

Community Cyber Ambassadors have been trained to
raise awareness at a grassroots level within
communities. 120 individuals within the force, service
partners (Fire and Rescue Service) and local
communities in Cambridgeshire have been given
training to promote awareness within their local
communities. FCIU provides advice and support to all
officers where there may be a cyber element to cases
they are working on. 16 officers are trained as Digital
Media Investigators. 

Since May 2017 the FCIU has investigated 52
crimes/incidents as well as providing support to an
additional 60 divisional investigations and conducting
86 technical examinations. 

30



Police and Crime Commissioner for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough I Annual Report 2017-18 21

T he public want a local policing service 
they can trust and have confidence in.
Cambridgeshire Constabulary is committed 

to providing this through a local policing service that
is able to respond effectively to future demand and
where capable officers and staff are recruited and
supported to maximise their potential. 

Financial constraints across the public sector means that
all government organisations are having to prioritise
and to find the most efficient and effective ways to
deliver their services. The work of the different agencies,
such as healthcare providers, local authorities and the
emergency services are linked. The work of one impacts
on the work of the others with different agencies often
dealing with the same people who have multiple issues.

neighbourhood policing  
The public are clear that what they want is increased
police visibility. The reassurance provided by local
bobbies on the beat.  

The Constabulary remains committed to local
neighbourhood policing in touch with the communities

they serve. However, the Constabulary was facing
unprecedented levels of demand and the way local
policing was organised was not sustainable and put a
strain on officers on the frontline. To address these issues
the Chief Constable introduced a new policing model to
ensure the Constabulary can continue to offer the best
policing service to local communities and respond
effectively to changing demand. 

Instead of having six geographical areas with six
command structures, in the new model the county is
divided into two geographical areas. To more effectively
manage demand, a Demand Hub has been created to
bring together call handling, crime management and
dispatch into a single location. This will make sure each
call for help is managed through a central point and is
dealt with quickly in the most appropriate way. 

Neighbourhood policing teams will provide visible,
accessible and accountable local policing services to
tackle crime, reduce harm and keep people safe. Local
policing will be highly attuned to local need and
integrate with partners to ensure the right support is
provided by the right organisation tackling crime, the
fear of crime and quality of life issues. There will be an

Communities – Communities have
confidence in how we respond to 
their needs

31



22 Police and Crime Commissioner for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough I Annual Report 2017-18

overall reduction in the number of PCSOs and an
increase in the number of fully warranted constables.
This shift from PCSOs to Police Constables is because the
Chief Constable requires more officers with power of
arrest (which PCSOs do not have). The Force has
maintained an effective PCSO workforce and a desire to
deliver accessible and visible local policing. 

The impact of these changes will be a more efficient and
effective local policing service which is better able to
respond to current and future front line pressures
because the right resources, with the right skills, are in
the right place at the right time. Moving from six
districts to two will result in a leaner management
structure allowing additional resources to be invested
into frontline policing, to meet increasing demand
across response, neighbourhood policing and
investigations. It will also result in a more consistent
approach across the county in terms of communication,
investigations, victim care and performance. It will
reduce pressure on staff thereby improving health and
wellbeing.

Road Safety 
Despite the fact that over the long term fatalities and
serious injuries have reduced, every death is a tragedy
impacting not just friends and family but also the
emergency service personnel who have to deal with
the consequences. 373 people were killed or seriously
injured on Cambridgeshire roads in 2017. Of these 41
were fatalities. Enforcement activity alone will not
solve the problem. More important is changing driver
behaviour through education and awareness,

particularly for younger drivers.  

The Commissioner has funded a Casualty Reduction
Officer post within the Constabulary to specifically
work with partners and reduce road casualties. The
Casualty Reduction Officer works closely with the Road
Safety Partnership in managing the Commissioner’s
Road Safety Casualty Reduction and Support Fund,
developing initiatives that improve road safety. 

One of the projects funded in 2017 was Drive iQ, an
online learning toolkit for young people aged 11 to 18.
The aim is to help reduce the number of young people
involved in incidents on the roads by positively
changing their awareness, attitude and behaviour.
Drive iQ provides young people with a virtual
experience of different driving situations they may find
themselves in, preparing them to become better and
safer drivers once they have passed their test.
Delivered through schools, it has an ambition to reach
10,000 students over three years. 17 schools are
currently involved with 1021 students taking part. The
feedback has been incredibly positive and the project
won Best Education and Training Initiative of the Year
at the FirstCar Young Driver Road Safety Awards.

This supports the ongoing work of the Constabulary
Roads Policing Unit, the road safety campaigns and the
work of Community Speedwatch. A comprehensive
road safety strategy is currently under development.

Anti-social behaviour
Anti-social behaviour (ASB) remains an area of concern

3,000

2,500

2,000

1,500

1,000

500

0

A
pr

 -2
01

5

Ju
n 

-2
01

5

Au
g 

-2
01

5

O
ct

 -2
01

5

D
ec

 -2
01

5

Fe
b 

-2
01

6

A
pr

 -2
01

6

Ju
n 

-2
01

6

Au
g 

-2
01

6

O
ct

 -2
01

6

D
ec

 -2
01

6

Fe
b 

-2
01

7

A
pr

 -2
01

7

Ju
n 

-2
01

7

Au
g 

-2
01

7

O
ct

 -2
01

7

D
ec

 -2
01

7

Fe
b 

-2
01

8

ASB Personal                            ASB Nuisance                               ASB Environmental                             All ASB incidents

Constabulary – Anti-social behaviour

32



Police and Crime Commissioner for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough I Annual Report 2017-18 23

for many local communities, particularly in the summer
months. The Constabulary work with local partners,
through Community Safety Partnerships, to address
common ASB issues. A number of Public Space
Protection Orders have been agreed over the year to
address issues such as drinking alcohol in public spaces
and tackling what is commonly known as “boy racers”.
These orders enable police and partners to take
immediate action, if necessary, to move transgressors on.
It is worth noting that survey data shows only 0.9% of
people perceive there being a high level of ASB in their
area, based on data until the end of December 2017. 

youth and Community Fund
The Commissioner runs a Youth and Community Fund
that is financed by the Police Property Act Fund. This
Fund is made up of money received by the police from
the sale of found property which is then sold.

The Commissioner uses the money to finance initiatives
that benefit young people and communities, improving
community safety and diverting young people at risk of
offending. 

Over the last year nineteen community groups were
awarded funding sharing over £50,000 for community
projects involving or relating to young people. In the
past year a host of projects have benefitted from the
fund, including Peterborough Bangladesh Welfare
Association UK who received funding to run regular
sports training sessions for disadvantaged young people

and Ramsey Neighbourhood Trust who used the funding
to enable youth group members to run projects building
links with other community groups. 

Public contact 
The Constabulary remains committed to ensuring the
public have a range of ways to contact them. 
Telephone contact remains a primary route. In 2017/18
there were 126,649 calls answered by 999 (an average of
10,554 per month). This compares to a total of 9,795 calls
from the previous year, an increase of 7% call volume.
This is the second year running there has been an 8%
increase. Despite the increase in call volume 94.4% were
answered within 10 seconds. 

There were a total of 322,408 calls received by the 101
non-emergency number, an average of 26,867 a month.
This compares to a total of 29,007 from the previous year,
a decrease of 7%. However, it should be noted that there
was a significant increase in calls over the summer
months, peaking at 31,290 in July 2017, compared to the
lowest month of 22,599 in February 2018. Although
managing these peaks and troughs remains a challenge,
94.7% of calls were answered within 30 seconds. 

There are a number of additional services that support
the 101 service and provide options for people. This
service means that a caller does not have to stay on hold
during busy periods as the 101 call handler can return
the call. Last year saw a rise in popularity of the webchat
service. A call handler can manage multiple calls at a

A
pr

 -2
01

5

Ju
n 

-2
01

5

Au
g 

-2
01

5

O
ct

 -2
01

5

D
ec

 -2
01

5

Fe
b 

-2
01

6

A
pr

 -2
01

6

Ju
n 

-2
01

6

Au
g 

-2
01

6

O
ct

 -2
01

6

D
ec

 -2
01

6

Fe
b 

-2
01

7

A
pr

 -2
01

7

Ju
n 

-2
01

7

Au
g 

-2
01

7

O
ct

 -2
01

7

D
ec

 -2
01

7

Fe
b 

-2
01

8

100%

90%

80%

70%

60%

50%

40%

30%

20%

10%

0%

%
 a

ns
w

er
ed

 w
ith

in
 1

0 
se

co
nd

s

14000

12000

10000

8000

6000

4000

2000

0

N
um

be
r o

f c
al

ls

999 calls answered                                    Percentage of 999 calls answered within 10 seconds

Constabulary – number of 999 calls

33



24 Police and Crime Commissioner for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough I Annual Report 2017-18

time and callers receive a quick response to simple
enquires. There were 12,961 webchat sessions 2017/18,
an average of 35 a day. 

One of the reasons the overall 101 call rate has decreased
is likely to be the introduction of a new Constabulary
website in October 2017. The new website is much easier
to use than the old site  and provides an online reporting
option. Users are able to access the information they
need or report something without the need for a phone
call. This can be more convenient for the user while also
freeing up 101 call handlers to answer other calls. There
were 2,992 online crime reports last year, 60% of them in
the second half of the year following the launch of the
new website.  There were nearly 1 million website visits
during the year (999,679) made up of 528,495 unique
visitors.  

Use of social media in community engagement has
continued to grow with approximately 82,000 Twitter
followers on the Constabulary’s main account and 52,000
followers on the main Facebook account. These
channels are mainly used to share information and
advice. There have been a number of occasions when
public feedback has helped identify both wanted and
missing persons.   

Working in partnership 
The Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the
Constabulary continue to work in partnership with

others at a range of levels to jointly engage with
communities. A system wide approach is needed to
tackle the many and complex issues that exist. The
Commissioner is taking a leading role in bringing
together organisations to align work-streams and
collaborate. This is being achieved amidst a rapidly
changing political landscape following the appointment
of the Mayor of Cambridgeshire and Peterborough and
the creation of a Combined Authority across the area.  

The Commissioner chairs the Countywide Community
Safety Strategic Board. This Board comprises local
authorities, Cambridgeshire Constabulary,
Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue Service, the Clinical
Commissioning Group, the Community Rehabilitation
Company, National Probation Service, Community Safety
Partnership (CSP) representatives and the Chairs of
Safeguarding Boards, Health and Wellbeing Boards,
Criminal Justice Board and the Youth Offending Board. 

This Board identifies issues which CSPs, individual
Responsible Authorities and the Plan consider to be 
both of high importance and would benefit from a
countywide approach. The Board has produced a
Countywide Community Safety Agreement in order to
develop a more joined-up approach to community
safety service delivery. Priority issues have been
identified through relevant strategic assessments. Data
and other crucial information is shared between
agencies within legal permitted restrictions. 

A
pr

 -2
01

5

Ju
n 

-2
01

5

Au
g 

-2
01

5

O
ct

 -2
01

5

D
ec

 -2
01

5

Fe
b 

-2
01

6

A
pr

 -2
01

6

Ju
n 

-2
01

6

Au
g 

-2
01

6

O
ct

 -2
01

6

D
ec

 -2
01

6

Fe
b 

-2
01

7

A
pr

 -2
01

7

Ju
n 

-2
01

7

Au
g 

-2
01

7

O
ct

 -2
01

7

D
ec

 -2
01

7

Fe
b 

-2
01

8

100%

90%

80%

70%

60%

50%

40%

30%

20%

10%

0%

%
 a

ns
w

er
ed

 w
ith

in
 1

0 
se

co
nd

s

35000

30000

25000

20000

15000

10000

5000

0

N
um

be
r o

f c
al

ls

PSC Public calles answered                     Percentage of calls answered within 30 seconds

Constabulary – number of 101 calls

34



Police and Crime Commissioner for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough I Annual Report 2017-18 25

An example of how this leadership is working in practice
is around the housing agenda. One of the biggest
problems faced by offenders leaving prison is the lack of
available housing which can lead to re-offending. The
Partnership recognises this as a priority and that it
cannot be solved by one agency in isolation. The group is
developing a coordinated approach to improving the
partnership approach to housing offenders. The Group is
also reviewing the partnership structures across the
county to achieve the best balance between a national,
regional and local approach to community safety issues. 

The Public Protection Communications Group work
together to ensure joined up communications by all
agencies, focussing on issues such as victims of
exploitation and abuse. By coordinating
communications the members reduce the risk of
confusing mixed messages being sent out to the public
at large and victims of crime in particular. 

Community Safety Accreditation Scheme (CSAS) 
The Police Reform Act 2002 enables Chief Constables to
‘accredit’ non police employees with limited ‘police
powers’. This is done where, after consultation, the Chief
Constable is satisfied that this will support community
safety. Community Safety Accreditation Schemes in
Cambridgeshire have been set up with two traffic
management companies, Addenbrookes Hospital and
South Cambridgeshire District Council. 

In the Prevention and Enforcement Service in
Peterborough, staff from Peterborough City Council,
police, fire and prison services work together under a
single management structure. This includes Police
Constables, PCSOs, council prevention and enforcement
officers, CCTV operators and fire service Community
Safety Officers. The Council, Prevention and Enforcement
Officers have now been granted delegated  powers

which give them the ability to take action against a wider
range of community issues including littering, begging
and cycling on pavements.

A big issue for the public is illegal parking. The
Commissioner is in discussion with council leaders to
explore a county wide solution to parking enforcement
through the decriminalisation of parking. This would
allow local authorities to take on parking enforcement
increasing the enforcement capacity. 

Citizens in Policing 
The involvement of the county’s citizens is vital and the
Constabulary continues to work with a wide range of
volunteers. The Citizens in Policing Strategy sets out the
Constabulary’s approach to increasing citizen
participation in supporting the Constabulary. 

The Special Constabulary has an establishment of 229
with around 52,000 hours worked in a twelve month
period. Although the number of Specials has decreased
from last year, the hours worked are still comparable.
Application processes and progression have been
simplified to make it easier for people to apply and
progress. Retention of Specials remains an issue as
several use the Special Constabulary as a stepping stone
to becoming regular officers (accounting for around 25
percent of leavers in Cambridgeshire). National turnover
of Specials is 25.9%. Projected turnover in
Cambridgeshire is 20.9%. 

There are 82 Police Support Volunteers (PSVs) who are
involved in a wide range of supporting roles including
specialist analysts, Restorative Justice Facilitators, Victim
and Witness Community Volunteers and Mobile CCTV
Officers. PSVs bring additional resilience and specialist
skills to the Constabulary. 

6,000

5,000

4,000

3,000

2,000

1,000

0

6,000

5,000

4,000

3,000

2,000

1,000

0

No. of duties worked                      No. of hours worked

N
um

be
r o

f h
ou

rs

N
um

be
r o

f d
ut

ie
s

A
pr

 -2
01

7

M
ay

 -2
01

7

Ju
n 

-2
01

7

Ju
l -

20
17

Au
g 

-2
01

7

Se
p 

-2
01

7

O
ct

 -2
01

7

N
ov

 -2
01

7

D
ec

 -2
01

7

Ja
n 

-2
01

8

Fe
b 

-2
01

8

M
ar

 -2
01

8

Constabulary – Duties and hours worked by Special Constabulary

35



26 Police and Crime Commissioner for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough I Annual Report 2017-18

The Volunteer Police Cadets scheme continues to inspire
young people across the county. There are currently 127
cadets with an additional new group launched in St
Neots. They continue to help with community safety with
activities such as event management and crime
prevention initiatives. This year saw the first cadet
progress to becoming a Special Constable.  

The Commissioner has funded a Watch Co-ordinator 
post that sits within the Constabulary. This post is 
mainly focussed on supporting and developing
Neighbourhood Watch and Speedwatch although it also
considers other watch schemes. Neighbourhood Watch
has around 8,000 members while Speedwatch now has
154 schemes involving 1,431 community volunteers.
Countryside Watch has around 2,500 members.  

The Commissioner has direct responsibility for
coordinating and overseeing the Independent Custody
Visitor (ICV) scheme. ICVs are members of the local
community who make unannounced visits to custody
suites to check on the treatment of detainees. Last year,
ICVs carried out 106 visits, visiting 455 detainees. The
Independent Custody Association (ICVA) shadowed a
recent inspection by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of
Constabulary, Fire & Rescue Services and were highly
complimentary of the Cambridgeshire scheme. The
Commissioner attends the quarterly panel meetings and
also has a six monthly review with the Constabulary to
maintain his personal oversight of the scheme. 

Integrity
Integrity – ‘doing the right thing in the right way’ – cuts
across all areas of policing in respect of the decisions that

are made and how people are treated. No one element
or approach to driving integrity can stand-alone. Pro-
activity around integrity such as the Code of Ethics,
behaviours, conduct, decision making, governance
processes and controls assurances, are taken together to
ensure the public can be assured that the Commissioner,
his office, and the Constabulary, act fairly, honestly,
respectively and ethically.

The Human Resources function is a collaborated function
with Bedfordshire Police and Hertfordshire Constabulary.
The People Strategy addresses recruitment, retention
and progression policies to provide a workforce that is
representative of the communities we serve and behaves
with integrity and the highest ethical standards. 

A Development and Progression Working Group has
recently been established to look at ways of offering
development and progression opportunities to all under-
represented groups across the three forces including
promotions and lateral development, barriers that
groups might face and how these barriers can be
removed.

The most recent statistics for Black and Minority Ethnic
(BME) police officer posts stand at 2.6% of total
workforce showing a small but steady increase since
2014. This is against a county average BME population of
9.7%. In 2016, 13% of Police Officer applicants were BME. 

The Constabulary instigated a Positive Action
recruitment process to raise the number of BME
applicants and reduce the barriers to their selection. 
This included targeted recruitment events, a buddy

36



Police and Crime Commissioner for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough I Annual Report 2017-18 27

scheme to assist with the recruitment process, delivery of
an eight week Access Course presenting the different
police functions and an easing of the spelling and
grammar requirements of the application form. Going
forward the Constabulary will continue with this 
positive action programme and also re-contact those
that narrowly failed to see if they can be supported to
overcome the areas they failed in.

The Commissioner continues to monitor complaints
through Professional Standards Department Governance
Board quarterly meetings. The HMICFRS rated the
Constabulary as ‘Good’ for legitimacy and made positive
comments regarding the leadership within the
Constabulary.

Public Confidence 
Community engagement is crucial to maintaining public
trust and confidence. Both the Office of Police and Crime
Commissioner and the Constabulary do a considerable

amount of engagement with all communities across the
county. 

The Commissioner has set aside one to two days per
week to proactively engage with police staff and officers,
stakeholders, community groups and individual
members of the public. This engagement ensures the
Commissioner is visible, available and gains an ongoing
understanding of what concerns people. 

The latest confidence survey shows that 96% of people
feel safe in their communities (12 month rolling average). 

63.4% of people feel the police are dealing with issues of
concern to them (12 month rolling average). This
measure saw a decline in the middle of the year but has
since recovered. The decline coincides with a time of
peak demand over the summer and is a reflection of the
pressure the front line is facing in meeting people’s
expectations at times of increasing demand.  

100%

80%

60%

40%

20%

0%

No. of duties worked                      No. of hours worked

%
 a

t l
ea

st
 fa

irl
y 

sa
tis

fie
d

A
pr

 -2
01

7

M
ay

 -2
01

7

Ju
n 

-2
01

7

Ju
l -

20
17

Au
g 

-2
01

7

Se
p 

-2
01

7

O
ct

 -2
01

7

N
ov

 -2
01

7

D
ec

 -2
01

7

Ja
n 

-2
01

8

Fe
b 

-2
01

8

M
ar

 -2
01

8

100%

90%

80%

70%

60%

50%

40%

30%

20%

10%

0%

Discrete month                                Rolling 12 month average

%
 o

f r
ep

on
de

nt
s 

w
ho

 a
gr

ee

A
pr

 -2
01

7

M
ay

 -2
01

7

Ju
n 

-2
01

7

Ju
l -

20
17

Au
g 

-2
01

7

Se
p 

-2
01

7

O
ct

 -2
01

7

N
ov

 -2
01

7

D
ec

 -2
01

7

Ja
n 

-2
01

8

Fe
b 

-2
01

8

M
ar

 -2
01

8

Public satisfaction

Public confidence

37



28 Police and Crime Commissioner for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough I Annual Report 2017-18

Around 60% of the funding for Cambridgeshire
Constabulary comes from central government.
However inflation and other cost pressures

means we have to continually find savings to achieve
a balanced budget. 

Despite the county’s rapid population growth
Cambridgeshire is one of the lowest funded forces in
the country and consequently also one of the most low
cost forces in the country, costing 43p per person per
day compared to the national average of 55p. Making
sure that every pound is used wisely is paramount. The
scale of the challenges cannot be met through small
scale, incremental changes. It requires large scale,
transformational change. 

Future savings and efficiencies will be achieved
through a number of long term transformational
programmes, in particular ongoing collaboration with
other police forces, closer working with local partners
to address community safety issues and maximising
the opportunities of technology.

Finance overview 2017/18

The total budget requirement for Cambridgeshire
Constabulary for 2017/18 was £132.4 million. 

Reserves: Total (useable) reserves at the 31st March
2018 are £24.2 million. Of this total, £17 million are
earmarked for specific purposes, including the Budget
Assistance reserve (£4 million), which provides a cash
resource to respond to funding pressures. Of the
remainder, the General Fund Balance, held as a working
balance and general contingency, is £7.2 million.

Full financial details can be found on the Office of
Police and Crime Commissioner website at
www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/money/

Collaboration 
The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011
and The Policing Protocol Order 2011 clearly set out a
duty for all emergency services to consider
collaboration with other Police and Crime
Commissioners, policing bodies, emergency service
organisations and partners where there is an
opportunity to improve the efficiency or effectiveness.

Collaboration is not just about fulfilling a duty or
making savings, although this is important. The
increasingly specialised nature of some policing
activity means that specialist resources and training is
required. These are expensive and for them to provide
value for money they must be used, rather than on
“standby” or deployed on other duties. By providing
these functions in conjunction with other forces we
maintain our operational viability as the resources are
deployed, as and when they are required, without any
single force having to carry the financial burden. 

bedfordshire, Cambridgeshire and
Hertfordshire Strategic Alliance
Collaboration between Bedfordshire Police and
Cambridgeshire and Hertfordshire Constabulary is well
established and has been in place a number of years.
The Collaborated functions have been split into Joint
Protective Services, (JPS) Organisational Support and
Operational Support for each with a lead force.
JPS is the most established collaboration and consists
of Armed Policing Unit, Civil Contingencies Unit,

Transformation – We deliver improved
outcomes and saving through
innovation and collaboration

The sources of funding were as follows. 

                                                              2017/18
                                              £000                          %
Council tax                         51.6                            39.0%
Govt. Police grant            78.4                            59.2%
Other grants                      1.0                              0.8%
Other income                    1.4                              1.1%
Reserves                              0.0                              0.0%
Total                                     132.4                         100%

38



Police and Crime Commissioner for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough I Annual Report 2017-18 29

Cameras, Tickets and Collisions, Dogs Unit, Major Crime
Unit, Operational Planning and Support Unit, Roads
Policing Unit and Scientific Services Unit. The lead force
is Bedfordshire. 

Organisational Support consists of Professional
Standards Department, Human Resources and
Learning & Development, ICT and Information
Management. The lead force is Cambridgeshire.

Operational Support consists of Criminal Justice,
Custody, Firearms and Explosives Licensing, and Public
Contact. The lead force is Hertfordshire.

Each of the existing collaborated functions has a
management structure that allows the lead force to
effectively manage the function it leads on in a
consultative manner while involving the other two
forces and the three Police and Crime Commissioners. 

The direction of the strategic alliance is managed via
the Strategic Alliance Summit (SAS), which is made up
of the six corporation soles of the organisations. The
operational implementation of the collaborated units
are managed via the Joint Chief Officers Board (JCOB)
which is made up of the three Chief Constables.

Seven Force collaboration 
In general terms, scale brings economies and
efficiencies, and for some functions there is benefit in
extending collaboration beyond our established
Bedfordshire, Cambridgeshire, Hertfordshire
arrangements. These forces in conjunction with
Norfolk, Suffolk, Essex and Kent are engaging in a
seven Force collaboration. Procurement is one
example, which the Commissioner leads on and chairs
the strategic working group. 

blue light collaboration
In addition to the collaboration already taking place
between emergency services, the Policing and Crime
Act 2017 made changes that enable Police and Crime
Commissioners to take on responsibility for the
governance of the Fire and Rescue service in their area
where a good case is made to do so.

In 2017 independent consultants were commissioned
to evaluate different options for the governance of the
Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue Service. Following
extensive consultation in the summer of 2017, the
Commissioner sent a proposal to the Home Secretary
in October 2017 which recommended that the
Commissioner took over governance and oversight of
Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue Service from the Fire
Authority. 

The proposal was independently assessed by The
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy
(CiPFA) in December 2017 and was formally approved
by the Home Secretary on 26 March 2018. 

eastern Region – eastern Region Special
Operations Unit (eRSOU)
The Eastern Region Special Operations Unit (ERSOU) is
the unit tasked with tackling the threat of organised
crime, terrorism and domestic extremism across the
forces in the Eastern Region and to provide specialist
covert policing capability to law enforcement.

ERSOU consists of the Regional Organised Crime Unit
(ROCU) and the Counter Terrorism Policing (CTP)
Command and is made up of resources from across
Bedfordshire, Cambridgeshire, Essex, Hertfordshire,
Kent (ROCU only), Norfolk and Suffolk. The ROCU
identifies, disrupts and dismantles organised crime
groups impacting on the Eastern Region and tackles
Organised Crime Groups causing the greatest levels of
harm to communities of the East. In particular it targets
groups involved in drug trafficking, modern human
slavery, child sex exploitation, and national cybercrime.

Much of ERSOU’s work is covert and is made up of a
number of highly specialised teams working closely
together and has embedded partners from Her
Majesty's Revenue and Customs, UK Border Force, and
the National Crime Agency (NCA) working within it.
For examples of the work they do see
https://www.ersourocu.org.uk/

The CTP Command unit exists primarily to gather and
develop intelligence to help protect the public from
national security threats, especially terrorism and other
extremist activity. Through this they play a valuable
role in promoting community safety and cohesion. The
single regional CTP capability provides the critical link
between local policing and the wider CT network – an
essential component in delivering almost all aspects 
of the Government’s counter–terrorism strategy –
CONTEST.

estates
Buildings are expensive to maintain. The
Constabulary’s estate is valued at £38.8 million and
costs £3.8 million a year to run. The Commissioner’s
focus is to maintain the estate the Chief Constable
requires operationally and to minimise expenditure on
unneeded or underutilised buildings. People keep the
public safe, not buildings, so any savings that can be
made on buildings can be invested in people. 
During the year a new vehicle workshop was opened
near St Ives to maintain the Constabulary’s fleet of

39



30 Police and Crime Commissioner for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough I Annual Report 2017-18

vehicles. This well connected brand new facility
replaced three old vehicle workshops in Cambridge,
Peterborough and March. 

Collaboration continued with other blue light services.
The Constabulary’s training centre near Huntingdon
has been used by Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue
Service and discussions are under way for greater use
in the future. Both the Constabulary and the Fire &
Rescue Service are looking at their various buildings
and looking at locations where facilities may be shared
E.g. Fire stations at Ramsey, Whittlesey and Yaxley,
Police Headquarters in Huntingdon and a blue light
hub in Wisbech. 

Technology
Making use of new technology provides an
opportunity for improving both the efficiency and
effectiveness of police work. It also presents huge
challenges as officers and staff have to learn new ways
of working. The Constabulary continue to develop their
mobile technology capabilities with communication

equipment that allows the sending and receiving of
real time data wherever they are. Paperwork can be
completed while out and about on patrol reducing the
need to return to an office. 

Throughout the year the Constabulary has been
preparing for the launch of Athena in May 2018.
Athena is a new computer platform that helps forces to
shift resources from the back office to the front line.
They can also search one system for information and
find results not just from one force, but across all forces
using the Athena system. The software merges
intelligence, investigation management, case
preparation and custody data. It will strip out time-
consuming manual processes and connect easily with
police, court service and Crown Prosecution Service
systems. 

The Commissioner was also asked by the Home Office
to chair the National Commercial Board which explores
commercial opportunities for police estate,
procurement and ICT at a national level.  

40



Police and Crime Commissioner for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough I Annual Report 2017-18 31

Despite the challenging context over the last
few years the Constabulary continues to
perform well.

HMICFRS carry out regular inspections of all police
forces and rate them against three main categories.
Known as PEEL Inspections, the categories are: 
5 Effectiveness, 
5 Efficiency and 
5 Legitimacy. 

Forces are rated as either Outstanding, Good, Requires
Improvement or Inadequate

The full reports can be found on the HMICFRS 
website at: 
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/peel-
assessments/peel-2017/cambridgeshire/

The latest reports on Cambridgeshire Constabulary are:

PEEL Category               Description                                                  Date of report                          Rating 

Effectiveness                   How effective is the force                       22 Mar 2018                              Requires improvement
                                             at keeping people safe 
                                             and reducing crime?                                                                                       

Efficiency                         How efficient is the force at 
                                             keeping people safe and 
                                             reducing crime?                                         09 Nov 2017                              Good

Legitimacy                       How legitimate is the force at               
                                             keeping people safe and 
                                             reducing crime?                                         12 Dec 2017                              Good 

Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of
Constabulary Fire & Rescue Service
(HMICFRCS)

41



32 Police and Crime Commissioner for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough I Annual Report 2017-18

Independent Custody Visitors (ICVs) are
members of the public who make
unannounced visits to police stations to

check on the rights, wellbeing and treatment
of detainees. They look, listen and tell the
Police and Crime Commissioner what they
have found in police custody. Custody Visitors
seek the detainee’s permission to talk to them
or to see their custody record. If the detainee
gives permission, Custody Visitors talk to them
to find out how they have been treated and
whether they have been able to access their
rights and entitlements. 

2017/2018 Overview
5 ICVs visited roughly 3.8% of all people in custody in

Cambridgeshire and Peterborough. 
5 90% of detainees available ICVs accepted a visit. 
5 There are 20 volunteers who have given an estimated

600 hours of their time between them in 2017/18. 

Highlights
5 ICVs were present on the first day of the

unannounced HMICFRS/HMIP Joint Inspection of
Custody that was also shadowed by the Chief
Executive of Independent Custody Visitors’
Association (IVCA). ICVs received praise about the
quality of their interactions with detainees, the
questions they were asking and the reports they
submitted to the Commissioner. 

5 ICVs regularly commented on how impressed they
were with the treatment of vulnerable detainees and
how detainee welfare was always a priority.

5 The Constabulary was praised for the attention paid
to vulnerable detainees including children. The

number of children detained, and number held
overnight is decreasing to its lowest ever level for the
force. However, there is still work to be done with
Local Authorities to ensure accommodation is
provided where requests are made. ICVs received
training on children in custody.

5 Use of force recording was praised by HMICFRS, and
where issues were raised by ICVs about marks on
wrists of people coming into custody, were able to
see a practical demo and now have greater
understanding of issues. ICVs will still challenge and
the Force welcomes this.

5 Data showed a dramatic reduction in S.136 detainees
coming to custody down from 177 to just two over
the past seven years. There has been none since the
changes in the Mental Health Act, and custody staff
continue to raise issues with ICVs where they have
concerns, knowing where ICVs can add value. 

5 Close working with Tri-force schemes and good
communications with eastern region Police and
Crime Commissioners.

5 Sanitary protection for female detainees in custody
conforms well with ICVA guidelines.

5 Scheme managers have now agreed a tri-force
reporting form and recording spreadsheet, which
paves the way for exploring an electronic reporting
option. 

Key issues raised
5 Temperature control issues in cells ongoing, but

there is an action plan in place and detainees are
offered blankets or to move cells where necessary. 

5 A change of translation service has caused ongoing
issues requesting and obtaining translators. ICVs
have extensive contract monitoring in place to deal 
with this. 

APPenDIX 1 – Independent Custody
Visitors’ Scheme 2017-18

Total number of detainees       Total Number of                     Total number of detainees in           Total number of 
through custody                           ICV visits                                    custody at time of ICV visits              detainees visited

(Apr 17-Mar 18)                                                                                                                                                           
                                                                                                                                                                                        
11,853                                                        106                                                                 772                                                455

42



Police and Crime Commissioner for Cambridgeshire and Peterborough I Annual Report 2017-18 33

5 Seeing staffing issues in relation to availability of
Health Care Providers, but not the quality of
treatment. ICVs raising issues to the Commissioner
who is engaged with the re-tendering process and
pushing for more controls in the contract. 

5 Consistency needed on the allergy information and
charts available for food in Custody. 

5 After a period of low staff levels in Custody which
impacted on the speed of staff in helping detainees
access amenities such as showers, or reading
material, staffing is now back above minimum levels.

Moving forward
5 Continue work on exploring electronic recording

option.
5 Work towards implementing good practice from the

new ICVA Quality Assurance Framework.
5 Promote public knowledge of the scheme to help

reassure the public about the conditions in police
custody and anyone detained there. 

5 Continue to build an understanding of the complex
nature of custody in relation to mental health and
vulnerability in particular. 

5 Pay close attention to recommendations highlighted
in the HMICFRS / HMIP Joint Inspection of Custody
Report. 

43



This page is intentionally left blank

44



CAMBRIDGESHIRE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL Agenda Item 8

30 July 2018 Public Report

Report of the Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Commissioner

Contact Officers – Dorothy Gregson
Contact Details – cambs-pcc@cambs.pnn.police.uk 0300 333 3456

FIRE AND RESCUE GOVERNANCE – UPDATE 

1. PURPOSE

1.1 The report is being presented to the Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Panel (the “Panel”) to 
update it following the approval from the Home Secretary for the Cambridgeshire Police and 
Crime Commissioner (the “Commissioner”) to take on responsibility for governance 
arrangements for the Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue Service (the “Fire Service”). 

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 The Panel is asked to note the contents of this report.

2.2 The Panel are also asked to refer to the detailed report entitled ‘Fire and Rescue Governance – 
Update’ they received at their 15th November 2017 Panel meeting which provided information 
regarding the background to the legislative process followed by the Commissioner i.e 
preparation of a Local Business Case, public consultation, and submission of the proposal to the 
Home Secretary.  Therefore, this report just provides an update since November 2017 regarding 
the Commissioner’s proposal for fire governance.  For ease of reference, the link to the 
November 2017 Panel report is provided in Section 6 below.   (The Panel has also received 
updates to their January 2018 and March 2018 meetings to which reference can also be made).

3. TERMS OF REFERENCE

3.1 Item 6 – To review and scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, by the Police and Crime 
Commissioner in connection with the discharge of the Commissioner’s functions.

Item 8 – To support the effective exercise of the functions of the Commissioner.

4. BACKGROUND

4.1 The Policing and Crime Act 2017 (as amended) introduced measures that place a statutory 
obligation on all emergency services to collaborate and enable Commissioners to take on 
responsibilities for fire and rescue services in their area. 

4.2 The Secretary of State can only make an Order creating new governance arrangements where it 
appears to her that a Commissioner’s proposal would be in the interests of either: economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness, or public safety.

45

mailto:cambs-pcc@cambs.pnn.police.uk


5. CURRENT POSITION

5.1 The Commissioner’s proposal to take on the governance of the Fire Service was submitted to 
the Home Office on 10th October 2017. Where the upper tier authorities do not agree with a 
proposal, as was the case in Cambridgeshire, the Home Office is required to obtain an 
independent assessment of the proposal. The Home Secretary will take into account the findings 
of the independent assessment when making the final decision whether or not to approve the 
Commissioner’s proposal.

5.2 At the request of the Minister of State for Policing and the Fire Service, the Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance & Accountancy undertook an independent assessment of the Cambridgeshire 
proposal in early December 2017, providing their assessment to the Home Office by the         
20th December 2017.

5.3 On 26th March 2018 the Home Secretary announced that the Commissioner for Cambridgeshire 
would be one of three more Commissioners to take on responsibility for local fire and rescue 
services. The Home Secretary considered that the Cambridgeshire proposal demonstrates that 
a transfer of governance would be in the interests of economy, efficiency and effectiveness and 
does not have an adverse effect upon public safety.  However, the Home Secretary’s decision is 
now subject to legal challenge by Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Fire Authority.

5.4 A process to confirm the on-going interim arrangement to share the same Section 151 Officer 
across the Fire Authority and Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner is under 
development.  Alongside this, a review of the support needed to ensure the finance function fits 
the business needs of the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner moving forward is 
underway.

6. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/21/contents

Policing and Crime Act 2017
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/3/pdfs/ukpga_20170003_en.pdf

Police and Crime Panel’s recommendation to Police and Crime Commissioner 
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=543&MId=3925&Ver=4

Police and Crime Commissioner’s response to Police and Crime Panel recommendation 
http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/17-09-27-Police-and-Crime-
Commissioners-response-to-Police-and-Crime-Panels-recommendation-on-fire-consultation.pdf

Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Commissioner’s Fire Governance proposal submission 
http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/get-involved/fire-governance-consultation/

‘Fire and Rescue Governance – Update’, Agenda Item 6.0, Police and Crime Panel,                
15th November 2017
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=543&MId=4045&Ver=4

Letter from the Home Secretary approving the proposal to transfer fire governance to the Police 
and Crime Commissioner and independent assessment by CIPFA

http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/get-involved/fire-governance-consultation/

46

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/21/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/21/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/21/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/21/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/3/pdfs/ukpga_20170003_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/3/pdfs/ukpga_20170003_en.pdf
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=543&MId=3925&Ver=4
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=543&MId=3925&Ver=4
http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/17-09-27-Police-and-Crime-Commissioners-response-to-Police-and-Crime-Panels-recommendation-on-fire-consultation.pdf
http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/17-09-27-Police-and-Crime-Commissioners-response-to-Police-and-Crime-Panels-recommendation-on-fire-consultation.pdf
http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/17-09-27-Police-and-Crime-Commissioners-response-to-Police-and-Crime-Panels-recommendation-on-fire-consultation.pdf
http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/17-09-27-Police-and-Crime-Commissioners-response-to-Police-and-Crime-Panels-recommendation-on-fire-consultation.pdf
http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/17-09-27-Police-and-Crime-Commissioners-response-to-Police-and-Crime-Panels-recommendation-on-fire-consultation.pdf
http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/17-09-27-Police-and-Crime-Commissioners-response-to-Police-and-Crime-Panels-recommendation-on-fire-consultation.pdf
http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/get-involved/fire-governance-consultation/
http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/get-involved/fire-governance-consultation/
http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/get-involved/fire-governance-consultation/
http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/get-involved/fire-governance-consultation/
http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/get-involved/fire-governance-consultation/
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=543&MId=4045&Ver=4
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=543&MId=4045&Ver=4
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=543&MId=4045&Ver=4
http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/get-involved/fire-governance-consultation/
http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/get-involved/fire-governance-consultation/


CAMBRIDGESHIRE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL Agenda Item No. 9

30th July 2018 Public Report

Report of Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Commissioner 

Contact Officer – Dorothy Gregson
Contact Details – cambs-pcc@cambs.pnn.police.uk 0300 333 3456

REVENUE AND CAPITAL BUDGET DRAFT OUTTURN 2017/18

1. PURPOSE

1.1 This purpose of this report is to provide the Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Panel (the 
“Panel”) with information regarding the Police and Crime Commissioner’s (the “Commissioner”) 
Revenue and Capital Budget draft outturn 2017/18.  

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 The Panel is recommended to note the report.

3. TERMS OF REFERENCE

3.1 Item 6 – To review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, by the Police and Crime 
Commissioner in connection with the discharge of the Commissioner’s functions.
Item 8 – To support the effective exercise of the functions of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner.

4. BACKGROUND

4.1 The Commissioner presented a report on ‘Precept Report 2018/19 and Police and Crime Plan 
Variation to Appendix - Medium Term Financial Plan’ to the Panel on the 31st January 2018 
(Agenda Item 6.0).  In response to this report the Panel requested sight of full-year accounts 
(original budget v actuals) for their June 2018 meeting.  (Note: the June meeting was 
rescheduled to the 30th July). 

5. KEY ISSUES

5.1 The report at Appendix 1 provides the Panel with an update on the year end capital and 
revenue outturn for 2017/18 for the Panel to note.

5.2 The Panel are requested to note that, as in previous years, the Commissioner will continue to 
present reports to the Panel to transparently display his budget build process.

6. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

6.1 ‘Precept Report 2018/19 and Police and Crime Plan Variation to Appendix – Medium Term 
Financial Plan’, Agenda Item 6.0, Police and Crime Panel, 31st January 2018 

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=543&MId=3927&Ver=4

7. APPENDICES

7.1 Appendix 1 – Revenue and Capital Budget draft outturn 2017/18

47

mailto:cambs-pcc@cambs.pnn.police.uk
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=543&MId=3927&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank

48



Appendix 1                                                                                                                                

Page 1 of 10

To: Police and Crime Panel

From: Interim Chief Finance Officer, OPCC and Chief Finance Officer, Constabulary 

Date: 30 July 2018 

REVENUE AND CAPITAL BUDGET DRAFT OUTTURN 2017/18

1. Introduction

1.1 This report provides the Police and Crime Panel (the “Panel”) with an update on the 
year-end position regarding the Police and Crime Commissioner’s (the 
“Commissioner”) capital and revenue outturn for 2017/18.

1.2 The capital and revenue reported outturn is provisional and subject to the audit of the 
2017/18 Annual Statement of Accounts.

2. Recommendation

2.1 The Panel is asked to note the:

a) provisional outturn for revenue in 2017/18 and the carry forward requests;
b) provisional outturn for the capital programme; and
c) earmarked reserves position as at 31 March 2018.

3. Draft Revenue Outturn 2017/18

3.1 At year-end the draft revenue budget was overspent by £1.787m.  This year-end 
position had been forecast and will be met by a contribution from the Budget 
Assistance Reserve.   Table 1 provides a breakdown of the year-end position, split 
between Cambridgeshire Constabulary (the “Constabulary”), the Office of the Police 
and Crime Commissioner (OPCC) and specific grants.

49



Appendix 1                                                                                                                                

Page 2 of 10

Table 1: Revenue Outturn 2017/18

4.

Draf
t 
Out
turn 
201
7/1
8 - 
Con
stab
ular
y

4.1 This summary positon for the Constabulary is shown below.  A detailed breakdown of 
the figures displayed below can be found at Appendix 1.

Full Year 
Budget 
2017/18

Outturn 
2017/18

Variance

£/%

Local Policing 75,259 73,712 (1,547)/ 2.05%

Organisational  
Support

15,984 20,378 4,394/ 27.5%

Collaboration 37,535 37,558 23/ 0.06%

Total 
Expenditure

128,778 131,648

Income -1,435 -2,194 (759)/ 52.9%

Carry Forwards -1,091 -1,089 2/ 0%

Reserves 0 -326 (326)/100%

TOTAL 
CONSTABULARY 
BUDGET

126,252 128,040 1,788/1.4%

Budget 
2017/18

Year-End 
Outturn(£’000)

Variance 
(£’000/%)

Constabulary 126,252 128,040 1,788/ 1.4%

OPCC 1,194 1,098 (96)/8%

Grants, 

Capital Financing and 
costs of surplus 
properties 

3,514 3,608 94/2.6%

TOTAL 130,959 132,746 1,787 / 1.4%

50



Appendix 1                                                                                                                                

Page 3 of 10

4.2 At year-end, Police Officer pay and allowances were underspent.  This position was 
owing to Police Officer numbers being below the budgeted establishment whilst the 
process of recruiting and training new Police Officers was completed.  At 31st March 
2018, Police Officer numbers were 1,115 including 30 new officers that started in 
March 2018, against a budgeted position of 1,091.  

4.3 As a result of the Police Officer turnover and subsequent vacancies, the Police Officer 
Overtime budget was overspent by £694k.

4.4 PCSO pay and overtime was £667k underspent.  This was the result of a shortfall in 
strength against establishment.  At year-end, there were 107 PCSOs against a 
budgeted establishment of 150. 

4.5 The budget for Support Staff pay was set incorporating a significant vacancy factor of 
£2.9m to enable a balanced budget to be set.  This approach was planned with 
stringent monitoring of the position throughout the financial year.  The Budget 
Assistance Reserve was earmarked to offset the overall budget pressure.  In addition, 
staff costs associated with the Disclosure and Barring Service, along with the 
associated income were not budgeted.  

4.6 Premises Costs were £110k overspent.  This was primarily due to the revaluation of 
rates on buildings.

4.7 Transport Costs were £574k overspent.  This was due to a new contract with Chiltern 
Transport Consortium and associated transfer costs that had not been incorporated 
into the budget. 

4.8 Supplies & Services was overspent by £0.5m.  Key areas of overspend were insurance 
(claims handling and Insurance fund), Clothing, the cost of computer equipment in the 
new Demand hub and Equipment & materials across the force. 

4.9 Overall, collaboration expenditure was very close to that budgeted at the financial 
year-end.  Joint Protective Services was underspent by £331k owing to Major Crime 
Unit and Roads Policing Unit.  This underspend was offset by spending pressures 
against other collaborated services that included additional Enterprise Resource 
Planning1 set up costs, local custody costs and Human Resources and Learning and 
Development costs.

1 a system to transform the way the Constabulary, along with Bedfordshire Police and Hertfordshire 
Constabulary’s organisational support functions work by integrating all Human Resources, finance and duties 
management system

51



Appendix 1                                                                                                                                

Page 4 of 10

4.10 There are a number of carry forward requests from the Constabulary. The majority of 
these are the carry forward of unspent grant budgets, which if not carried forward and 
spent, would require repayment to the grant paying body. Other carry forwards are 
where there is a contractual obligation in place. The total of all carry forwards are 
£1.012m.

5. Draft Outturn 2017/18 – OPCC and Corporate Costs

5.1 Table 3 – OPCC and Corporate Costs Summary

Full Year 
Budget 
2017/18

Outturn

2017/18

Variance

£/%

Commissioner and Staff 893 771 (122)/ 10.8%

Supplies and Services 302 327 25/  16.6%

Transfer to Reserves 0 96 96/100%

TOTAL OPCC 1,194 1,194

Corporate Costs and 
Grants

2,262 2,470 41/ 3.2%

Property in Capital 
Financing Costs

1,213 1,161 (52)/ 4.1%

Costs of surplus 
properties

39 174 135/ 346%

Reserves 0 -197 (293)/ 100%

TOTAL 3,514 3,608 94/ 4.5%

5.2 Key revenue variances in year are due to the staffing budget which included a Director 
of Finance post which was filled by Interim Chief Finance Officer and Interim Head of 
Finance and an admin post that was covered by agency staff.

5.3 Property investments were overspent by £135k which were running costs of 
properties such as Bridge Street, Peterborough, and other others due to be disposed 
of. 

52



Appendix 1                                                                                                                                

Page 5 of 10

6. Draft Outturn 2017/18 – Capital

Table 4 – Capital Programme

All figures £'000

B/Fwd 
from 

previous 
years

Original 
2017/18 
Capital 

Programme

Previously 
Authorised 
Programme 

Amendments

Revised 
2017/18 
Capital 
Budget

Outturn 
2017/18 %

Capital Payments:-
Land & Buildings 590 555 1,295 2,440 1,629 66.8%
IT & Communications 209 1,571 (215) 1,565 977 62.4%
Fleet 378 1,889  - 2,267 1,854 81.8%
Collaboration 427 692 466 1,585 1,242 78.3%
Schemes approved subject to further business case  - 3,594  - 3,594  - 0.0%
TOTAL 1,604 8,301 1,546 11,451 5,702 49.8%

All figures £'000

B/Fwd 
from 

previous 
years

Original 
2016/17 
Capital 

Programme

Previously 
Authorised 
Programme 

Amendments

Revised 
2017/18 
Capital 
Budget Total Spend Applied

Transfer to 
Capital 
Carry 

Forward 
Reserve

Capital Financing:-
Capital Grants  - 506 165 671 649 483 166
Capital Grants (Athena)  -  - 155 155 98 98 8
ESMCP Grant (RCCO)  - 263  - 263 119 119  -
Budget Assistance Reserve  - 3,881 (2,035) 1,846 1,534 1,534 807
Estates Development Reserve  -  - 1,080 1,080 437 437 63
Capital Reserve  -  - 2,000 2,000 1,376 1,376 544
Carry Forward Reserve 1,604  -  - 1,604 1,049 1,049 555
Capital Receipts  -  -  -  -  -  -  -
Vehicle Receipts (RCCO)  - 150  - 150 97 97  -
RCCO - approved in-year by Chief Constable  -  - 181 181 343 343 30
Borrowing  - 3,500  - 3,500  - 0  -
TOTAL 1,604 8,301 1,546 11,451 5,702 5,536 2,173
Note: figures may not cast due to roundings * year end adjustments

6.1 A detailed breakdown on a scheme by scheme basis of the capital programme is 
shown at Appendix 2.  At year-end the programme is showing a 50% underspend.  
However, £3.5m of this (30%) relates to the Cambridgeshire Southern Police Station 
scheme. An explanation of the remaining material underspends in the programme are 
detailed below. 

53



Appendix 1                                                                                                                                

Page 6 of 10

6.2 Explanation for variances:

Wisbech Fire Station Extension (£362k underspend)

This project has experienced some delays owing to planning and utility issues.  It will 
progress through 2018/19.

ICT Consolidated Workstream (£410k underspend)

ICT Capital for Cambs recorded approximately a £600k underspend for financial year 
17/18. One of the main reasons for this was in relation to ICT consolidated 
workstreams line. ICT was allocated £850k to cover the various infrastructure 
convergence projects as part of the continued work to align ICT services across 
Bedfordshire, Cambridgeshire and Hertfordshire. £410k was not spent owing to delays 
in progressing the physical data centre redevelopment. This had been planned to be 
completed within the financial year but following feedback from consultants and 
changes to scope it was felt this could not be achieved and it was agreed to defer until 
18/19. 

Demand Hub (£371k underspend)

The other project that showed significant underspend was the Demand Management 
Software and Workforce Management Software. These projects were delayed due to 
the decision to move the Police Service Centre to create a single ‘Demand Hub’ at 
Police Headquarters. This resulted in ICT needing to upgrade the telephony systems 
and thus a decision was taken to delay the implementation of these systems due to 
the integration with the telephony solutions.

6.3 Appendix 3 shows the Capital carry forward requests with the detail for the carry 
forward request.

54



Appendix 1                                                                                                                                

Page 7 of 10

7. Reserves

Table 5: Reserves position

 Balance 
1/4/17 

Added to 
Reserve

Actual 
usage

Balance 
31/3/18

Usable Reserves

Carry Forward Revenue Reserve 1,089 1,012 (1,089) 1,012

Drug Forfeiture (Operational) Reserve 78 38 - 116

Budget Assistance Reserve 8,414 - (4,354) 4,060

Road Casualty Reduction & Support Fund (*) 1,348 402 (168) 1,582

Collaboration & Commissioning Reserve 270 - (10) 260

ICT Development Reserve 432 - - 432

Estate Development Reserve 3,439 - (500) 2,939

Contingency Reserves

Insurance Reserve 996 - (134) 862

Ill-Health Retirement Reserve 398 - - 398

Capital Reserves

Capital Reserve 3,205 - (1,920) 1,285

Capital Receipts Reserve 1,209 705                - 1,914

Capital Carry Forward Reserve 1,604 2,173 (1,604) 2,173

Total Earmarked Reserves 22,482 4,330 (9,779) 17,033

General Reserve 7,198 - - 7,198

Total Usable Reserves 29,680 4,330 (9,779) 24,231

7.1 Table 5 outlines the reserves position at the end of 2017/18 after the impact of the 
provisional outturn and all reserves adjustments. The position reported here is in 
overall alignment with the reserves strategy adopted as part of the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2018/19 to 2021/22 and will be further refreshed as part of 
the review of the MTFS as part of the budget setting process for 2019/20.

55



Appendix 1                                                                                                                                

Page 8 of 10

Appendix 1

High Level Constabulary Budget

Appendix 2

56



Appendix 1                                                                                                                                

Page 9 of 10

Scheme by Scheme Capital Report to 31st March 2018

Notes Scheme Job Budget Original Proposed Revised Actual Commitments Committed Expected Variance Predicted Estimated
at Title Code B/Fwd Capital Programme Capital Budget YTD YTD & Spent Outturn at C/Fwd (Under)/Over-

Para. Programme Amendments 2017/18 YTD 2017/18 year end 2017/18 spend
as amended* (D+E+F) (H+I) (K-G) (L+M)

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Fleet
Vehicle Replacement Programme C8010 268 1,300  - 1,568 1,568  - 1,568 1,568  -  -  -
New Vehicle Equipment C8011 110 400  - 510 217  - 217 217 (293) 293  -
Telematics C8105  - 189  - 189 69  - 69 69 (120) 120  -
Fleet Total 378 1,889  - 2,267 1,854  - 1,854 1,854 (413) 413  -

Collaboration
JPS Equipment Replacement Rolling Programme C8028 125  -  - 125 65 65 65 (60) 60  -
Org Support BCH ERP Purchase BCHCAG  - 247  - 247 153  - 153 153 (94) 94  -
Org Support ICT Infrastructure for BCH - Identity C8053 8  -  - 8 8  - 8 8  -  -  -

4.2 Org Support ICT Infrastructure for BCH - WAN C8060 123  -  - 123 156  - 156 156 33  - 33
IMD DP FOI C8062 11  -  - 11 10  - 10 10 (1)  - (1)
BCH Property Management System C8063 9  -  - 9  -  -  -  - (9) 9  -
Org Support ICT Infrastructure for BCH - Email Archiving C8065 1  -  - 1  -  -  -  - (1)  - (1)
JPS ANPR C8071 150 140  - 290 221  - 221 221 (69) 69  -
ESN - ICCS BCHCAA  - 263  - 263 119  - 119 119 (144) 144  -

4.3 Digital Interview Recording Equipment Refresh C8102  - 42  - 42 43  - 43 43 1  - 1
4.1 Org Support ICT Infrastructure for BCH - Data Centre C8116  - 181  - 181 188  - 188 188 7  - 7

Org Support ICT Infrastructure for BCH - Exchange Servers C8117  - 21  - 21 9  - 9 9 (12)  - (12)
tuServ - Athena Integration (Phases 1&2) C8118  - 38  - 38 38  - 38 38  -  -  -

4.1 tuServ Biometrics C8119  - 30  - 30 32  - 32 32 2  - 2
Seven Forces PSD Monitoring System C8120  - 56  - 56 26  - 26 26 (30) 30  -
BCH In-Cell Conferencing Facilities C8123  - 140  - 140 118  - 118 118 (22) 22  -
Ersou capital expenditure C8104  -  -  -  - 56  - 56 56 56  - 56
Collaboration Total 427 1,158  - 1,585 1,242  - 1,242 1,242 (343) 428 85

Schemes Approved Subject to Further Business Case
CRM / Contact  - 94  - 94  -  -  -  - (94)  - (94)
Parkside Custody Replacement  - 3,500  - 3,500  -  -  -  - (3,500)  - (3,500)

Grand Total 1,604 9,847  - 11,451 5,702  - 5,702 5,702 (5,749) 2,154 (3,595)

*Approved Capital Programme + / - previously authorised additions, deletions & virements
Note: figures may not cast due to roundings

Notes Scheme Job Budget Original Proposed Revised Actual Commitments Committed Expected Variance Predicted Estimated
at Title Code B/Fwd Capital Programme Capital Budget YTD YTD & Spent Outturn at C/Fwd (Under)/Over-

Para. Programme Amendments 2017/18 YTD 2017/18 year end 2017/18 spend
as amended* (D+E+F) (H+I) (K-G) (L+M)

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Fleet
Vehicle Replacement Programme C8010 268 1,300  - 1,568 1,568  - 1,568 1,568  -  -  -
New Vehicle Equipment C8011 110 400  - 510 217  - 217 217 (293) 293  -
Telematics C8105  - 189  - 189 69  - 69 69 (120) 120  -
Fleet Total 378 1,889  - 2,267 1,854  - 1,854 1,854 (413) 413  -

Collaboration
JPS Equipment Replacement Rolling Programme C8028 125  -  - 125 65 65 65 (60) 60  -
Org Support BCH ERP Purchase BCHCAG  - 247  - 247 153  - 153 153 (94) 94  -
Org Support ICT Infrastructure for BCH - Identity C8053 8  -  - 8 8  - 8 8  -  -  -

4.2 Org Support ICT Infrastructure for BCH - WAN C8060 123  -  - 123 156  - 156 156 33  - 33
IMD DP FOI C8062 11  -  - 11 10  - 10 10 (1)  - (1)
BCH Property Management System C8063 9  -  - 9  -  -  -  - (9) 9  -
Org Support ICT Infrastructure for BCH - Email Archiving C8065 1  -  - 1  -  -  -  - (1)  - (1)
JPS ANPR C8071 150 140  - 290 221  - 221 221 (69) 69  -
ESN - ICCS BCHCAA  - 263  - 263 119  - 119 119 (144) 144  -

4.3 Digital Interview Recording Equipment Refresh C8102  - 42  - 42 43  - 43 43 1  - 1
4.1 Org Support ICT Infrastructure for BCH - Data Centre C8116  - 181  - 181 188  - 188 188 7  - 7

Org Support ICT Infrastructure for BCH - Exchange Servers C8117  - 21  - 21 9  - 9 9 (12)  - (12)
tuServ - Athena Integration (Phases 1&2) C8118  - 38  - 38 38  - 38 38  -  -  -

4.1 tuServ Biometrics C8119  - 30  - 30 32  - 32 32 2  - 2
Seven Forces PSD Monitoring System C8120  - 56  - 56 26  - 26 26 (30) 30  -
BCH In-Cell Conferencing Facilities C8123  - 140  - 140 118  - 118 118 (22) 22  -
Ersou capital expenditure C8104  -  -  -  - 56  - 56 56 56  - 56
Collaboration Total 427 1,158  - 1,585 1,242  - 1,242 1,242 (343) 428 85

Schemes Approved Subject to Further Business Case
CRM / Contact  - 94  - 94  -  -  -  - (94)  - (94)
Parkside Custody Replacement  - 3,500  - 3,500  -  -  -  - (3,500)  - (3,500)

Grand Total 1,604 9,847  - 11,451 5,702  - 5,702 5,702 (5,749) 2,154 (3,595)

*Approved Capital Programme + / - previously authorised additions, deletions & virements
Note: figures may not cast due to roundings

57



Appendix 1                                                                                                                                

Page 10 of 10

Appendix 3

Capital Carry Forward Requests

Scheme Title Job Code

Revised 
Capital 
Budget 
2017/18 

£'000

Provisional 
Outturn 
2017/18 
£'000

Variance 
at Year 

End       
£'000

Requested 
Carry 

Forward 
£'000

Details of Carry Forward Request

Wisbech Fire Station Ext for Police Purposes C8068 121 83 (38) 361

The project has been delayed on planning grounds but a 
successful planning consent is expected during April which will 
be followed by procurement for the construction

HQ Lead Decontamination and Prevention C8106 90 27 (63) 63

Although the main contamination has been removed it is now 
necessary to investigate and remove contamination in 
concealed areas such as roof voids

Demand Hub - Building Works C8114 735 364 (371) 371 Completion scheduled for completion 18/05/18

Org Support BCH ERP Purchase C8032+BCHCAG 247 153 (94) 94

Approx £200k budget, but supplier implementation and CRM 
professional services slipped in 1718, hence after grant we 
require a carry forward of £102k

Demand Management Software C8097 56 36 (20) 20
Unable to purchase final element until pilot is completed and is 
delayed re Athena & PO commitment

Workforce Management Software Upgrade C8098 44 12 (32) 32 To cover commitment on PO ADN0417
ICT Consolidated Workstreams C8111 100 98 (2) 410 Request a carry forward for Phase 2 of DC Infrastructure

ICT Office Relocation Works C8122 50 36 (14) 14

Additional request for Soundproofing of all SMT offices, was 
waiting to ensure that JB's office has worked.  Work not 
completed in 17/18

Network EOL Switches C8115 70 39 (31) 31
Requested £37k cfwd for PO ADN1011 as not delivered, but 
only £31k remaining from budget

Replacement of SAN (ICT Area Network) C8110 100 98 (2) 2 To cover half the commitment on PO ADN1114 of £4k

BCH Property Management System C8063 9 0 (9) 9

£12k requested but only £9k budget. Milestone 2 is not yet 
completed. It has been delayed due to technical and business 
issues. The first part will be in April with final Go Live in July

PSD 7F Software Monitoring C8120 0 30
Milestone 4 - Test and Milestone 5 - Deployment and 
Hypercare

Scheme Title Job Code

Revised 
Capital 
Budget 
2017/18 

£'000

Provisional 
Outturn 
2017/18 
£'000

Variance 
at Year 

End       
£'000

Requested 
Carry 

Forward 
£'000

Details of Carry Forward Request

JPS ANPR C8071 290 221 (69) 69

The quote for three trunk road sites are excessive and so 
reviewing options with contractors and Highways to bring the 
cost down and will be used in first 3 months of 2018/19

ESN - ICCS BCHCAA/C8099 263 119 (144) 144
Carry forward for commitments and remainder £61k from a 
specific grant

Custody Virtual Courts C8049 35 27 (8) 8 To cover commitments
Telematics C8105 189 69 (120) 120 Ordered 200 kits that won't be delivered until April 2018.

Vehicle Replacement Programme/Equipment C8010/C8011 510 217 (293) 293

With CTC taking over the vehicle purchases and sales we are 
still awaiting final figures. WE request a carry forward to cover 
combined both  projects.

BCH In-Cell Conferencing Facilities C8123 140 118 (22) 22
£22k carry forward requested to cover support fees of £26k both 
in 18/19 and 19/20

JPS Equipment Replacement Rolling Programme C8028 125 65 (60) 60
A rolling programme to cover £2k commitment from 17/18 and 
plenty of other commitments next year

58



 

 

CAMBRIDGESHIRE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 
 

Agenda Item No. 10 

30 July 2018 
 

Public Report 

 
Report of Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Commissioner  
 
Contact Officer – Dorothy Gregson 
Contact Details – cambs-pcc@cambs.pnn.police.uk 0300 333 3456 
 
DECISIONS BY CAMBRIDGESHIRE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER 
 
 

1. 
 

PURPOSE  
 

1.1 This report is being presented to the Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Panel (the “Panel”) to 
enable it to review or scrutinise decisions taken by the Police and Crime Commissioner (the 
“Commissioner”) under Section 28 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (the 
“Act”). 
 

 

2. 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

2.1 
 
 
 

The Panel is recommended to indicate whether it would wish to further review and scrutinise the 
decisions taken by the Commissioner. In these circumstances further information would be 
provided for a future meeting.  

2.2 The Panel is asked to note future areas where decisions are to be taken by the Commissioner. 
 

 

3. 
 

TERMS OF REFERENCE  
 

3.1 Item 6 - To review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, by the Commissioner in 
connection with the discharge of the Commissioner’s functions. 
 

 

4. 
 

BACKGROUND 
 

4.1 This report is presented to enable the Panel to carry out its functions as noted in paragraph 3. 
The Panel is required to review or scrutinise decisions made, it is also required to support the 
effective exercise of the functions of the Commissioner.   
 

 

5. 
 

 

KEY ISSUES  

5.1 The decisions taken by the Commissioner which have been notified to the Panel is attached at 
Appendix 1.  
 

5.2 The relevant Decision Records are attached at Appendix 2. 

5.3 All papers relating to Decision Records are available on the Commissioner’s website.  The Panel 
receive notification when the Commissioner publishes Business Coordination Board papers.   
 

 

6. 
 

IMPLICATIONS  

6.1 Subject to the Panel’s need for further information or scrutiny on any of the decisions above, it 
may be required that further information is submitted to a future meeting of the Panel. 
 
 

59

mailto:cambs-pcc@cambs.pnn.police.uk


 

 

 

7. 
 

CONSULTATION 

7.1 The decisions are in line with the direction set by in the Commissioner’s Police and Crime Plan. 
These Decision Records have been placed on the Commissioner’s website. 

 

8. 
 

NEXT STEPS 
 

8.1 Panel members may request further information about the decisions detailed in Appendices 1 
and 2.  
 

8.2 Future decisions taken by the Commissioner will continue to be notified to the Panel. The Act 
introduced a number of statutory decisions to be taken by the Commissioner. Future areas where 
decisions are likely to be considered as required are given at Appendix 3. 
 

8.3 An update regarding the Commissioner’s Estate including decisions made, progress regarding 
disposal of assets, options analysis of the assets, and an indication of any forthcoming decisions 
is given at Appendix 4. 
 

 

9. 
 

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

9.1 Decisions records notified to the Panel. 
 

 

10.
  

 

APPENDICES  
 

  
Appendix 1 - Decision records notified to the Panel 
  
Appendix 2 - Decision records 
 
Appendix 3 – Areas where decision are likely to be considered as required 
 
Appendix 4 – Estates update 
 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

60



 

 

 
 

Appendix 1 
 

Decision Records notified to the Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Panel  
 
 

 
Date 

 
Decision Record 

 
Subject 

 
Decision  

 

 
6th March 2018 

 
CPCC 2018-006 

 
Revenue and Capital Budget 2017/18 - approve the use 
of reserves for the overspend 

 

 
To approve the use of reserves from the Revenue 
and Capital budget 2017/18. 

 
12th April 2018 

 
CPCC 2018-007 

 
S22A Agreement under the Police Act 1996 (as 
amended) for the Modern Slavery Police 
Transformation Fund Programme 
 

 
To sign the Modern Slavery Police Transformation 
Fund Section 22A Agreement under the Police Act 
1996 (as amended). 

 
12th April 2018 

 
CPCC 2018-008 
 

 
S22A Agreement under the Police Act 1996 (as 
amended) for the provision of a 7 Force Firearms 
Training Compliance function  between the Chief 
Constables and Police and Crime Commissioners from; 
Bedfordshire, Cambridgeshire, Essex, Hertfordshire, 
Kent, Norfolk, and Suffolk 
 

 
To sign the Interim Transition Firearms Licence 
Section 22A Agreement under the Police Act 1996 
(as amended). 

61



T
his page is intentionally left blank

62



 

 

 
 

Appendix 1 
 

Decision Records notified to the Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Panel  
 
 

 
Date 

 
Decision Record 

 
Subject 

 
Decision  

 

 
6th March 2018 

 
CPCC 2018-006 

 
Revenue and Capital Budget 2017/18 - approve the use 
of reserves for the overspend 

 

 
To approve the use of reserves from the Revenue 
and Capital budget 2017/18. 

 
12th April 2018 

 
CPCC 2018-007 

 
S22A Agreement under the Police Act 1996 (as 
amended) for the Modern Slavery Police 
Transformation Fund Programme 
 

 
To sign the Modern Slavery Police Transformation 
Fund Section 22A Agreement under the Police Act 
1996 (as amended). 

 
12th April 2018 

 
CPCC 2018-008 
 

 
S22A Agreement under the Police Act 1996 (as 
amended) for the provision of a 7 Force Firearms 
Training Compliance function  between the Chief 
Constables and Police and Crime Commissioners from; 
Bedfordshire, Cambridgeshire, Essex, Hertfordshire, 
Kent, Norfolk, and Suffolk 
 

 
To sign the Interim Transition Firearms Licence 
Section 22A Agreement under the Police Act 1996 
(as amended). 

63



 

 

 

64



 

 

 
 
 

Appendix 2  
 
 
 
 
 

DECISION RECORDS  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

65



 

 

66



 

 

Areas where decisions are likely to be considered                                                                                                 Appendix 3 
 

 
Current Background reports 

 

Anticipated timescale/date 

 
ANNUAL REPORT 

To approve the Annual Report to reflect 
the Commissioner’s work for the period 
between April 2017 to March 2018 

Business Co-ordination Board Report: 
 

‘Covering paper Annual Report 2018’ and ‘Draft Police 
and Crime Commissioner’s Annual Report 2018’, 
Agenda Item 5.0  
 

http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/work/business-
coordination-board/2018-2/bcb-19th-july-2018/ 
 

Police and Crime Panel Reports: 
 

‘Police and Crime Commissioner's Annual Report 2017-
18 - Cover Paper’ and ‘Police and Crime Commissioners 
Annual Report 2017-18’ 
 

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.
aspx?CId=543&MId=4181&Ver=4 
 

Decision to publish after July 2018 Police and 
Crime Panel meeting. 

 

 
APPOINTMENTS  

To approve the appointments of the: 
1. Chief Constable; 
2. Commissioner’s s151 Chief Finance 

Officer 
 

Business Co-ordination Board Reports: 
 

‘Update on fire and rescue governance’, Agenda Item 
9.0, 12th December 2017 
 

‘Fire Governance Update’, Agenda Item 9.0, 19th July 
2018  
 

http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/work/business-
coordination-board/ 
 

Police and Crime Panel Reports: 
 

‘Appointment of Chief Constable of Cambridgeshire 
Constabulary’, 30th July 2018 
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.as
px?CId=543&Year=0 

Decision to appoint to both posts subject to Police 
and Crime Panel consideration and 
recommendation on both appointments.  Proposed 
appointment of Chief Constable to be heard at 
Confirmation Hearing on 30th July 2018.  Proposed 
appointment of s151 Chief Finance Officer 
scheduled to be heard at Confirmation Hearing on 
12th September 2018.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

67

http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/work/business-coordination-board/2018-2/bcb-19th-july-2018/
http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/work/business-coordination-board/2018-2/bcb-19th-july-2018/
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=543&MId=4181&Ver=4
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=543&MId=4181&Ver=4
http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/work/business-coordination-board/
http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/work/business-coordination-board/
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=543&Year=0
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=543&Year=0


 

 

 
Current Background reports 

 

Anticipated timescale/date 

 

COLLABORATION   

To sign Section 22A Agreements under 
the Police Act 1996 (as amended) as 
required for individual collaborated 
business areas across Bedfordshire, 
Cambridgeshire, Hertfordshire, Norfolk, 
Suffolk, Essex and Kent and for national 
collaborations. 

Business Co-ordination Board Reports: 
 

 ‘7F Strategic Collaboration Programme Report’, 
Agenda Item 9.0, 21st September 2017 

 

 ‘Collaboration Update – Bedfordshire Police, 
Cambridgeshire Constabulary and Hertfordshire 
Constabulary’, Agenda Item 7.0, 12th December 2017 
 

 ‘Summary BCH Collaboration Report’, Agenda Item 
11.0, 19th July 2018 

 

http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/work/business-
coordination-board 

Decisions driven by individual collaboration project 
timescales. Decision Notices and related reports 
published on Commissioner’s website and sent to 
Police and Crime Panel.  

 

CUSTODY – PARKSIDE CUSTODY REPLACEMENT CUSTODY   
  

Approval on individual decisions as 
required as part of the Parkside Custody 
Replacement project.  
 
 
 

Business Co-ordination Board Report: 

 ‘Launch of Custody Project’, Agenda Item 12.0,                
11th August 2016  

 

http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2016/08/16-08-11-BCB-Agenda-Item-
12.0-Launch-of-Custody-Project-1.pdf 
 

  ‘Summary of the draft proposal for the Southern 
Policing Hub’, Agenda Item 12.0, 1st March 2018 

 

http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2018/01/18-03-01-BCB-Agenda-Item-
12.0-Southern-Policing-Hub.pdf 
 

Police and Crime Panel Report:  

 ‘Police and Crime Commissioner’s Strategic Estates 
Update’, Police and Crime Panel, 14th June 2017 

 

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.
aspx?CId=543&MId=3924&Ver=4 

Driven by Project timescales.  Land purchase, 
subject to the planning permission process, 
anticipated by the end of 2018. 

68

http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/work/business-coordination-board/
http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/work/business-coordination-board/
http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/16-08-11-BCB-Agenda-Item-12.0-Launch-of-Custody-Project-1.pdf
http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/16-08-11-BCB-Agenda-Item-12.0-Launch-of-Custody-Project-1.pdf
http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/16-08-11-BCB-Agenda-Item-12.0-Launch-of-Custody-Project-1.pdf
http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/18-03-01-BCB-Agenda-Item-12.0-Southern-Policing-Hub.pdf
http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/18-03-01-BCB-Agenda-Item-12.0-Southern-Policing-Hub.pdf
http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/18-03-01-BCB-Agenda-Item-12.0-Southern-Policing-Hub.pdf
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=543&MId=3924&Ver=4
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=543&MId=3924&Ver=4


 

 

 

 Current Background reports Anticipated timescale/date 

 
DEVOLUTION  

  

Approval on individual decisions as 
required as part of the process of realising 
the benefits of any new Combined 
Authority devolution arrangements 

‘Business Co-ordination Board Report: 
  

 ‘Devolution Update’, Agenda Item 5.0, 6th February 
2017 

 

http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2017/02/17-02-06-BCB-Agenda-Item-
5.0-Devolution-update.pdf 
 

Driven by Combined Authority decision making and 
legislative process 

 

ESTATES 
  

 Business Co-ordination Board Reports: 
 

 ‘Estates Plan’, Agenda Item 14.0, 16th December 2016 
 

 ‘Estates Update’, Agenda Item 8.1, 14th March 2017 
 

http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/work/business-
coordination-board/ 
 

Police and Crime Panel Reports:  
 

 ‘Police and Crime Commissioner’s Strategic Estates 
Update’, Agenda Item 7.0, 15th March 2017 

 

 ‘Police and Crime Commissioner’s Strategic Estates 
Update’, 14th June 2017 

 

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.as
px?CId=543&Year=0 
 
 

Decisions as required in line with Estates Strategy 
and as indicated in ‘Police and Crime 
Commissioner’s Strategic Estates Update’, report 
to Police and Crime Panel, 14th June 2017. 
Detailed reports will be prepared as individual 
assets are considered.   Decision Notices and 
related reports published on Commissioner’s 
website and sent to Police and Crime Panel.  
 

69

http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/17-02-06-BCB-Agenda-Item-5.0-Devolution-update.pdf
http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/17-02-06-BCB-Agenda-Item-5.0-Devolution-update.pdf
http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/17-02-06-BCB-Agenda-Item-5.0-Devolution-update.pdf
http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/work/business-coordination-board/
http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/work/business-coordination-board/
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=543&Year=0
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=543&Year=0


 

 

 

 
 

Current Background reports 
 

Anticipated timescale/date 

 
EXTERNAL FUNDING OPPORTUNTIES   

 

Approve decisions as required relating to 
external funding opportunities to support 
initiatives to transform policing, 
collaborative working, prevent crime, and 
protect vulnerable people, such as the 
National Transformation Fund, Innovation 
Funding.   

  Timescales for decisions are driven by the Home 
Office bidding process. 

 

FIRE GOVERNANCE PROPOSALS (listed previously in Decisions Report under ‘Policing and Crime Act 2017 Opportunities’) 
 

Approval of individual decisions as 
required as part of the process of realising 
the opportunities from the Policing and 
Crime Act 2017 regarding emergency 
services collaboration including fire 
governance proposals.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Business Co-ordination Board Reports: 

 ‘Realising the Opportunities From The Policing and 
Crime Bill’, Agenda Item 5.0, 21st September 2016; 
Agenda Item 6.0, 17th January 2017 

 

 ‘Consultation on Local Business Case for Fire and 
Rescue Governance options’, Agenda Item 8.0,       
22nd June 2017; Agenda Item 5.0,                                        
21st September 2017 

 

 ‘Fire Governance Update’, Agenda Item 9.0, 12th 
December 2017; Agenda Item 7.0, 12th April 2018; 
Agenda Item 10.0, 10th May 2018; Agenda Item 9.0, 
19th July 2018. 

  

    http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/work/business-
coordination-board/ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Driven by legal process and legislative timescales.  
 

70

http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/work/business-coordination-board/
http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/work/business-coordination-board/


 

 

  

Current Background reports 
 

Anticipated timescale/date 

 

FIRE GOVERNANCE PROPOSALS cont’d   
  

 Police and Crime Panel Reports:  
 

 ‘Realising the Opportunities from the Policing and 
Crime Bill’, Agenda Item 8.0, 9th November 2017; 
Agenda Item 7.0, 1st February 2017 

 

 Fire and Rescue Governance – Local Business Case’, 
Agenda Item 7.0, 6th September 2017 
 

 ‘Fire and Rescue Governance – Update’, Agenda Item 
6.0, 15th November 2017; 31st January 2018 

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.as
px?CId=543&Year=0 
 

 

71

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=543&Year=0
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=543&Year=0


 

 

 
  

Current Background reports 
 

Anticipated timescale/date 

 

GRANT FUNDING  
 

Police and Crime Commissioner crime 
and disorder reduction, grant to any 
person will secure, or contribute to 
securing, crime and disorder reduction in 
the body's area.  

Police and Crime Plan sets the context 
within which crime and disorder grants will 
be made 
 

Business Co-ordination Board Reports: 
 

 ‘Commissioning and Grants Strategy 2016-20’, 
Agenda Item 12.0, 16th December 2016 

 

 ‘Commissioning and Grants’, Agenda Item 8.0,        
11th May 2017 

 

 ‘Budget 2018/19 and Medium Term Financial Strategy 
2019/20 to 2021/22’, Agenda Item 5.0, 7th August 2017 

 

 ‘The Police and Crime Commissioner’s Youth Fund – 
A New Approach’, Agenda Item 11.0, 11.1 and 11.2, 
7th August 2017 

 

 ‘Developing a countywide partnership response to 
crime and disorder’, Agenda Item 11.0, 12th April 2018 

 

http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/work/business-
coordination-board/ 
 

Police and Crime Panel Report:  
 

 ‘Police and Crime Commissioner’s Police and Crime 
Plan (Community Safety and Criminal Justice) for 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough’, Agenda Item 8.0,  

   1st February 2017 
 

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.as
px?CId=543&Year=0 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Throughout the year as required.   
 
 

72

http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/work/business-coordination-board/
http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/work/business-coordination-board/
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=543&Year=0
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=543&Year=0


 

 

 
 

POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONERS – ESTATES           APPENDIX 4 
UPDATE SINCE LAST POLICE AND CRIME PANEL IN MARCH 2018 AND LIKELY FORTHCOMING DECISIONS  
 
ASSETS SURPLUS TO OPERATIONAL REQUIREMENTS   
 

 

Tenure 
 

Floor Area 
m² 

 

Facilities 
 

Current Use 
 

Current Situation/Update  
 

Timescales 

 

Bridge Street Police Station, Bridge Street, Peterborough PE1 1EQ 
 

Freehold 1,836 Offices  and 
Workshop 

None - vacant The building is on the market for 
revenue opportunities and sale. 
 

Marketing closed 30/06/17.  
The preferred bidder could not 
meet requirements so 
proceeding on a subject to 
planning basis with second 
bidder.  Contracts exchanged 
on 21/12/17 with a 12 month 
longstop period for completion. 
Planning Application has been 
submitted with an expected 
consent in August 2018. 

 

Chord Park Unit C, London Road, Godmanchester PE29 2BQ 
 

Freehold 
 
 

 

375 Offices  None - vacant On the market to lease only. The market for office 
accommodation in Huntingdon 
is still slow with no offers to be 
reported.  

 

Orton Police Station,  Unit 4 Orton Court, Misterton, Peterborough PE2 0SZ 
 

Leasehold 132 Offices  None - vacant Deed of variation being agreed 
to allow sub-letting for 
commercial use.  Marketing to 
continue. 
 

Deed of variation completed in 
February and Lease 
surrendered on 4th April 2018.  
Police no longer have a legal 
interest.  CLOSED  
 

73



 

 

 

Tenure 
 

Floor Area 

m² 

 

Facilities 
 

Current Use 
 

Current Situation/Update  
 

Timescales 

 

Werrington Police Station, 6a Skaters Way, Werrington, Peterborough PE4 6NB 
 

Leasehold 84 Offices  None - vacant Planning permission for change 
of use obtained and lease to be 
returned to Landlord. 
 

Lease surrendered on 14th 
June 2018.  Police no longer 
have a legal interest.  
CLOSED  
 

 
 

74



 

 

 
ASSETS SUBJECT TO OPTIONS ANALYSIS/COLLABORATION – UPDATE SINCE LAST POLICE AND CRIME PANEL  
IN MARCH 2018  
 

 

Tenure 
 

Floor Area 

m² 
 

 

Facilities 
 

Current Use 
 

Issues/Options 
 

Timescale 

 

Copse Court,  Thorpe Wood, Peterborough PE3 6SF 
 

Freehold 3,079 Offices  Operational Planning application submitted for 
additional car parking to support the 
adjacent Police Station.  If acceptable 
income opportunities or sale to be 
considered. 
 

Planning permission 
received 25th July 2017 for 
additional car parking.  
The Police Service Centre 
was relocated in April 
2018 creating surplus 
capacity at Copse Ct.   
Options have been 
considered and a part 
letting is preferred.  No 
partner interest generated 
and informal marketing 
has commenced.  

 
Monks Wood Training Centre, Huntingdon PE28 2LS 
 

Freehold 3,825 Training Centre  Operational Pre-application Planning Advice is 
being obtained for development of 
surplus space for Fire & Rescue 
training. Full planning application to be 
made. 

Positive planning advice 
has been obtained and 
work is now underway on 
a Full Planning 
application.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

75



 

 

 

St Ives Police Station, Norris Road, St Ives, PE27 5QB 
 

Freehold 
 
 
 
 

 

432 Offices  Operational Subject to discussions on shared use 
and redevelopment with Fire & Rescue. 
 

Flood Risk Assessments 
received and planning 
enquiries are underway 
with response expected in 
March 2018.  No further 
action to be undertaken 
and asset retained.  
CLOSED 

 

St Neots Police Station, Dovehouse Close, St Neots PE19 1DS 
 

Freehold 503 Offices  Operational Subject to discussions on shared use 
and redevelopment with Fire & Rescue. 
 

Following outcome of 
Local Policing Review and  
planning pre-app enquiries 
an extension to the Fire 
Station is being explored  
which could be self-funded 
from the disposal of the 
Police Station once 
surplus.  

 

Wisbech Police Station, Nene Parade, Wisbech PE13 3BT 
 

Leasehold 1,112 Enquiry Office, 
Offices 

Operational A combined Fire, Ambulance & Police 
Station is being explored on the Fire 
Station site.  The Police Station is to be 
handed back to the landlord following 
relocation to the Fire Station which is to 
be extended.   

A planning application has 
been submitted on the Fire 
Station.  Redesign 
undertaken due to gas 
main.  Approval is now 
expected in August 2018. 

 

76



CAMBRIDGESHIRE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL Agenda Item No. 11

30 JULY 2018 Public Report

Report of: THE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL SECRETARIAT  

Contact Officer(s) – Jane Webb,   Peterborough City Council
Contact Details – jane.webb@peterborough.gov.uk

RULES OF PROCEDURE/PANEL ARRANGEMENTS

1. PURPOSE

1.1 The purpose of this report is to review the Rules of Procedure, as set out in the appendix to this 
Report, which were adopted by the Police and Crime Panel at its meeting on 7 February 2013 
and updated on 29 June 2016.  The Panel Arrangements, which are set by the Panel itself, also 
need to be reviewed to incorporate a proposed amendment.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 It is recommended that the Panel:

(a) Review the Rules of Procedure as required at paragraph 1.4 of the Rules of Procedure.
(b) Consider the suggested changes at paragraphs 16.2 (c) and 17.6(c) of the Rules of 

Procedure as highlighted in red in Appendix 1 of the report.
(c) Take into consideration the suggested change at paragraph 2.7 of the Panel 

Arrangement as highlighted in red in Appendix 2 of the report.
(d) Confirm and resolve to approve any changes as agreed following discussion.

3. TERMS OF REFERENCE

3.1 The rules of procedure and panel arrangements outline how the Panel will operate.  They can 
also be referred to as the standing orders of the Panel.

4. BACKGROUND

4.1 At the meeting of the Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Panel on 7 February 2013 the Rules of 
Procedure were approved in accordance with Schedule 6, paragraph 25, of the Police Reform 
and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (the ‘Act’).  In accordance with paragraph 1.4 of the Rules of 
Procedure the Panel are required to review the Rules of Procedure annually at the Panel’s Annual 
Meeting.  The Rules of Procedure are attached at Appendix 1 and the Panel Arrangements are 
attached at Appendix 2.

5. KEY ISSUES

The suggested changes to paragraphs 16.2 (c) and 17.6 (c) of the Rules of Procedure and at 2.7 
of the Panel Arrangments will add clarity to the veto process.

6. IMPLICATIONS

6.1 N/A

7. CONSULTATION

7.1 N/A.

77



8. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

8.1 None.

9. APPENDICES

9.1 Rules of Procedure (Appendix 1)
Panel Arrangements (Appendix 2)

78



Appendix 1 Last Updated 4/11/2015

C P
C P
Cambridgeshire Police 

and Crime Panel

Cambridgeshire 
Police and Crime 

Panel  
Rules of Procedure 

79



C P
C P
Cambridgeshire Police 

and Crime Panel

1.0 General 
 
1.1 In this document: 

 the “Panel” is the Police and Crime Panel for the Cambridgeshire Police Force; 
 the “Secretariat” is the financial, administrative, scrutiny and other officer support 

to the Panel; 
 the “Host Authority” is the council which is host to the Secretariat at the relevant 

time; 
 the “PCC” is the Police and Crime Commissioner
 the “Act” is the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011;  
 the “Panel Arrangements Document” is the document which sets out the 

agreement of all 7 Authorities on the overarching framework for how the Panel 
will operate; 

 the “Rules” are the rules as set out in this Rules of Procedure Document. 

1.2  These Rules of Procedure (“the Rules”) are made by the Panel pursuant to Schedule 
6, paragraph 25, of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (the ‘Act’). 

 
1.3 The Police and Crime Panel (‘the Panel’) will be conducted in accordance with the 

Rules. The Rules should be read and considered in conjunction with the Panel 
Arrangements.  

 
1.4 The Rules shall be reviewed annually at the Panel’s Annual Meeting. In the first year 

of operation amendments may be made mid-year to take into account a 
Memorandum of Understanding between the Panel and the newly elected Police and 
Crime Commissioner; and at any time may be updated should regulations require. 

1.5 The Rules shall not be amended unless written notification of the amendment/s 
required are received by the Panel Secretariat not less than fifteen working days 
prior to the Panel meeting. No amendment may be considered by the Panel which 
does not comply with the Act, relevant Regulations or statutory guidance.  

1.6 If there is any conflict in interpretation between these Rules and the Act or 
Regulations made under the Act, the Act and Regulations will prevail. The Monitoring 
Officer of the Host Authority will have the final ruling as to the interpretation of legal 
matters.

 
1.7 Where the Rules do not explicitly address an issue the Standing Orders from the 

Host Authority will apply. 

1.8 All Panel members will be subject to a Member Code of Conduct which for elected 
members will be those of their own Council; co-opted members will be subject to the 
Code of Conduct of the Host Authority provided that the Panel may agree to adopt 
such additional protocols as it thinks fit. 

80



C P
C P
Cambridgeshire Police 

and Crime Panel

2.0 Election of Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson 
 
2.1 The Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson of the Panel shall be elected from amongst 

the members of the Panel. The election will take place annually at the Annual 
Meeting of the Panel, which will normally be held in June of each year.  

2.2 Save for the requirement for re-election; there is no maximum term length for the 
Chairperson or Vice-Chairperson positions. 

2.3 The positions will be elected by those members present at the Annual Meeting by a 
simple majority vote.  

2.4 The Vice-Chairperson will preside in the absence of the Chairperson and, if neither is 
present, the Panel will appoint a Chairperson from among the remaining members 
for the purposes of that meeting.   

 
3.0 Resignation and removal of the Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson 
 
3.1 The Chairperson and/or Vice Chairperson may be removed by a vote of no 

confidence by a simple majority vote at a formal meeting of the Panel.   

3.2 In the event of the resignation or removal of the Chairperson or Vice-Chairperson an 
election for the position will be held at the next meeting of the Panel.  

 
4.0  Panel Meetings 
 
4.1 The Panel will hold at least four Ordinary Meetings per year to carry out its functions. 

4.2 The date, time and venue of each Ordinary Meeting shall be determined and 
published on the Panel’s website at least 10 working days in advance, unless the 
Chairperson or, in his/her absence, the Vice-Chairperson agrees that there are 
special reasons for an urgent meeting in which case the notice period may be 
shorter.  Ordinary Meetings will not be held in April or May. The calendar of meetings 
will normally be agreed by the Panel at its Annual Meeting. 

4.3 Extraordinary Meetings may also be called by the Chairperson or by any four 
members of the Panel or by the Monitoring Officer of the Host Authority.

4.4 The date, time and venue of an Extraordinary Meeting must be published on the 
Panel’s website, and all Panel members notified at least ten working days before an 
Extraordinary Meeting, unless the Chairperson or, in his/her absence, the Vice-
Chairperson agrees that there are special reasons for an urgent meeting in which 
case the notice period may be shorter.

4.5 Any request for an Extraordinary Meeting of the Panel must specify the particular 
item of business for which the Extraordinary Meeting is to be called. 

4.6 The Panel will determine the location and timing of its meetings, bearing in mind the 
principle that meetings should be rotated across the Cambridgeshire area.  

81



C P
C P
Cambridgeshire Police 

and Crime Panel

4.7 Ordinary Meetings will take place in accordance with a work programme agreed by 
the Panel, and will start at the time decided by the Panel. The maximum length of a 
meeting shall normally be three hours, however meetings would normally be 
expected to last no longer than two hours.   

4.8 The agenda to be followed at Ordinary Meetings will be as follows: 

1. to receive apologies for absence; 
2. to receive any declarations of interest from members; 
3. to approve the minutes of the last meeting;  
4. to receive the minutes of Sub-Committees and Task Groups and any 

reports submitted to the Panel by those Sub-Committees and Task 
Groups; and 

5. to receive any questions, statements or petitions from members of the 
public in accordance with paragraph 7;

6. to consider written and verbal reports from officers and Panel members; 
and 

7. to consider items requested by members in accordance with paragraph 
4.12.

4.9 The only business to be conducted at an Extraordinary Meeting of the Panel will be: 

a) to choose a person to preside if the Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson are 
absent or otherwise unable to preside:

b) to consider the matter specified in the request to call an Extraordinary
Meeting;

c) to receive any questions, statements or petitions from members of the public 
in accordance with paragraph 7 which must relate to the matter of business 
specified in the request to call the Extraordinary Meeting;

d)  no other business may be conducted at the meeting unless the Panel   
otherwise resolve. 

4.10 The Panel Agenda, and accompanying papers, will normally be issued to Panel 
members at least 5 working days before the meeting. It will also be published on the 
Panel’s website and by sending copies to each Panel member, and publicised by 
any other means the Panel considers appropriate. Papers will normally be sent by 
email.  

4.11 The Secretariat will endeavour to co-ordinate the circulation of papers as early as 
possible to enable members to have as much time as possible to consider the issues 
before the meeting.  

The scheduling of ad-hoc agenda items  

4.12 Any member of the Panel shall be entitled to give notice to the Secretariat that he or 
she wishes an item relevant to the functions of the Panel to be included on the 
agenda following the existing scheduled items of business. Items will normally be 
considered at the next Ordinary Meeting of the Panel, providing that the following 

82



C P
C P
Cambridgeshire Police 

and Crime Panel

conditions apply: 

a) At least 15 working days written notice is given to the Secretariat (The Police 
and Crime Commissioner (PCC) is required to be given 10 working days 
notice therefore this timing allows for discussions prior to this).  

b) The item must be relevant to the remit of the Panel, as set out in the Panel 
Arrangements Document. 

c) The item must not have been already considered within the last six months by 
the Panel.  

4.13 In the event of a dispute on whether the conditions listed above apply, the Monitoring 
Officer of the Host Authority will advise the Chairperson and Panel. The 
Chairperson’s decision shall be final.  

4.14 Where the conditions above apply and the agenda item is discussed, the Panel may 
consider at this point whether any further action is needed in terms of further agenda 
time; investigation outside of the meeting; or a written response or information from 
the PCC.  

5.0 Quorum   
  
5.1 A meeting of the Panel cannot take place unless at least one third of the 

membership of the Panel is present.  
 
6.0 Voting 
 
6.1 Unless agreed by consensus, a decision is taken by a majority of those present and 

voting.  

6.2 Voting is generally by a show of hands unless a named vote is called for by a 
member of the Panel.  

6.3 If a Panel member arrives at the meeting before the casting of votes on any item has 
been commenced he/she is entitled to vote on that item. 

6.4 Immediately after a vote is taken any Panel member may ask for it to be recorded in 
the minutes that he/she voted for or against the question, or that he/she abstained. 

6.5 The Chairperson of the Panel, or other person presiding, shall have a second and/or 
casting vote where votes for and against a proposal are equal. There shall be no 
restriction on the manner in which the casting vote is exercised. 

7.0  Public Participation 
 
7.1 Members of the public may attend all public meetings subject only to the exceptions 

in the Access to Information Standing Orders attached at Annex A.

83



C P
C P
Cambridgeshire Police 

and Crime Panel

7.2 The Police and Crime Panel may also invite other people to address it, discuss 
issues of local concern and/or answer questions. It may, for example, wish to hear 
from residents, stakeholders, councillors who are not members of the panel and 
officers in other parts of the public sector and may invite such people to attend.

7.3 Part of the order of business at public meetings shall be designated for community 
involvement. The time allowed for this section of the meeting shall be up to 30 
minutes.  During this part of the meeting there shall be provision for:

 Questions and statements from the public; and
 The receipt of petitions.

7.4 At an Ordinary meeting, questions and statements need not relate to an item on the 
agenda.  At an Extraordinary Meeting only questions and statements that relate to 
the principle agenda item shall be admitted as stated in standing order 4.9

Questions and Statements

7.5 A member of the public (Questioner) wishing to ask a question or make a statement 
at a public meeting of the Panel must submit his/her question or statement   in 
writing, by facsimile transmission or by electronic mail to the Secretariat  in advance 
of the meeting.  To guarantee acceptance (subject to paragraphs 7.9 and 7.10), the 
Questioner’s submission must be received by the Secretariat not later than 12 noon, 
three working days before the meeting date. Submissions received after the deadline 
may be accepted at the discretion of the Chairperson.

7.6 Each question or statement must give the name and address of the Questioner.  All 
questions and statements to be addressed to the Chairperson.

7.7 The Secretariat shall circulate copies of all questions and statements to Panel 
members in advance of the meeting.

7.8 Questions and statements from the Public shall be taken at the beginning of the 
meeting.  The Chairperson shall determine the order in which questions or 
statements are put to the Panel.

7.9 If the Chairperson decides that a matter is urgent he or she can allow a question or 
statement without having received notice, as at paragraph 7.5, provided a copy of 
the question or statement is delivered to the Secretariat not later than:
(a) 10am on the day of the meeting for meetings held in the afternoon;
(b) 4pm on the (working) day before the meeting for meetings held in the morning.

In such circumstances, the Chairperson shall have discretion as to the order in which 
it is presented to the meeting.  

7.10 No person may submit more than two questions or statements to a Panel meeting 
and no more than two such questions or statements may be asked on behalf of one 
organisation.

84



C P
C P
Cambridgeshire Police 

and Crime Panel

7.11 If the Secretariat considers that a question or statement is:

(a) not about a matter for which the Panel has a responsibility;
(b) not a matter for the Commissioner;
(c) illegal, improper, irregular, frivolous or offensive; 
(d) substantially the same as a question or statement which has been put at a 

meeting of the Panel in the previous six months; or
(e) requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information;

The Secretariat shall inform the Chairperson who will then decide whether or not to 
accept the question or statement to be put.  If the Chairperson decides not to 
accept a question or statement his or her reasons will be recorded in the minutes of 
the meeting and will not be open to debate.  

7.12 The Secretariat may edit any question or statement provided the person asking the 
question or statement is consulted about any alteration. 

7.13 The Secretariat will enter each question or statement received in a book open to 
public inspection and will within two working days send a copy to the Panel or the 
nominated respondent.  In addition, a copy of all questions, statements and 
responses will be published on the Panel’s website and added as an annex to the 
meeting’s minutes.

7.14 Two minutes are allowed to the Questioner to read or explain each submitted 
question or statement.

7.15 If a questioner who has submitted a written question or statement is unable to be 
present at a Panel meeting, the Panel shall provide a written response.  Where 
possible, the written response will be available for public inspection at the meeting.  
However, where this is not possible, a written response will be sent to the questioner 
within ten days of the meeting. 

7.16 A questioner who has put a question or made a statement in person may also put 
one supplementary question without notice to the member who has replied to his or 
her original question or statement. A supplementary question must arise directly out 
of the original question, statement or the reply and be directed to clarifying the reply. 
The Chairperson may reject a supplementary question on any of the grounds in 
paragraph 7.11 above. One minute is allowed for putting a supplementary question.

7.17 An answer can take any of the following forms:

(a) a direct oral answer;
(b) a reference to a publicly available document if it answers the question;
(c) if it would not be practicable or appropriate to answer a question orally the 

member will supply a written answer to the questioner within 10 days.

7.18 The person asked the question may refuse to answer but must give his or her 
reasons for doing so. 

85



C P
C P
Cambridgeshire Police 

and Crime Panel

7.19 Any questions not fully answered at the end of the allotted period will be answered in 
writing within ten days and published on the Panel’s website.

Petitions

7.20 Members and residents can present petitions.

7.21 Every petition must be polite and must be relevant to the responsibilities of Panel.

7.22 The petitioner must say what the petition is about without commenting;
 
7.23 Petitions must contain at least 3 signatures.  To present a petition, the Secretariat 

must receive written notice and the wording of the petition no later than 4 pm on the 
day before the meeting.  No more than two people must present the petition and say 
what it is about, without commenting.  It will be referred to the Secretariat for 
consideration. 

7.24    There will be no debate about a petition when it is presented.

7.25    A report to the Panel about the action taken on the petition will be made no later than   
the second Ordinary Meeting of the Panel following the meeting when the petition 
was presented.

General Participation

7.26 Any further involvement from the public at the meetings of the Panel will be at the 
discretion of the Chairperson, including involvement in any debate and the asking of 
questions or making statements, without prior notice, during the debate on items on 
the agenda.

7.27 Members of the public are entitled to record the meetings of the Panel using audio 
and visual recording equipment.  If the Chairperson feels that the recording is 
obstructing, disturbing or disrupting the proceedings of the meeting, the recording 
must cease.

 
8.0  Work Programme 
  
8.1 The Panel will be responsible for setting its work programme. In doing so it shall 

have regard to:  
 

a) the requirement to undertake the functions and responsibilities of the Panel as 
set out in the Act including consideration of the necessary timings to meet its 
legal responsibilities; 

b) the priorities defined by the PCC;  
c)  the views of the public on Police and Crime matters; 
d) the views of key partners, including Probation, Health, Community Safety 

Partnerships; and relevant county, district council or town or parish councils
e)  the views of its members and advisers; and  
 f) the resources available to support the delivery of the work programme. 

86



C P
C P
Cambridgeshire Police 

and Crime Panel

Suggestions from Members of the Public for items of Scrutiny by the Panel

8.2 Members of the public may submit suggestions for items of scrutiny to the Panel in 
writing by letter, facsimile transmission or by electronic mail to the Secretariat not 
later than 12 noon, five working days before the day of the Panel meeting (not 
including the day of the meeting itself).  Each suggestion must give the name and 
address of the person submitting the suggestion.  The suggested item for scrutiny 
will be considered at the next meeting of the Panel under the item on the Agenda 
called “Meeting Dates and Agenda Plan”.

9.0 Sub-Committees  
 
9.1 The Panel may set up Sub-Committees to undertake specified functions of the 

Panel. The role of Sub-Committees is to carry out delegated Panel functions, 
excluding those functions that are not able to be delegated under the Act.  Sub-
Committees may formally take decisions as delegated to them by the Panel.   

9.2 The work to be undertaken by a Sub-Committee will be agreed by the Panel. In 
commissioning the work the Panel will agree as part of the scoping document the 
following: 

a) terms of reference and delegations; 
b) purpose/objectives; 
c) resources;  
d) timescales for completing the work and reporting back;
e) membership  

9.3 The Panel shall appoint Sub-Committees. The Chairperson of the Panel may make a 
recommendation to the Panel on membership. 

9.4 The maximum size of a Sub-Committee shall be seven members. The minimum size 
is three members. Size shall be determined on a case-by-case basis at the point that 
the review is commissioned.  

9.5 The membership of Sub-Committees shall be confined to members of the Panel. 

9.6 In determining the membership of a Sub-Committee the Panel shall give, so far as 
practicable, consideration to the duties in the Act to consider political balance; 
geographical balance; and the skills and expertise of members. 

9.7 Sub-Committee meetings shall be minuted.  The minutes shall be published on the 
Panel’s website and presented at the next meeting of the Panel. 

10.0  Task Groups 
 
10.1 The role of Task Groups is to undertake time-limited investigations into particular 

issues, such as a scrutiny topic review. They are informal working groups, and as 
such have no decision-making power. Task Groups will report back upon the 

87



C P
C P
Cambridgeshire Police 

and Crime Panel

completion of their work with a report and recommendations to the Panel.  

10.2 The work to be undertaken by a Task Group will be agreed by the Panel. In 
commissioning the work the Panel will agree as part of the scoping document the 
following: 

a) terms of reference; 
b) purpose/objectives; 
c) approach to gathering evidence; 
d) resources to support the review; 
e) timescales for completing the work and reporting back; and 
f) membership.  

10.3 The Panel will appoint Task Groups. The Chairperson of the Panel may make a 
recommendation to the Panel on the membership. 

10.4 The maximum size of a Task Group shall be agreed by the Panel at the point that 
the review is commissioned. The minimum size is three members.  

10.5 The Panel shall appoint a Chairperson of the Task Group from within the 
membership of the Panel. The Chairperson of the Panel may make a 
recommendation on whom to appoint. 

10.6 The composition of a Task Group will be determined by the role it is to perform. 
Whilst issues of political and geographical balance may be taken into account, to 
help the effectiveness of the group consideration may also be given to: 

a) skills and expertise 
b) availability of members to undertake the work 
c) interest and commitment  
d)  Local knowledge

10.7 The Panel may choose to co-opt non-Panel members onto a Task Group if it is 
considered that they possess skills, expertise, or a perspective which will assist the 
Group in its work. Co-opted members on a Task Group are non-voting members of 
the Group. 

10.8 The following eligibility rules will apply to non-voting co-opted members of Task 
Groups: 

a) must live and/or work in the Cambridgeshire Police Force area; and 
b) must be able to provide expertise/layperson’s perspective to assist the group 

in carrying out its scrutiny function. 
 

11.0 Panel Reports and Recommendations—General  
 
11.1 Where the Panel makes a report to the PCC, the PCC will publish the report or 

recommendations on its website, except where the information is exempt or 
confidential as defined in the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended).  

88



C P
C P
Cambridgeshire Police 

and Crime Panel

11.2 The Panel may require the PCC within 20 working days (or within such other period 
as is indicated in these Rules) of the date on which s/he receives the Panel’s report 
or recommendations to: 

a) consider the report or recommendations;  
b) respond to the Panel indicating what (if any) action the PCC proposes to take;  
c) publish the response from the PCC where the Panel has published the report or 

recommendations.  

11.3 The Panel will formally make requests to the PCC or issue other statements by way 
of reports and recommendations. As the Panel is a scrutiny body, rather than an 
executive decision-making committee, motions or resolutions will not be considered 
by the Panel.  

Procedure for Agreeing Reports and Recommendations 

11.4 Recommendations to the PCC from the Panel will be made as an outcome of a 
scrutiny review or as a result of an agenda item discussion.  

11.5 As a cross-party scrutiny committee, reports and recommendations to the PCC 
should normally be agreed by consensus rather than a formal vote. Where this is not 
possible a vote may be taken, under the voting procedure outlined above. This 
includes the option of a Panel member requesting that a named vote is taken at the 
meeting to ensure that views are minuted.  

Minority Reporting 

11.6 In exceptional circumstances, one minority report in relation to a report prepared by 
a Task Groups may be prepared and submitted for consideration with the majority 
report to the PCC. Where a member or members wish to submit a minority report the 
Chairperson of the Panel and Secretariat should be notified as soon as possible in 
advance of the Panel meeting, normally 10 working days notice should be given 
depending on the timing of the Task Group’s consideration of its majority report.  

11.7 The PCC’s responsibilities and remit relate to the Committee as a whole, therefore 
the PCC will respond to the Committee as a whole and not to individual members of 
the Panel. This means that for the purposes of communication to the public, 
stakeholders and the PCC the majority report represents the viewpoint of the Panel. 
The PCC will be required only to respond to the majority report.  

 
12.0 PCC and others giving account 
 
12.1 The presumption will be that the PCC will be required to attend all formal Police and 

Crime Panel meetings (Ordinary and Extraordinary) to answer questions which may 
be necessary to assist the Panel in discharging its functions, unless the Panel 
decides that this is not necessary and informs the PCC that he/she will not be 
required. 

89



C P
C P
Cambridgeshire Police 

and Crime Panel

12.2 The PCC shall be notified by the Secretariat of the Panel of the Annual Work 
Programme of the Panel, including meeting dates.

12.3 In setting the Annual Work Programme the Panel should identify and consider where 
possible what papers will be required, and if any supporting staff from the 
Secretariat, Police or otherwise are likely to be needed in addition to the PCC, in 
order to give as much notice as possible.  

12.4 Where a new agenda item is scheduled for a meeting that is not included within the 
work programme and the PCC (and staff/or Chief Constable) is required to attend, 
the Secretariat will inform the relevant persons of the nature of the agenda item and 
any written information that is required as soon as possible. 

12.5 At least 15 working days notice will be given of the new agenda item to the PCC and 
any requirement to provide written information (owing to the access of information 
requirements this equates to 10 working days notice for the provision of written 
information).

12.6 In exceptional circumstances, and where there is agreement between the PCC and 
Chairperson of the Panel, shorter notice may be required for either attendance or 
papers.   

12.7 If the Panel requires the PCC to attend before the Panel, the Panel may also request 
the Chief Constable to attend on the same occasion to answer any questions which 
appear to the Panel to be necessary in order for it to carry out its functions.  

12.8 In undertaking its functions, the Panel may invite persons other than those referred 
to above to attend Panel meetings, to address the meeting, discuss issues of local 
concern and/or answer questions. This may, for example and not exclusively, include 
residents, stakeholders, Council members who are not members of the Panel and 
officers from other parts of the public sector. 

12.9 The Secretariat shall publish on the Panel’s website any written responses from the 
PCC to matters raised at meetings of the Panel.

13.0 Special Functions  
 
13.1 The Special Functions of the Panel, as set out in the Panel Arrangements, are those 

functions which are conferred on the Panel in relation to: 
 

a)  the review of the Police and Crime Plan as required by Section 28(3) of the Act;  
b)  the review of the Annual Report as required by Section 28 (4) of the Act;  
c)  the review of senior appointments in accordance with Paragraphs 10 and 11 of 

Schedule 1 of the Act;  
d)  the review and potential veto of the proposed precept in accordance with 

Schedule 5 of the Act;  
e)  the review and potential veto of appointment of the Chief Constable in 

accordance with Part 1 the Act.  
 

90



C P
C P
Cambridgeshire Police 

and Crime Panel

14.0 Police and Crime Plan 
 
14.1 The Panel is a statutory consultee on the development of the PCC’s Police and 

Crime Plan and will receive a copy of the draft Police and Crime Plan, or a draft of 
any variation to it, from the PCC.  

 
14.2 The Panel will:  
 

a) hold a meeting to review the draft Police and Crime Plan (or a variation to it); and 
b) report or make recommendations on the draft Plan which the PCC must take into 

account. 
 
15.0    Annual Report 
 
15.1 The PCC must publish an Annual Report about the exercise of his/her functions in 

the financial year and progress in meeting police and crime objectives in the year. 
The report must be sent to the Panel for consideration. 

 
15.2 The Panel must comment upon the Annual Report of the PCC, and for that purpose 

must: 

a) arrange for a meeting of the Panel to be held as soon as practicable after the 
Panel receives the Annual Report; 

b) require the PCC to attend the meeting to present the Annual Report and answer 
such questions about the Annual Report as the Panel think appropriate; 

c) make a report and/or recommendations on the Annual Report to the PCC. 
 
16.0 Proposed precept  
           
16.1 The Panel will receive notification from the PCC of the precept that s/he are 

proposing to issue for the coming financial year. The Panel will arrange for a meeting 
of the Panel to be held as soon as practicable after the Panel receives the proposed 
precept and make a report including recommendations. 

 
16.2 Having considered the precept, the Panel will either:  

a)  support the precept without qualification or comment; or  
b)  support the precept and make recommendations; or 
c)  veto the proposed precept (by the required majority of at least two thirds of the 

persons who are members of the Panel, not just those present, at the time when 
the decision is made).  

16.3 If the Panel vetoes the proposed precept, the report to the PCC must include a 
statement that the panel has vetoed the proposed precept and give reasons for that 
decision. The Panel will require a response from the PCC within seven days to the 
report and any such recommendations.  

91



C P
C P
Cambridgeshire Police 

and Crime Panel

17.0  Senior Appointments 
 
17.1 The Panel must review the proposed appointment by the PCC of the Chief 

Constable, Chief Executive, Chief Finance Officer and Deputy Police and Crime 
PCC.  

 
17.2 The Panel will receive notification of the proposed appointment from the PCC, which 

will include: 

a) the name of the candidate; 
b) the criteria used to assess suitability of the candidate;  
c) why the candidate satisfies the criteria; and  
d) the terms and conditions proposed for the appointment. 

17.3 The Panel must hold a confirmation hearing for all proposed senior appointments as 
outlined in 17.1 within 15 working days of receipt of notification by the PCC. It must 
also report to the PCC at the same time with its recommendations. The 15 working 
days will not include the relevant post-election period. The relevant post-election 
period means the period that:

a) Begins with the day of the poll at an ordinary election of a police and crime 
commissioner under section 50 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility 
Act 2011, and

b) Ends with the day on which the person elected as Police and Crime 
Commissioner delivers a declaration of acceptance of office under section 70 of 
the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011.

17.4 The confirmation hearings will be held in public and the candidates will be 
questioned in relation to their appointment. Candidates must attend, either in person 
or by video link.  After questioning the candidate, the Panel in accordance with 
schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, will go into private session in order 
to determine its recommendations regarding the candidate’s appointment.

17.5 Following the hearing, the Panel will make a report of its recommendations to the 
PCC on the proposed appointment. The PCC must respond in writing within 20 
working days of receipt of the Panel’s report confirming whether the 
recommendation has been accepted or not.   

17.6 In relation to the proposed appointment of the Chief Constable, the Panel is required 
to make recommendations to the PCC and has the power to veto the appointment. 
Following the hearing, the Panel will be asked to: 

a) support the appointment without qualification or comment; 
b) support the appointment with associated   recommendations, or  
c) veto the appointment of the Chief Constable (a two thirds majority is required, not 

just of  those members present, at the time when the decision is made.) (This may 
be subject to change following Home Office Regulations)

92



C P
C P
Cambridgeshire Police 

and Crime Panel

17.7 If the Panel vetoes an appointment, it must set out its reasons for doing so in a 
report to the PCC and the PCC must not then appoint that candidate as Chief 
Constable. 

18.0 Suspension of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
 
18.1 The Panel may suspend the PCC if it appears to the Panel that: 
  

 a)  the PCC is charged in the United Kingdom, the Channel Islands or the Isle of 
Man with an offence; and   

 b)  the offence is one which carries a maximum term of imprisonment exceeding two 
years.  

18.2 This decision will be taken at a formal Panel meeting via a majority vote. 

18.3 The suspension of the PCC ceases to have effect upon the occurrence of the 
earliest of these events: 

 
  a) the charge being dropped;  
 b) the PCC being acquitted of the offence; 

c) the PCC being convicted of the offence but not being disqualified under Section 
66 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 by virtue of the 
conviction; or  

d) the termination of the suspension by the Police and Crime Panel.  
 
18.4 In this section references to an offence which carries a maximum term of 

imprisonment exceeding two years are references to:  
 

 a)  an offence which carries such a maximum term in the case of a person who has 
attained the age of 18 years, or  

 b)  an offence for which, in the case of such a person, the sentence is fixed by law 
as life imprisonment. 

 
19.0 Suspension and Removal of the Chief Constable 
 
19.1 The Panel will receive notification if the PCC suspends the Chief Constable.  

19.2 The PCC must also notify the Panel in writing of his/her proposal to call upon the 
Chief Constable to retire or resign together with a copy of the reasons given to the 
Chief Constable in relation to that proposal. 

19.3 The PCC must provide the Panel with a copy of any representations from the Chief 
Constable about the proposal to call for his/her resignation or retirement. 

19.4 If the PCC is still proposing to call upon the Chief Constable to resign, she/he must 
notify the Panel accordingly (the ‘further notification’). 

93



C P
C P
Cambridgeshire Police 

and Crime Panel

19.5 Within 30 days from the date of receiving the further notification the Panel must 
make a recommendation in writing to the PCC as to whether or not s/he should call 
for the retirement or resignation. Before making any recommendation the Panel may 
consult the Chief Inspector of Constabulary, and must hold a Scrutiny hearing. 

19.6 The Scrutiny hearing which must be held by the Panel is a Panel meeting in private 
to which the PCC and Chief Constable are entitled to attend to make representations 
in relation to the proposal to call upon the Chief Constable to retire or resign. 
Appearance at the Scrutiny hearing can be by attending in person or video link.  

19.7 The PCC may not call upon the Chief Constable to retire or resign until the end of 
the scrutiny process which will occur: 

(a) at the end of 30 days from the Panel having received notification if the Panel 
has not by then given the PCC a recommendation as to whether or not 
she/he should call for the retirement or resignation; or 

 
(b) when the PCC notifies the Panel of a decision about whether she/he accepts 

the Panel’s recommendations in relation to resignation or retirement. 
 
19.8 The PCC must consider the Panel’s recommendation and may accept or reject it, 

notifying the Panel accordingly.   
 
20.0 Appointment of an Acting Police and Crime Commissioner 

20.1 The Panel must meet to appoint a person to be acting PCC within 15 working days 
if:  

 
a)  no person holds the office of PCC;  
b)  the PCC is incapacitated (i.e. unable to fulfil the functions of PCC) which is a 

matter for the Panel to determine; or  
c)  the PCC is suspended.  

 
20.2 In the event that the Panel has to appoint an Acting PCC it will meet to determine the 

process for appointment which will comply with these Rules of Procedure and any 
legal requirements. 

20.3 The Panel may appoint a person as Acting PCC only if the person is a member of 
the PCC’s staff at the time of the appointment.  

20.4 In appointing a person as Acting PCC in a case where the PCC is incapacitated, the 
Panel must have regard to any representations made by the PCC in relation to the 
appointment.  

20.5 The appointment of an Acting PCC will cease to have effect upon the earliest of the 
following:  

 a)  the election of a person as PCC;  
b)    the termination by the Panel, or by the Acting PCC, of the appointment of the 

94



C P
C P
Cambridgeshire Police 

and Crime Panel

Acting PCC;  
c) where the Acting PCC is appointed because the PCC is incapacitated, the 

PCC ceases to be incapacitated; or 
d)  where the Acting PCC is appointed because the PCC is suspended, the PCC 

ceases to be suspended. 
 
20.6 Where the Acting PCC is appointed because the PCC is incapacitated or 

suspended, the Acting PCC’s appointment does not terminate because a vacancy 
occurs in the office of PCC. 

21.0   Complaints 
 
21.1 Complaints which involve allegations which may amount to a criminal offence by the 

PCC or senior office holders are dealt with by the Independent Police Complaints 
Commission (the ‘IPCC’).  

21.2 The Panel may however be involved in the informal resolution of certain other 
complaints against the PCC and Deputy PCC, where they are not being investigated 
by the IPCC or cease to be investigated by the IPCC.  

21.3 The Panel shall have a complaints procedure for complaint handling that shall be set 
out in a protocol.  

 22.0 Further Guidelines/Protocols 

22.1 The Panel may agree further guidelines/protocols to assist it in carrying out its 
business so long as these are in accordance with the Rules of Procedure, Panel 
Arrangements and legal requirements. Further guidance and protocols may cover: 

a)  Memoranda of Understanding between the PCC and Panel. 
b)  Communications Protocols (including media handling).  
c)  Public Involvement.   
d)  Complaints Procedure.  
e)  PCP and Local Scrutiny Committees’ Protocol.

95



C P
C P
Cambridgeshire Police 

and Crime Panel

 ANNEX A: ACCESS TO INFORMATION STANDING ORDERS  
 
1.0 SCOPE 
 
1.1 These standing orders apply to all formal meetings of the Police and Crime Panel. 

1.2 These rules do not affect any additional rights to information contained elsewhere in 
this constitution or granted by law. 

 2.0 RIGHTS TO ATTEND MEETINGS 
 
2.1 Members of the public may attend all meetings, subject only to the exceptions in 

these standing orders. 
 
3.0 NOTICES OF MEETING 
 
3.1 The Secretariat will give at least ten clear days notice of any meeting by posting 

details of the meeting at the principal offices of the Host Authority and on the 
Internet. 

 
4.0 ACCESS TO AGENDA AND REPORTS BEFORE THE MEETING 
 
4.1 The Secretariat will make copies of the agenda and reports open to the public 

available for inspection at the designated offices at least five clear days before the 
meeting. If an item is added to the agenda later, the Monitoring Officer of the Host 
Authority shall make each report available to the public as soon as the report is 
completed and sent to members, and will ensure that it will be open to inspection 
from the time the item was added to the supplementary agenda. 

 
5.0 SUPPLY OF COPIES 
 
5.1 The Secretariat will supply hard copies of: 

a)  any agenda and reports which are open to public inspection; 
b)  any further statements or particulars necessary to indicate the nature of the 

items in the agenda; and 
c) if the Monitoring Officer of the Host Authority thinks fit, copies of any other 

documents supplied to members in connection with an item to any person on 
payment of a charge for postage and any other costs under the Host Authority’s  
Charging Policy. Under the Freedom of Information Act, information would be 
supplied free until these costs go over the threshold of £450, when a charge 
would be levied. 

 
6.0 ACCESS TO MINUTES ETC AFTER THE MEETING
 
6.1 The Secretariat will make available hard copies of the following for six years after a 

meeting: 
 

a) the minutes of the meeting, or, where appropriate, records of decisions taken, 

96



C P
C P
Cambridgeshire Police 

and Crime Panel

together with reasons, for all meetings of the Panel, excluding any part of the 
minutes of proceedings when the meeting was not open to the public or which 
disclose exempt or confidential information; 

b) a summary of any proceedings not open to the public where the minutes open to 
inspection would not provide a reasonably fair and coherent record; 

c) the agenda for the meeting; and 
d) reports relating to items when the meeting was open to the public. 

 
7.0 BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
7.1 List of background papers: Reports will include a list (prepared by the Secretariat) of 

those documents (called background papers) relating to the subject matter of the 
report which in their opinion disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an 
important part of the report is based; and which have been relied on to a material 
extent in preparing the report but does not include published works or those which 
disclose exempt or confidential information. 

 
7.2 Public inspection of background papers: The Council will make available for public 

inspection via its website for six years after the date of the meeting one copy of each 
of the documents on the list of background papers.

7.3 Use of media technology at Panel Meetings: At the discretion of the Chairperson of 
the Panel recording of meetings and use of media technology will be permitted 
provided that it does not release information that the Secretariat has identified as 
being confidential under the Access to Information Regulations. 

7.4 The Secretariat supports the use of networking sites to disseminate information 
during their meetings, provided that confidential information as outlined above is not 
deliberately or inadvertently disclosed. 

 
8.0 SUMMARY OF THE PUBLIC’S RIGHTS 
 
8.1 A written summary of the public’s rights to attend meetings and to inspect and copy 

documents is available for inspection at the Principal Offices of the Host Authority.  
 
9.0 EXCLUSION OF ACCESS BY THE PUBLIC TO MEETINGS 

Confidential or Exempt information – requirement to exclude public 

9.1 The public must be excluded from an item at a meeting whenever it is likely to be 
confidential in view of the nature of the business. 

9.2 Meaning of confidential information: Confidential information means information 
given to the Panel by a Government Department on terms which forbid its public 
disclosure or information which cannot be publicly disclosed by reason of a Court 
Order or any enactment. 

9.3 The public may be excluded from an item at a meeting whenever it is likely in view of 
the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that 
exempt information would be disclosed. 

97



C P
C P
Cambridgeshire Police 

and Crime Panel

 
9.4 Meaning of exempt information: Subject to the test of the Public Interest set out 

below, information is exempt information where it falls within any of the following 
categories: 

 1  Information relating to an individual. 

2  Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 

3  Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the public authority holding the information), except where the 
information is required to be registered under certain prescribed statutes including 
the Companies Act 1985 and the Charities Act 1993.“Financial or business affairs” 
includes contemplated, as well as past or current activities. 

4  Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated 
consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter 
arising between the Authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or 
office holders under, the Authority. “Labour relations matter” means any matter 
which may be the subject of a trade dispute, or any dispute about any such matter 
(i.e. a matter specified in paragraphs (a) to (g) of section 218(1) of the Trade 
Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992.)

5  Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be 
maintained in legal proceedings. 

6  Information which reveals that the Authority proposes: 
a) to give under any enactment a notice, under which or by virtue of which 

requirements are to be imposed on a person; or 
b) to make an order or direction under any enactment. 

7  Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the 
prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime. 

 
9.5 Public interest test: Information falling within any of categories 1-7 set out above, 

which is not prevented from being exempt because it falls within category 3, and is 
required to be registered under the prescribed enactments is exempt information if, 
and so long as, in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining 
the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 

 
10.0 EXCLUSION OF ACCESS BY THE PUBLIC TO REPORTS 
 
10.1 The Monitoring Officer of the Host Authority may exclude access by the public to a 

report which, in his or her opinion, relates to an item during which, in accordance 
with this Access to Information Standing Order, the meeting is likely not to be open 
to the public; or, as the case may be, was not open to the public. Such reports will be 
marked “Not for publication”, together with the category of information likely to be 
disclosed. 

 

98



C P
C P
Cambridgeshire Police 

and Crime Panel

11.0 RECORD OF DECISIONS 
 
11.1 After any formal meeting of the Panel, the Secretariat will produce a record of every 

decision taken at that meeting as soon as practicable. The record will include a 
statement of the reasons for each decision and, where appropriate, any alternative 
options considered and rejected at that meeting. All such decisions will be recorded 
in the Panel’s minutes and published accordingly.

 

99



This page is intentionally left blank

100



CAMBRIDGESHIRE  POLICE AND CRIME PANEL - PANEL ARRANGEMENTS

This Agreement is dated the                       day of  July  2012

The Agreement is made between the following:

1.          Cambridge City Council

2.          Cambridgeshire County Council

3.          East Cambridgeshire District Council

4.          Fenland District Council

5.          Huntingdonshire District Council

6.          Peterborough City Council

7.          South Cambridgeshire District Council

In this Agreement the above Councils are referred to together as ‘the Authorities’. 

Interpretation:

“ Act”
means the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011

“Host Authority”
means Peterborough City Council

“Lead Authority”
means Cambridgeshire County Council

“Panel”
means the Police and Crime Panel

“Panel Arrangements”
means the arrangements set out in this Agreement

“PCC”
means the Police and Crime Commissioner”

101



1. 0      Background

1. 1      The Act introduces new structural arrangements for national policing, strategic 
police decision making, neighbourhood policing and police accountability.

1. 2      The Act provides for the election of a PCC for a police force area, responsible for 
securing an efficient and effective police force for their area, producing a police 
and crime plan, recruiting the Chief Constable for an area, and holding him/her 
to account, publishing certain information including an annual report, setting the 
force budget and police precept and requiring the Chief Constable to prepare 
reports on police matters.  The PCC must co-operate with local community safety 
partners and criminal justice bodies.

1. 3      The Act requires the local authorities in each police force area to establish and 
maintain  a  Panel  for  its  police  force  area.     It  is  the  responsibility  of  the 
Authorities for the police force area to make Panel Arrangements.

1. 4      Cambridgeshire is a multi authority police force area.   The Authorities, as the 
relevant local authorities within the area must agree to the making and modification 
of the Panel Arrangements.

1. 5      Each  Authority  and  each  Member  of  the  Panel  must  comply  with  the  Panel
Arrangements.

1. 6      The functions of the Panel (to be known as the Cambridgeshire Police and Crime 
Panel) must be exercised with a view to supporting the effective exercise of the 
functions of the PCC for that police force area.

1. 7      The  Panel  must  have  regard  to  the  Policing  Protocol  issued  by  the  Home 
Secretary, which sets out the ways in which the Home Secretary, the PCC, the 
Chief  Constable  and  the  Panel  should  exercise,  or  refrain  from  exercising, 
functions  so  as  to  encourage,   maintain   or  improve  working  relationships 
(including  co-operative   working);  and  limit  or  prevent  the  overlapping   or 
conflicting exercise of functions.

1. 8      The  Panel  is  a scrutiny  body  with  responsibility  for  scrutinising  the  PCC  and 
promoting  openness  in  the transaction  of  police  business  in the police  force 
area.

1. 9      The Panel is a joint committee of the Authorities.

1. 10    The Authorities agree the Panel Arrangements.

102



2. 0      Functions of the Police and Crime Panel

2. 1      The Panel may not exercise any functions other than those conferred by the Act.

2. 2      The functions of the Panel set out at paragraphs 2.3 - 2.8 below may not be 
discharged by a Committee or Sub-Committee of the Panel.

2. 3      The Panel is a statutory consultee on the development of the PCC’s Police and
Crime Plan and must:

a)          review the draft Police and Crime Plan (and a variation to it); and, 
b)         report or make recommendations on the draft Plan which the PCC

must take into account.

2. 4      The  Panel  must  comment  upon  the  Annual  Report  of  the  PCC,  and  for  that 
purpose must:

a)          arrange  for  a  public  meeting  of  the  Panel  to  be  held  as  soon  as 
practicable after the Panel is sent an Annual Report under Section 12 of 
the Act;

b)         ask the PCC at that meeting such questions about the Annual Report as
the Members of the Panel think appropriate;

c)          review the Annual Report; and,
d)         make a report or recommendations on the Annual Report to the PCC.

2. 5      The  Panel  must  undertake  a  review  of  a  precept  proposed  by  the  PCC  in 
accordance with the requirements set out in Schedule 5 of the Act, and will have 
a  right  of  veto  in  respect  of  the  precept  in  accordance  with  the  Act  and 
Regulations made under the Act.

2. 6      The Panel must review, make a report to and make recommendations to the PCC 
in relation to the appointment of a Chief Constable by the PCC in accordance 
with the requirements set out in Schedule 8 of the Act and will have a right of 
veto in respect of the appointment in accordance with the Act and Regulations 
made under the Act.

2. 7      The right of veto in paragraphs 2.5 and 2.6 will require that at least two-thirds of 
the membership of the Panel at the time (not just those present) when the 
decision is made vote in favour of making that decision.

2. 8      The Panel must review, make a report to and make recommendations to the PCC 
in relation to the appointment of the PCC’s Chief Executive, Chief Finance Officer 
and the Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner in accordance with the 
requirements set out in Schedule 1 of the Act.

103



2. 9      The  following  functions  must  also  be  undertaken  by  the  Panel  but  may  be 
delegated to a Sub-Committee of the Panel:

2. 10    The Panel shall receive notification from the PCC of any suspension of the Chief 
Constable, or any proposal to call upon a Chief Constable to retire or resign, and 
in the case of the latter must make a recommendation to the PCC as to whether 
or not the PCC should call for the retirement or resignation in accordance with 
the procedures set out in Schedule 8 of the Act.

2. 11    The Panel must review or scrutinise the decisions or actions of the PCC in the 
discharge  of  his/her  functions  and  make  reports  or  recommendations  to  the 
PCC with respect to the discharge of the PCC’s functions.   The Panel may carry 
out investigations into the decisions of the PCC, and into matters of particular 
interest or public concern.

2. 12    The Panel must publish any reports or recommendations made by it to the PCC 
in a manner which the Panel will determine and must also send copies to the 
Authorities.

2. 13    The Panel may require the PCC or a member of his/her staff to attend the Panel 
to answer questions necessary for the Panel to undertake its functions, provided 
that such questions shall not:

a)          relate to advice provided to the PCC by his/her staff;

b)         in the view of the PCC:

i)           be against the interests of national safety;
ii)          jeopardise the safety of any person; or,
iii)         prejudice the prevention or detection of crime, the apprehension 

or prosecution of offenders, or the administration of justice; or,

c)          be prohibited by any other enactment.

2. 14    If the Panel requires the PCC to attend the Panel, the Panel may (at reasonable 
notice)  request  the Chief  Constable  to attend  before the Panel  on the same 
occasion to answer any question which appears to the Panel to be necessary in 
order for it to carry out its functions.

2. 15    The   Panel   may   require   the   PCC   to   respond   in   writing   to   a   report   or 
recommendation from the Panel to the PCC.

104



2. 16    The Panel may suspend the PCC if he/she is charged with an offence carrying a 
maximum term of imprisonment exceeding two years.

2. 17    The Panel will have any other powers and duties set out in the Act or Regulations 
made in accordance with the Act.

3. 0      Membership

General

3. 1      Cambridgeshire  is  a police  force  area  comprising  seven  (7)  Authorities.    The 
Authorities have each agreed to provide one elected member together with the 
Lead Authority and the Host Authority having the power to appoint the extra 
Members of the Panel.

3.2       Appointments of elected members to the Panel shall be made by each of the 
Authorities in accordance with their own procedures and with a view to ensuring 
that  the  balanced   appointment   objective   is  met  so  far  as  is  reasonably 
practicable.

3.3       The Lead Authority has taken steps to coordinate the Authorities with a view to 
ensuring  that the balanced appointment  objective is achieved.   The balanced 
appointment objective requires that the local authority Members of the Panel 
(which includes Members appointed by the Authorities and co-opted Members 
who are elected Members of any of the Authorities) should:

a)          represent all parts of the police force area;
b)         represent the political make-up of the Authorities; and,
c)          taken together have the skills, knowledge and experience necessary for 

the Panel to discharge its functions effectively.

3. 4      Taking into account the balanced appointment objective the Authorities have 
agreed that the Panel ought to consist of eleven (11) Members appointed by 
each of the Authorities as set out in the attached Schedule

3.5       The  appointment  of  the  eleventh  Member  is  a  co-option  to  the  Panel  and 
requires
(a) the consent of the Secretary of State and
(b) resolution of the Panel

3.6       The  Lead  Authority  and  the  Host  Authority  have  jointly  agreed  to  seek  the 
consent of the Secretary of State to the appointment of the eleventh Member

105



3.7       The  Panel  shall  also  include  two  (2)  independent  Members  co-opted  by  the
Panel.

3.8       In appointing co-opted Members who are not elected members of any of the 
Authorities the Panel must secure, so far as is reasonably practicable that the 
appointed  and  co-opted  Members  of  the  Panel,  together  have  the  skills, 
knowledge  and experience  necessary  for the Panel  to discharge  its functions 
effectively.

3.9       The Panel may also resolve to co-opt further Members provided that
(a) the further agreement of the Secretary of State is sought, and
(b) the number of co-opted Members included in the Membership of the Panel 
shall not exceed twenty (20) in total.

3. 7      Authorities  may  appoint  a  named  substitute  Member  for  each  nominated 
Member  in  the  event  that  their  Appointed  Member  is  unable  to  attend  a 
meeting.

Appointed Members

3. 8      If a nominated Member agrees to the appointment the Authority may appoint 
the Member as a Member of the Panel.

3.9       In the event that an Authority does not appoint a Member in accordance with 
these requirements, the Secretary of State must appoint a Member to the panel 
from the defaulting authority in accordance with the provisions in the Act.

3. 10    With  a  view  to  ensuring  continuity  of  membership  as  far  as  possible,  an 
appointed Member shall be a Member of the Panel for four years unless s/he 
ceases to be an elected Member, or is removed by their Authority.

3. 11    An Authority may decide in accordance with their procedures to remove their 
appointed Member from the Panel at any point and on doing so shall give notice 
to the Solicitor to the Council at the Host Authority.

3. 14    An appointed Member may resign from the Panel by giving written notice to the 
Solicitor to the Council at the Host Authority on behalf of the Panel and to the 
proper officer at their Authority.

3. 15    In the event that any appointed Member resigns from the Panel, or is removed 
from the Panel by an Authority, the Authority shall immediately take steps to 
nominate and appoint an alternative Member to the Panel.

106



3. 16    Members appointed to the Panel may be re-appointed to the Panel for a further 
term of four years.

3. 17    Co-opted Members

3. 18    The following may not be co-opted Members of the Panel:

a)          the PCC for the Police Area.
b)         a member of staff of the PCC for the area.
c)          a member of the civilian staff of the Police Force for the area. 
d)         a Member of Parliament.
e)         a Member of the National Assembly for Wales.
f)          a Member of the Scottish Parliament.
g)          a Member of the European Parliament.

3. 19    An elected member of any of the Authorities may not be a co-opted Member of 
the Panel where the number of co-opted Members is two.

3. 20    If the Panel has three or more co-opted Members an elected member of any of 
the Authorities may be a co-opted Member of the Panel provided that at least 
two of the other co-opted  Members  are not elected  members  of any of the 
Authorities.

3. 21    A co-opted Member shall be a Member of the Panel for four years.

3. 22    The Panel shall put in place arrangements to ensure that appointments of
co-opted Members are undertaken following public advertisement in accordance 
with the following principles:

a)          The appointment will be made on merit of candidates whose skills, 
experience and qualities are considered best to ensure the effective 
functioning of the Panel;

b)         The selection process must be fair, objective, impartial and consistently 
applied to all candidates who will be assessed against the same pre 
determined criteria; and,

c)          The selection process will be conducted transparently with information 
about  the  requirements  for  the  appointment  and  the  process  being 
publicly advertised and made available with a view to attracting a strong 
and diverse field of suitable candidates.

3. 23    A co-opted Member of the Panel may resign from the Panel by giving written 
notice to the Solicitor to the Council at the Host Authority on behalf of the Panel.

107



3. 24    The Panel must from time to time decide whether the Panel should exercise its 
power to change the number of co-opted Members of the Panel to enable the 
balanced appointment objective to be met, or be more effectively met, and if so, 
it must exercise that power accordingly.

3. 25    The Panel may decide to terminate the appointment of a co-opted Member of 
the Panel if at least two-thirds of the persons who are Members of the Panel at 
the time when the decision is made vote in favour of making that decision at any 
time for the reasons set out below and on doing so shall give written notice to 
the co-opted Member:

a)          if the co-opted Member has been absent from the Panel for more than 
three months without the consent of the Panel;

b)         if the co-opted Member has been convicted of a criminal offence but not 
automatically disqualified;

c)          if the co-opted  Member  is deemed to be incapacitated  by physical or 
mental  illness  or  is  otherwise  unable  or  unfit  to discharge  his  or  her 
functions as a co-opted Member of the Panel; or,

d)         if the co-opted Member’s membership of the Panel no longer achieves 
the balanced appointment objective.

3. 26    In the event that a co-opted Member resigns from the Panel or is removed from 
the Panel following a decision of the Panel, the Panel shall ensure that at least 
two independent co-opted Members remain appointed to the Panel, and in the 
absence of two such Members shall make arrangements to ensure that two co- 
opted Members are appointed.

3. 27    Co-opted Members appointed to the Panel may be re-appointed for a further 
term of four years provided that the balanced appointment objective is met by 
that re-appointment.

4. 0      Budget and Costs of the Panel

4. 1      The annual costs of the Panel, reduced by the figure of any grant from the Home
Office or any other source, shall be borne between the Authorities equally.

4. 2      A draft budget for the operation of the Panel shall be drawn up by the Host 
Authority in February each year, and shall be approved by the Authorities.   All 
costs will be contained within the budget.

5. 0      Host Authority

5. 1      A Host Authority shall be determined by mutual agreement of the Authorities for 
the Panel and shall provide  such administrative  and other support  as will be

108



necessary to enable the Panel to undertake its functions.   The Host Authority 
may be changed by agreement of the Authorities providing 12 months notice 
expiring on 31 March in any year is given.

6. 0      Rules of Procedure

The   Panel   shall   determine   its   Rules   of   Procedure   which   shall   include 
arrangements in relation to the:

a)          the appointment and removal of the Chairman;
b)         the formation of sub-committees;
c)          the making of decisions;
d)         the arrangements for convening meetings; and, 
e)         the circulation of information.

7. 0      Allowances

7. 1      Members shall be entitled to claim expenses incurred as a result of membership 
of the Panel.  An allowance has been agreed by the Secretary of State of up to
£920 per member which is to be made available from October 2012.  The Panel
shall consider a scheme of allowances once the allocation has been agreed by 
the Home Office.

8. 0      Promotion of the Panel

8. 1      The Panel arrangements shall be promoted by:

a)          the establishment and maintenance of a dedicated open-access
website  including  information  about  the  role  and  work  of  the  Panel, 
Panel   Membership,   all   non-confidential   Panel   and   sub-committee 
meeting papers, press releases and other publications;

b)         the issuing of regular press releases about the Panel and its work; and,
c)          the Authorities  will each include information  about the Panel on their 

websites, and will also include a link to the Panel website.

8. 2      Support and guidance shall be provided to executive and non-executive elected 
members and officers of the Authorities in relation to the functions of the Panel 
as follows:

a)          by  the  provision  of  initial  briefing  sessions  for  elected  members  and 
relevant officers of the Authorities before the election of the PCC, and

109



the    provision    of    annual    briefing    sessions    following    the    PCC’s 
appointment; and,

b)         by  the  provision  of  written  briefing  notes  for  elected  members  and 
relevant officers of the Authorities at least three times per year.

9. 0      Validity of Proceedings

9. 1      The validity of the proceedings of the Panel shall not be affected by a vacancy in 
the Membership of the Panel or a defect in appointment.

9. 2      The conduct of the Panel and the content of these arrangements shall be subject 
to the legislative provisions in the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act
2011, and any Regulations made in accordance with that Act, and in the event of
any  conflict  between  the  Act  or  Regulations,  and  these  arrangements,  the 
requirements of the legislation will prevail.

SIGNED BY THE AUTHORITIES AS FOLLOWS:

110



CAMBRIDGESHIRE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL Agenda Item No. 12

30 JULY 2018 Public Report

Report of Jane Webb, Secretariat, Peterborough City Council 

Contact Officer(s) – Jane Webb
Contact Details -  jane.webb@peterborough.gov.uk

MEMBERSHIP OF THE ASSOCIATION OF POLICE, FIRE AND CRIME PANELS

1. PURPOSE

2.

The Panel are asked to consider joining the newly created Association of PFCPs (Police, Fire 
and Crime Panels.)

RECOMMENDATIONS

For the Panel to consider if it wishes to become a Member of the National Association of 
PFCPs with the associated cost of £500 per year.

3. BACKGROUND

The creation of a national representative body was supported by almost all Police and 
Crime Panels (PCPs) attending last year’s national conference, and the consensus of 
those attending was that a Special Interest Group (SIG) within the Local Government 
Association (LGA) would be the most appropriate model to adopt.

A Steering Group was established to develop this model further (including Terms of 
Reference, composition, membership, cost), with a view to circulating a final proposal to 
all Panels by March 2018.

The inaugural meeting, which took place on 19 April 2018 to review the formation of 
the SIG, agree its outline terms of reference and initial work programmes and elect a 
Chair and Vice Chair.  A summary of the decisions reached is set out below.

Agreement to form an LGA Special Interest Group

16 Panels confirmed their commitment to establishing a SIG, which met the 
requirement for a minimum of 10 LGA members:

 Bedfordshire
 Cleveland
 Derbyshire
 Dorset
 Essex
 Hertfordshire
 Kent & Medway
 Merseyside
 Norfolk
 Northamptonshire
 Northumbria
 Nottinghamshire

111



 South Yorkshire
 Sussex
 West Midlands
 West Yorkshire

It was agreed that the SIG would be known as the National Association of Police, Fire 
and Crime Panels (NAPFCP), it being emphasizes that all Panels in England and 
Wales were eligible to participate, whether or not ‘Fire’ was included in their remit.

4. KEY ISSUES

Terms of Reference

The following Terms of Reference were agreed:

1. To provide a forum for collaborative discussion of issues relating to and impacting on 
Police and Crime Panels and Police, Fire and Crime Panels (PCPs/PFCPs)

2. To share ideas and experience in response to the expanding role of the PCCs and 
PFCCs and thereby PCPs/PFCPs

3. To create a mechanism for direct liaison between PCPs/PFPCs and the Home Office
4. To provide an opportunity for dialogue with relevant bodies such as the Association of 

Police and Crime Commissioners, Association of Police and Crime Chief Executives 
and others.

5. To support the development of joins PCP/PFCP responses to relevant consultations
6. To promote professional standards
7. To share good practice and create guidance and other supporting materials for 

PCPs/PFPCs.
8. To ensure stability and collective memory in a landscape where PCPs/PFPCs can have 

significant changes in membership
9. To provide capacity for horizon scanning across all PCPs/PFPCs
10. To promote better understanding of the role of PCPs/PFPCs.

Management, support structure and subscriptions

The following were elected to serve until the AGM, which will take place at the National PCP 
conference in November 2018:

 John Gili-Ross (Independent Member, Essex PFCP) – Chairman
 John Adams (Vice-Chair, Dorset PCP) and Alison Lowe (Chair, West Yorkshire PCP) – 

Vice-Chairmen
 Paul Cain (Independent Member, Hertfordshire PCP – Treasurer

It was agreed that the membership subscription should be set at £500 initially

Initial work plan and next steps

 The Chairman was tasked with applying to the LGA Leadership Board formally to establish a 
SIG, other Panels to invite them to join the NAPFCP, as well as introductory letters to other key 
bodies such as the Association of Police and Crime Commissioners.

It was agreed that a constitution for the NAPFCP should be developed with a view to seeking 
approval at the AGM.

The following issues would form the focus of activity in the first year:
1. Meetings with relevant partner organisations and the Home Office
2. The development of guidance for PCPs on handling complaints
3. Updating the existing suite of LGA/Centre for Public Scrutiny Guidance for PCPs
4. Exploring the impact of changes to FRA governance and the enhanced role for PCCs in 

this area
5. A review of panel resourcing

112



6. Promoting and sharing best practice
7. Increasing the public’s understanding of the role of Panels

5 IMPLICATIONS

The cost of joining the Association will be £500 per year and will come from funding provided by 
the Home Office for this Panel (with a caveat that the Association will not be able to lobby the 
Home Office for additional powers.)

6. CONSULTATION

None

7. NEXT STEPS

An update to be brought to the Panel after the PCP Conference in November.

8. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

None

9. APPENDICES

Appendix 1 - Letter from the Chairman of the National Association of Police Fire and Crime 
Panels
Appendix 2 - Advice Note - NAPCPs - Eligible Expenditure Advice

113



This page is intentionally left blank

114



NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF POLICE FIRE AND CRIME PANELS

NAPFCP Senior Democratic Services Officer – Robert Fox - T - 033301 34585 robert.fox@essex.gov.uk   
postal address  - Essex County Council, County Hall, Market Road, Chelmsford, CM1 1QH

NAPFCP Chairman - John Gili-Ross - 07957804621 e-mail - john.giliross@gmail.com

Page 1

Essex Police Fire and Crime Panel
Essex County Council

Chelmsford
Essex

Dear Chairman,

National Association of Police Fire and Crime Panels - NAPFCP

Please allow me to introduce myself as the Chairman of the newly formed National 
Association of Police, Fire and Crime Panels for England and Wales.  An inaugural 
meeting took place on 19th April 2018 at the LGA offices in London to review the 
formation of the Association, agree its outline terms of reference and initial work 
programmes and to elect a Chair and Vice Chair(s).

Invitations to the inaugural meeting were sent to all Panels asking each to send a 
representative to help ensure decisions made at the meeting were truly representative 
of all PCP’s / PFCP’s. A list of those panels that were represented at the meeting 
appears at the end of this letter.  Whilst not all representatives had delegated powers 
for their panels, out of the 21 panels that were represented, 16 (40%) of the total 
number of panels in England and Wales confirmed they would become association 
members at the inaugural meeting.  Whilst an additional 5 panel representatives were 
also in favour of the formation of a national association, they were not in a position to 
confirm their panel membership. 

It is hoped that membership will increase as the NAPFCP becomes established and 
include all PCP/PFCP’s to provide a common voice when interfacing with the Home 
Office, the National Association of Police, Fire and Crime Commissioners, the 
Association of Policing & Crime Chief Executives (APACE) and the LGA as appropriate. 

The NAPFCP membership subscription for the first year was agreed at £500. The Essex 
PFCP, as the lead authority for the NAPFCP Chairman will handle the associations 
operating accounts and be responsible for the generation of subscription invoices as 
appropriate.  The Association has a Treasurer, Paul Cain who was appointed at the 
inaugural meeting. 

The NAPFCP Terms of Reference were agreed as:

 To provide a forum for collaborative discussion of issues relating to and 
impacting on Police and Crime Panels and Police, Fire and Crime Panels (PCPs / 
PFCPs)

 To share ideas and experience in response to the expanding role of PCCs and 
PFCCs and thereby PCPs / PFCPs

 To create a mechanism for direct liaison between PCPs / PFCPs and the Home 
Office

115

mailto:john.giliross@gmail.com


Page 2

 To provide an opportunity for dialogue with relevant bodies such as the 
Association of Police and Crime Commissioners, Association of Police and Crime 
Chief Executives and others

 To support the development of joint PCP /PFCP responses to relevant 
consultations

 To promote professional standards

 To share good practice and create guidance and other supporting materials for 
PCPs /PFCPs

 To ensure stability and collective memory in a landscape where PCPs / PFCPs can 
have significant changes in membership

 To provide capacity for horizon scanning across all PCPs / PFCPs.

 To promote better public understanding of the role of PCPs / PFCPs.

Production of a NAPFCP constitution document will be undertaken by Dr Christopher 
Kemp, Norfolk PCP and supported by Carla Thomas, Merseyside PCP ready for the 
Frontline Consulting Annual Meeting of PCP / PFCP’s in November 2018.

A subscription invoice will be sent to you shortly in the hope that your panel will agree 
to become a member.  Should you have any questions relating to the formation of the 
Association or specific areas of interest that you believe should be addressed by the 
Association then feel free to contact Robert Fox or I, using the contact details given 
within this letter.  

Thank you and I look forward to meeting with many of you as time permits during the 
year.

Yours sincerely,

John Gili-Ross

Chairman - National Association of Police Fire and Crime Panels

116



Page 3

National Association of Police Fire and Crime Panel - Membership
The following PCP’s / PFCP’s confirmed their commitment to become NAPFCP members 
at the inaugural meeting held on 19th April 2018:

Bedfordshire – NAPFCP Treasurer Paul Cain

Cleveland 

Derbyshire 

Dorset – NAPFCP Vice Chair John Adams

Essex – NAPFCP Chairman John Gili-Ross

Hertfordshire

Kent and Medway

Merseyside 

Norfolk

Northamptonshire

Northumbria

Nottinghamshire

South Yorkshire

Sussex

West Midlands

West Yorkshire – NAPFCP Vice Chair Alison Lowe

The following panels also sent representatives to the meeting but at that time they did 
not have the delegated powers to commit their panel to membership of the 
Association.

Lancashire

Leicestershire

North Wales

Staffordshire

Warwickshire

117



This page is intentionally left blank

118



NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF POLICE, FIRE AND CRIME PANELS
A Special Interest Group of the Local Government Association

Advice Note: Can Panels use their Home Office Grant to pay 
their subscriptions to the Association?

1. The Grant Agreements for Essex, Norfolk and for Leicestershire & Rutland are identical except that in 
each a different "Recipient" is identified.  There is no reason to suppose that this is not a common 
form for all Panels.

2. I have also seen the Grant letters for Essex and Norfolk.  These could be relevant as the Grant 
Agreement is expressed to incorporate into its provisions and conditions to which the offer of grant 
is subject as set out in the Grant Letter.  However, these Grant Letters contains no such conditions.

3. Further, I have checked if there are any relevant provisions contained in any of the subordinate 
legislation made by the Home Secretary by statutory instrument under the Police Reform and Social 
Responsibility Act 2011.  There were none that I could find.

4. From these investigations I have concluded that there is only one provision which controls how 
Panels might lawfully spend the Home Office grant.  By the Grant Agreement, the grant can only be 
applied to “eligible expenditure”.  Clause 3.4. of the Grant Agreement defines what is not “eligible 
expenditure as follows:

The following costs are not Eligible Expenditure: Payments that support activity intended to influence 
or attempt to influence Parliament, Government or political parties, or attempting to influence the 
awarding or renewal of contracts and grants, or attempting to influence legislative or regulatory 
action.

5. Controlling lower levels of government by conditional grants is a time-honoured practice throughout 
democratic countries.  It is well developed in the United Kingdom.  In Federal countries (eg: the 
United states, Canada and Australia) it has been developed as a way for the Federal Government to 
directly control local expenditure leap-frogging the State or Provincial governments.

6. There ought to be no problem in devising a form of words for inclusion in the Rules of the National 
Association ensuring that its activities do not fall outside the remit of eligible expenditure.  The key 
phrase is "influence or attempt to influence" which clearly catches "lobbying" in the conventional 
sense.  However, if the Association declares its purpose to be "to act as a focus for the exchange of 
information with, and liaison with, partner organisations involved in the governance of policing and fire 
and crime, on behalf of its member panels" (this is a first draft which requires refinement and also to 
be put into the right context) then there ought to be conformity with the conditions imposed on 
Eligible Expenditure.

7. Adopting a “belt-and-braces” approach, the Rules further could contain a specific provision 
reproducing the constraints set out in Clause 3.4. of the Grant Agreement, perhaps as follows:

The Association shall never engage in nor support activity intended to influence or attempting to 
influence Parliament, Government or political parties, or attempting to influence the awarding or 
renewal of contracts and grants, or attempting to influence legislative or regulatory action.

Dr C J Kemp; member, South Norfolk District Council; 
Vice-Chairman, Norfolk Police and Crime Panel

09/07/2018

119



This page is intentionally left blank

120



CAMBRIDGESHIRE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL Agenda Item No. 13

30 JULY 2018 Public Report

Report of:  Jane Webb, Peterborough City Council

Contact Officer(s) – Jane Webb
Contact Details – jane.webb@peterborough.gov.uk

Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Panel Annual Report

1. PURPOSE

1.1 To consider the draft annual report of the work of the Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Panel 
during the last twelve months.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 It is recommended that the Panel approve the Police and Crime Panel’s Annual Report.

3. TERMS OF REFERENCE

3.1 This report discharges the responsibility for the Panel to publish an annual report of its work.  

4. BACKGROUND

4.1 The report sets out some of the key areas that the Panel has scrutinised over the last twelve 
months which includes:

 Strategic Estates Updates
 Ensuring the Commissioner progressed the recommendations and areas for 

improvement (AFIs) from the HMIC’s Legitimacy Inspection Report and complied with 
the current national guidelines for vetting and the systems and checks were in place to 
ensure that vetting had been actioned.

 Fire Governance progress
 Scrutinising the progress made between the Police & Crime Commissioner, the 

Constabulary, the Cambridgeshire Fire & Rescue Service, the Cambridgeshire Fire and 
Rescue Authority and the East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust on realising 
the opportunities of the Policing and Crime Bill.

 Scrutinising financial performance and the Commissioner’s budget
 Monitoring of transformation
 Scrutinising community engagement
 Review of the Commissioner’s Precept 
 Review of the Rules of Procedure
 Confirmation hearing for the Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner

5. KEY ISSUES

5.1 None

6. IMPLICATIONS

6.1 None

7. CONSULTATION

121



7.1 None

8. NEXT STEPS

8.1 N/a.

9. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

9.1 Agendas and Minutes of the Panel for meetings held on 14 June 2017, 6 September 2017, 15 
November 2017, 19 December 2017, 31 January 2018, 14 March 2018.

10. APPENDICES

10.1 Appendix 1 - Annual report of the Panel 2018

122



C P
 C P

Cambridgeshire Police 
and Crime Panel

Cambridgeshire 
Police and Crime 

Panel
Annual Report 

2017/18

                         

123



C P
 C P

Cambridgeshire Police 
and Crime Panel

Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Panel

The Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Panel is currently hosted by Peterborough 
City Council on behalf of all 7 authorities in Cambridgeshire.

It is a joint committee of all 7 authorities, consisting of representatives from each of 
the District Councils (Cambridge City, East Cambs, Fenland, Huntingdon and South 
Cambs, and three representatives from both the County Council (Cambridgeshire) 
and the Unitary Council (Peterborough City) plus two independent co-opted 
members.

The Panel can be contacted via the address below:

Police and Crime Panel Secretariat
Democratic Services
Peterborough City Council
Town Hall
Bridge Street
Peterborough
PE1 1HF

Telephone:   (01733) 452281
Email:            jane.webb@peterborough.gov.uk

Website        Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Panel 

The Police and Crime Commissioner for Cambridgeshire is Jason Ablewhite.

He can be contacted via his office:

Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner
Cambridgeshire Police Headquarters
Hinchingbrooke Park
Huntingdon
Cambridgeshire
PE29 6NP

Telephone:  (0300) 333 3456
Email:           cambs-pcc@cambs.pnn.police.uk

Website:       www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk

124

mailto:jane.webb@peterborough.gov.uk
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=543&Year=0
mailto:cambs-pcc@cambs.pnn.police.uk
http://www.cambridgeshire-pcc.gov.uk/


C P
 C P

Cambridgeshire Police 
and Crime Panel

Foreword

The Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Panel (the Panel) holds the Police and Crime 
Commissioner (the Commissioner) for Cambridgeshire to account by acting as a ‘critical 
friend’. Its role is to scrutinise, challenge and support the Commissioner, maintaining a check 
and balance on the performance of the Commissioner in regards to the strategic actions and 
decisions made. 

The Panel is not responsible for holding the Chief Constable or the Constabulary to account; 
this is a role for the Police and Crime Commissioner.  The principal role of the Panel is to 
scrutinise the actions and decisions of the Commissioner, not the performance of the police 
force.  The key functions of the Panel are:

 To review the PCC’s Police and Crime Plan
 To hold the PCC to account for the delivery of the Police and Crime Plan – the panel 

has powers to request any necessary information from the PCC on his decisions
 To review and report on the appointment of the Chief Constable and other senior 

appointments – the Panel has powers to veto the appointment of the Chief Constable
 To review the Commissioner’s proposed police precept – the panel has powers to veto 

the precept
 To scrutinise the PCC’s annual report
 To consider complaints against the PCC.

This is the fifth annual report of the Panel covering its work throughout 2017-18.  

The work of the Panel

During 2017-18 the Panel met on six occasions and has scrutinised a number of key areas 
of the Commissioner’s work.  These include:

 Reviewing the Commissioner’s performance reporting procedures which sets out 
what the police are expected to achieve and how the Commissioner holds the police 
to account.

 Requesting, receiving and scrutinising further detailed information regarding 
Cambridgeshire Constabulary’s estates.

 Monitoring the overall performance of the Constabulary, including against the 
priorities set out in the Plan by way of requested quarterly Performance Monitoring 
Reports alongside reports on other areas of business that deliver towards the 
objectives within the Plan.

 Understanding how the Commissioner and the Constabulary deal with Community 
Engagement.

 Reviewing the progress made against areas of improvement (AFIs) from Her 
Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary’s (HMIC) Legitimacy Inspection report 2016 
and ensuring compliance is met with the current national guidelines for vetting; also 

125



C P
 C P

Cambridgeshire Police 
and Crime Panel

reviewing that the systems and checks are in place to ensure that vetting has been 
actioned.

 Understanding and keeping up to date with regard to the Commissioner’s 
Consultation and Local Business Case on future changes to the governance 
arrangements of the Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue Service.

 Theming each meeting to ensure that each objective within the Police and Crime 
Commissioner’s plan is scrutinised, supported and challenged.

 Requesting and regularly attending briefings to enable the Panel to remain up to date 
on key issues

 Reviewing the progress made between the Police and Crime Commissioner, 
Cambridgeshire Constabulary, the Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue Service, the 
Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue Authority and East of England Ambulance Service 
NHS Trust on realising the opportunities of the Policing and Crime Bill.  

In addition, the Panel has scrutinised the Commissioner’s variations to his Police and Crime 
Plan throughout the year and the decisions which he has taken.  Full details of the issues 
that the Panel have considered can be found on the website here.

Commissioner Budget Precept 

The Commissioner proposed that for 2017/18 there would be 6.4% increase in the precept.  
The Panel has the power to veto any proposed precept from the Commissioner through a 
two thirds majority vote of its members.  The Panel undertook a thorough scrutiny in the 
Commissioner’s budget for the Constabulary asking a number of detailed questions on areas 
of expenditure including:

 Collaboration with Bedfordshire and Hertfordshire and the seven forces
 Estates Strategy
 Central government funding
 Policing Frontline
 Increasing Population
 Future Savings and efficiencies

The Panel endorsed the Commissioner’s proposed precept.

Cambridgeshire Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner Confirmation Hearing

In December 2017, the Panel considered the Commissioner’s proposed appointment for the 
Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner.  Councillor Ray Bisby was the Commissioner’s 
preferred candidate for this position.

The Panel held a confirmation hearing with the candidate and asked a number of questions 
regarding his professional competence and personal independence of the role.  The Panel 
also considered 

126

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=543&Year=0


C P
 C P

Cambridgeshire Police 
and Crime Panel

 The criteria used to assess the candidate’s suitability for appointment
 Why the candidate satisfied those criteria
 The terms and conditions on which the candidate was proposed to be appointed

Following careful consideration of the information provided by the Commissioner and 
answers given at the confirmation hearing, the Panel recommended the appointment of 
Councillor Ray Bisby to Cambridgeshire Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner.

About the Panel

The Panel’s membership as at May 2017:

 Councillor David Connor (Cambridgeshire County Council)
 Councillor Angie Dickinson (Huntingdonshire District Council)
 Councillor Michael Shellens (Cambridgeshire County Council)
 Council David Oliver (Fenland District Council)
 Councillor Dave Baigent (Cambridge City Council)
 Councillor Andrew Bond (Peterborough City Council)
 Councillor Tom Sanderson (Cambridgeshire County Council)
 Councillor Alan Sharp (East Cambs District Council)
 Councillor Ben Shelton (South Cambs District Council)
 Councillor Lynne Ayres (Peterborough City Council)
 Councillor Ed Murphy (Peterborough City Council)
 Edward Leigh (Independent Co-opted Member) 
 Claire George (Independent Co-opted Member)

Substitutes

 Councillor Kevin Cuffley
 Councillor Ann Sinnott
 Councillor Alex Miscandlon
 Councillor Nick Sandford
 Councillor Andy Pearson
 Councillor Mark Howell
 Councillor Ali Ansar
 Councillor Lucy Nethsingha

127



This page is intentionally left blank

128



CAMBRIDGESHIRE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL Agenda Item No. 14

30 JULY 2018 Public Report

Report of:  Jane Webb, Secretariat, Peterborough City Council

Contact Officer(s) – Jane Webb
Contact Details – jane.webb@peterborough.gov.uk

CAMBRIDGESHIRE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL - ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS AND MEMBER 
EXPENSES

1. PURPOSE

1.1 This report provides details about the budget claimed to support Cambridgeshire’s Police and 
Crime Panel, including the expenses and allowances of Panel Members.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 The Panel notes the financial position for costs associated with administrative support and 
member expenses. 

3. TERMS OF REFERENCE

3.1 The report is in accordance with the inter-authority agreement of July 2012 concerning the 
arrangements of the Panel.

4. BACKGROUND

4.1 The Home Office provides grant funding to Host Authorities to support the running costs of 
Police and Crime Panels. The confirmed total annual funding for the Cambridgeshire Police and 
Crime Panel for the financial year 2017/18 is up to £66,180.

As agreed previously, the annual costs of the Panel, reduced by the figure of grant from the 
Home Office or any other source, shall be borne between the Authorities equally.  However, to 
date this has not been required.

5. KEY ISSUES

5.1 Between October 2012 and the current date Peterborough City Council, the host authority, has 
provided staffing and other support to set up, establish and run Cambridgeshire’s Panel. The 
majority of costs are associated with day-to-day management and support of the Panel’s 
functions.  This includes specialist support where required from teams across the council such 
as Legal, HR, Communications, Finance and Governance.  The total costs for 2017/18 are 
£54,158 and are broken down as follows:

129



5

Breakdown of expenditure (items) £

Catering 496.70
Room Hire 30.00
Legal Costs 2,000.00
Transport Hire 360.50
Training 915.00
Conferences 900.00
Subscriptions 20.00
Staff Costs 47,276.35
Members’ Travel expenses 1,078.20
Printing Agendas 511.74
Staff Travel 569.95

TOTAL 54,158.44

5.2 The council also receives grant to cover Panel Members expenses.  Each member may claim 
up to £920 per annum in expenses.  In 2017/18 Members claimed a total of £1078.20.  A 
breakdown of Member expenses is set out below:

Councillor/Member Item Cost Total
Cllr Shelton Mileage

Parking
109.80
   3.00

112.80

Cllr Ayres 0.00
Cllr Howe 0.00
Cllr Oliver 0.00
Cllr Baigent 0.00

Cllr Murphy Mileage 65.70 65.70

Cllr Lillis 0.00

Cllr Bisby Mileage
Train
Taxi

19.80
308.00

65.90

393.70

Cllr Giles 0.00
Cllr Shellens 0.00
Cllr Pearson 0.00
Edward Leigh Mileage

Bus
Train

90.00
37.20

197.70

324.90

Claire George Mileage
Parking

97.20
4.00

101.20

Cllr Sandford 0.00
Cllr Connor 0.00
Cllr Sanderson 0.00
Cllr Dickinson 0.00
Susan Hartropp 0.00
Cllr Sharp Mileage

Parking
74.70

5.20
79.90

Cllr Bond 0.00

130



Cllr Howell (sub) 0.00
Cllr Sinnott (sub) 0.00
Cllr Miscandlon (sub) 0.00
Cllr Cuffley (sub) 0.00
Cllr Ali (sub) 0.00
Cllr Nethsingha (sub) 0.00
Total   £1078.20

6. IMPLICATIONS

6.1 The costs of supporting the operation of the Panel will be contained within funding provided by 
the Home Office for this purpose.  It is therefore anticipated that no funding contributions will be 
required from Authorities.                             

7. CONSULTATION

7.1 Not applicable.

8. NEXT STEPS

8.1 The budget will be monitored in accordance with the normal arrangements of the Host 
Authority, and reported to future panel meetings on a regular basis.

9. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

9.1 None 

10. APPENDICES

10.1 None.

131



This page is intentionally left blank

132



C P 

 C P 
Cambridgeshire Police  

and Crime Panel 

 

CAMBRIDGESHIRE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 

Panel Member Questionnaire 

I would appreciate it if you would take five minutes from your day to complete this questionnaire; 

this will help me guide the Panel through the coming year. 

Many thanks, 

Jane Webb – Support Officer 

About you 
 

Name    

 

Committees currently appointed to:  

 
 
 

 

Other relevant committees you’ve served on in the past (e.g. scrutiny, community safety, 

police/fire authority, …): 

 
 
 

Training 
Have you ever received scrutiny training?    YES    NO 

What further/additional training would you like? (eg scrutiny techniques, reading 

accounts/budgets, speed reading, …) 

 
 
 

 

 

133

AAP669_1
Typewritten text
AGENDA ITEM NO. 15



Are there any particular topics you would like to receive a briefing on? (e.g. policing and/or fire 

governance, HMI inspections, criminal justice system, supporting agencies, how specific types of 

victims or vulnerable individuals are supported, …) 

 
 
 

Additional contributions 
Do you have a particular area of expertise or interest in policing & crime that you would be 

prepared to take a lead on or to champion (e.g. budgets, multi-agency working, collaboration, 

performance monitoring, estates, victims, community safety, …; or an HMIC theme – effectiveness, 

efficiency, legitimacy)? 

 
 
 

 

Would you be prepared to attend additional meetings and/or do extra research as take part of a 

working group (subcommittee or task & finish group)?    YES    NO   Maybe 

If YES, how much time could you spare?  

 

Panel budget 
What do you think the £12,000 underspend on the Panel’s budget should be spent on in future? 

More training?    YES    NO   Maybe 

More officer support (research, updates, more reports & briefings)?    YES    NO   Maybe 

Bringing in outside experts to briefings and/or Panel meetings?    YES    NO   Maybe 

Allowances for members?    YES    NO   Maybe 

Allowances 
If you think members should be paid an allowance, do you think it should be: 

Limited to co-opted members only?    YES    NO   Maybe 

Limited to chair and vice-chair?    YES    NO   Maybe 

Based on attendance (so subs would be eligible when called up)?    YES    NO   Maybe 

134



PANEL MEMBER QUESTIONNAIRE RESULTS

15 out of 23 Questionnaires received

Have you ever received scrutiny training
YES – 13/23 86.6%  
NO – 2/23 13.3%

Requested further training (only 3 completed this section)
Scrutiny Techniques 1/23 6.66%
Reading Accounts 1/23 6.66%
Speed Reading 1/23 6.66%

Suggested Briefings
Fire Governance 2/23 13.3%
Victim Support 1/23 6.66%
Police Governance 2/23 13.3%
HM Inspections 3/23 20%
Criminal Justice System 3/23 20%
Demand Hub – site visit 1/23 6.66%
Mental Health Nurses 1/23 6.66%
Ex-Offenders Support Services 1/23 6.66%

Areas of Panel Members’ Expertise
Budgets/Finance 1/23 6.66%
Probation 1/23 6.66%
Community Safety 2/23 13.3%
Multi-Agency Working 1/23 6.66%

Would you like to attend additional meetings/working groups?
At maximum level already 4/23 26.6%
Yes (1 or half day per mth) 2/23 13.3%
Maybe 2/23 13.3%
Yes but limited time available 3/23 20%

135



Depends on time of day 1/23 6.66%
Yes 2/23 13.3%

Panel Budget – what underspend of budget should be spent on
More Training YES (5) 26% NO (0) 0% MAYBE (9) 53%
More Officer 
Support

YES (10) 66.6% NO (0) 0% MAYBE (3) 20%

Outside 
Experts

YES (9) 53.3% NO (0) 0% MAYBE (4) 26.6%

Allowances YES (3) 20% NO (4) 26.6% MAYBE (6) 40%
Limited to Co-
opted

YES (1) 6.66% NO (6) 46.6% MAYBE (3) 20%

Limited to 
Chair & Vice

YES (0) 0% NO (6) 46.6% MAYBE (4) 26.6%

Based on 
Attendance

YES (10) 66.6% NO (1) 6.66% MAYBE (2) 13.2%

136



C P
C P
Cambridgeshire Police 

and Crime Panel

CAMBRIDGESHIRE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL
DRAFT AGENDA FORWARD PLAN 2018-2019

DATE OF MEETING TITLE/PURPOSE OFFICER

THURSDAY 28 JUNE 2018 
PRIVATE BRIEFING AND 
TRAINING/DEVELOPMENT SESSION
David Seaman Suite, 9am 
(9:30am start)
ABAX Stadium, Peterborough

OPCC (10:00am – 11:00am)
- Summary of Roles, responsibilities etc
- Presentation/Update on Victims & 

Offenders

Frontline Consulting Seminar delivering training:
 Refresh scrutiny
 Confirmation Hearings

Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office

Frontline Consulting

WEDNESDAY 11 JULY 2018, 
10:30AM – 4:00PM
LGA PCP WORKSHOP
18 Smith Square, LONDON

 
 An update from the Home Office
 The new complaints framework
 Learning from Essex on their experience as 

a new Police, Fire and Crime Panel
 An introduction to the new National 

Association of Police (Fire) and Crime 
Panels

 News from the APCC
 

LGA

Attended by:

Edward Leigh/Jane Webb

Link to presentation: 
LGA Police and Crime Panels Workshop-
11 July 2018 London

137

https://www.local.gov.uk/police-and-crime-panels-workshop-11-july-2018-london
https://www.local.gov.uk/police-and-crime-panels-workshop-11-july-2018-london


C P
C P
Cambridgeshire Police 

and Crime Panel

DATE OF MEETING TITLE/PURPOSE OFFICER

Election of Chairman

Election of Vice Chairman

Public Questions/Statements

Police and Crime Commissioner’s Annual Report 
2017/2018

The Panel to review the Police and Crime 
Commissioners Annual Report as required by Section 
28 (4) of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility 
Act 2011 (“the Act”) including:

- Performance Monitoring
- Full-year accounts (original budget  v actuals)

Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office

Financial Close Down (requested at Januarys 
Meeting)

Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office

MONDAY 30 JULY 2018, 10:30AM
ANNUAL MEETING,
Noel Cantwell Suite, ABAX Stadium, 
Peterborough

Fire Governance Update 

The Panel to be informed of the progress/changes 
made with regard to the Fire Governance process.

Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office

138



C P
C P
Cambridgeshire Police 

and Crime Panel

DATE OF MEETING TITLE/PURPOSE OFFICER

Decisions by the Cambridgeshire Police and 
Crime Commissioner

The Panel to  review or scrutinise decisions taken by 
the Police and Crime Commissioner (“the 
Commissioner”) under Section 28 of the Police Reform 
and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (“the Act”)

Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office

Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Panel Annual 
Report 2017-2018

The Panel to consider the draft annual report of the 
work of the Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Panel 
during the last twelve months.

Peterborough City Council, Secretariat

Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Panel 
Administration Costs and Member Expenses

Peterborough City Council, Secretariat

Rules of Procedure/Panel Arrangements Peterborough City Council, Secretariat

Proposal to join the newly created Association of 
Police Fire and Crime Panels

Peterborough City Council, Secretariat

Panel Member Questionnaire Results Peterborough City Council, Secretariat

139



C P
C P
Cambridgeshire Police 

and Crime Panel

DATE OF MEETING TITLE/PURPOSE OFFICER

Meeting Dates and Agenda Plan 2018/2019

Panel to note the dates of future meetings and to 
consider any items for future meetings which may 
have been highlighted during the meeting.

Peterborough City Council, Secretariat

MONDAY 30 JULY 2018, 2:30PM
CONFIRMATION HEARING,
Noel Cantwell Suite, ABAX Stadium, 
Peterborough

Confirmation Hearing – Chief Constable

The Panel to considered the proposed appointment of 
Chief Constable 

Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office

140



C P
C P
Cambridgeshire Police 

and Crime Panel

DATE OF MEETING TITLE/PURPOSE OFFICER

Review of Complaints

To update the Cambridgeshire Police and Crime 
Panel on complaints received against the 
Commissioner or his Deputy.

Peterborough City Council, Secretariat

THEME – VICTIMS / OFFENDERS

Scope to be identified via presentation/information 
session held on 28 June 2018.

Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office

Performance Monitoring Update 

The Panel to be updated on the performance 
monitoring showing any areas of concern or exception 
performance.

Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office

Budget Update/Forecast Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office

WEDNESDAY  12 SEPTEMBER 2018, 
2PM
ABAX Stadium 

Fire Governance Update

The Panel to be informed of the progress/changes 
made with regard to the Fire Governance process.

Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office

141



C P
C P
Cambridgeshire Police 

and Crime Panel

DATE OF MEETING TITLE/PURPOSE OFFICER

Decisions by the Cambridgeshire Police and 
Crime Commissioner

The Panel to  review or scrutinise decisions taken by 
the Police and Crime Commissioner (“the 
Commissioner”) under Section 28 of the Police Reform 
and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (“the Act”).

Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office

Meeting Dates and Agenda Plan 2018/2019

Panel to note the dates of future meetings and to 
consider any items for future meetings which may 
have been highlighted during the meeting.

Peterborough City Council, Secretariat

Meeting Dates and Agenda Plan 2018/2019

Panel to note the dates of future meetings and to 
consider any items for future meetings which may 
have been highlighted during the meeting.

Peterborough City Council, Secretariat

SEVENTH NATIONAL POLICE AND CRIME CONFERENCE
MONDAY 12 NOVEMBER 2018
9.30am for 10am start
Scarman House, Warwick Conference Centre, Coventry

142



C P
C P
Cambridgeshire Police 

and Crime Panel

DATE OF MEETING TITLE/PURPOSE OFFICER

Public Questions/Statements

Review of Complaints

To update the Cambridgeshire Police and Crime 
Panel on complaints received against the 
Commissioner or his Deputy.

Peterborough City Council, Secretariat

THEME – COMMUNITIES

Community Engagement – Deep Dive 
(Update/Progress on Nov 2017 report)

Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office

Fire Governance Update

The Panel to be informed of the progress/changes 
made with regard to the Fire Governance process.

Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office

WEDNESDAY 14 NOVEMBER 2018, 
2PM
Fenland District Council
Fenland Hall, Council Chamber

Performance Monitoring Update

The Panel to be updated on the performance 
monitoring showing any areas of concern or exception 
performance.

Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office

143



C P
C P
Cambridgeshire Police 

and Crime Panel

DATE OF MEETING TITLE/PURPOSE OFFICER

Complaints Reform Legislation

To update the Panel on the Commissioner’s chosen 
options and implications for the Panel.

Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office

Decisions by the Cambridgeshire Police and 
Crime Commissioner

The Panel to  review or scrutinise decisions taken by 
the Police and Crime Commissioner (“the 
Commissioner”) under Section 28 of the Police Reform 
and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (“the Act”).

Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office

Meeting Dates and Agenda Plan 2018/2019

Panel to note the dates of future meetings and to 
consider any items for future meetings which may 
have been highlighted during the meeting.

Peterborough City Council, Secretariat

144



C P
C P
Cambridgeshire Police 

and Crime Panel

DATE OF MEETING TITLE/PURPOSE OFFICER

PRIVATE BRIEFING
TBC JANUARY 2019
Police HQ Huntingdon
Budget Briefing – Delivered by the OPCC

The Panel to be informed of the expected draft budget figures / papers – with an opportunity to ask questions in order to gain a greater 
understanding of the subject.

BUDGET MEETING
WEDNESDAY  30 JANUARY 2019, 
2PM
Bourges / Viersen Rooms
Town Hall, Peterborough

Public Questions/Statements

Review of Complaints

To update the Cambridgeshire Police and Crime 
Panel on complaints received against the 
Commissioner or his Deputy.

Peterborough City Council, SecretariatEarlier Start time of 1:30pm if Fire 
Precept & Budget is to be included

THEME - BUDGET
Budget /Precept 2019/2020

To notify the Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Panel 
of the Cambridgeshire Police and Crime 
Commissioner’s proposed budget and precept for 

Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office

145



C P
C P
Cambridgeshire Police 

and Crime Panel

DATE OF MEETING TITLE/PURPOSE OFFICER

2019/20. To enable the Panel to review the proposed 
precept.
Fire Governance Update

The Panel to be informed of the progress/changes 
made with regard to the Fire Governance process.

Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office

Performance Monitoring Update

The Panel to be updated on the performance 
monitoring showing any areas of concern or exception 
performance.

Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office

Decisions by the Cambridgeshire Police and 
Crime Commissioner

The Panel to  review or scrutinise decisions taken by 
the Police and Crime Commissioner (“the 
Commissioner”) under Section 28 of the Police Reform 
and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (“the Act”).

Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office

Meeting Dates and Agenda Plan 2018/2019

Panel to note the dates of future meetings and to 
consider any items for future meetings which may 
have been highlighted during the meeting.

Peterborough City Council, Secretariat

146



C P
C P
Cambridgeshire Police 

and Crime Panel

DATE OF MEETING TITLE/PURPOSE OFFICER

WEDNESDAY 20 FEBRUARY 2019
Potential Meeting – Precept

Reconsideration of precept, if needed

WEDNESDAY  13 MARCH 2019, 2PM
Huntingdon District Council
Civic Room 1B

Public Questions/Statements

Review of Complaints

To update the Cambridgeshire Police and Crime 
Panel on complaints received against the 
Commissioner or his Deputy.

Peterborough City Council, Secretariat

THEME REPORT – Transformation

The Panel to review Transformation to include 
collaboration, restructuring and estates.

Decisions by the Cambridgeshire Police and 
Crime Commissioner

The Panel to  review or scrutinise decisions taken by 
the Police and Crime Commissioner (“the 
Commissioner”) under Section 28 of the Police Reform 
and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (“the Act”).

Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office

147



C P
C P
Cambridgeshire Police 

and Crime Panel

DATE OF MEETING TITLE/PURPOSE OFFICER

Meeting Dates and Agenda Plan 2019/2020

Panel to note the dates of future meetings and to 
consider any items for future meetings which may 
have been highlighted during the meeting.

Peterborough City Council, Secretariat

Updated: 9 July 2018

148



C P
C P
Cambridgeshire Police 

and Crime Panel

Potential items for discussion:
 Schedule an extra meeting in the calendar mid-October to add capacity for fire 

scrutiny, should it be needed.
 Schedule Panel meetings 2-4:30pm to allow additional time to cover fire if needed, 

and agenda setting, with 1-1:30pm pre-meeting.
 Assign Huntingdonshire DC as the preferred venue for Panel meetings

Agree an outline forward plan – April 2019 onwards:
o early July: Annual reports
o early September: Victim support & crime/fire prevention
o mid October: Offenders
o late November: Community safety (multi-agency working)

149



This page is intentionally left blank

150


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of the Meeting held on 14 March 2018
	7 Police and Crime Commissioner's Annual Report 2017/18
	18 07 30 - PCP - Agenda Item XXX - Police and Crime Commissioners Annual Report 2017-18

	8 Fire Governance
	9 Revenue and Capital Budget draft outturn 2017/18
	Appendix 1 Revenue and Capital Budget draft outturn 2017-18 (1)

	10 Decisions by Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Commissioner
	Appendix 1 - Decisions by the Police and Crime Commissioner
	Appendix 3 - Decisions by the Police and Crime Commissioner
	Appendix 4 - Decisions by the Police and Crime Commissioner

	11 Rules of Procedure/Panel Arrangements Update
	Appendix 1 - Rules of Procedure
	Appenix 2   Panel Arrangements

	12 Membership of the National Association of Police, Fire and Crime Panels
	Appendix 1 - NAPFCP Introduction Letter - Panel Chairman (1)
	Appendix 2 - Advice Note - NAPCPs - Eligible Expenditure Advice

	13 Cambridgeshire Police and Crime Panel Annual Report 2017/18
	Appendix 1 - CPCP annual report 2017-18 draft

	14 Administrative Costs and Member Expenses Report
	15 Panel Member Questionnaire Results
	PANEL MEMBER QUESTIONNAIRE RESULTS

	16 Meeting Dates and Agenda Plan 2018/19

	Name: 
	Committees currently appointed to: 
	policefire authority: 
	Have you ever received scrutiny training: Off
	accountsbudgets speed reading: 
	victims or vulnerable individuals are supported: 
	efficiency legitimacy: 
	working group subcommittee or task  finish group: Off
	If YES how much time could you spare: 
	More training: Off
	More officer support research updates more reports  briefings: Off
	Bringing in outside experts to briefings andor Panel meetings: Off
	Allowances for members: Off
	Limited to coopted members only: Off
	Limited to chair and vicechair: Off
	Based on attendance so subs would be eligible when called up: Off


